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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized
companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed
on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid sized companies,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there
will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the
contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of NOIZ Group Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

FTRI|S

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of NOIZ Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.
During the year, the Group is principally engaged in (i) financial
services business including securities brokerage services, provision
of corporate finance advisory services, asset management and
advising on securities business and money lending services; (ii)
corporate consulting business including company secretarial services,
accounting and financial reporting services and management
consulting services; and (iii) digital business that leverages blockchain,
artificial intelligence, and immersive interaction technologies to
create value and protection to individuals, creators, artists, businesses
and brand owners, and offer various opportunities within the
entertainment sector, including the organisation/production of and
investment in concerts, events and festivals.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The net loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
was approximately HK$25.7 million (2022: approximately HK$27.8
million). Basic and diluted loss per share for continuing operations
was approximately HK$0.044 (2022: approximately HK$0.057). The
reduction in net loss was primarily due to a decrease in the Group’s
overall operating costs of approximately HK$2.2 million, which was
aimed at maintaining the Group’s competitiveness.

Financial services business

The financial services business recorded a revenue and segment profit
of approximately HK$11.4 million and HK$3.3 million respectively
(2022: revenue and segment profit of approximately HK$11.9 million
and HK$2.3 million respectively).

The corporate financial advisory services recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$8.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: approximately HK$5.2 million), represented approximately
44 4% of the total revenue of the Group respectively. The provision
of corporate financial advisory services continuously enhanced the
income stream of the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFRHRE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had loans receivable with
gross principal amount of approximately HK$5.2 million (2022:
approximately HK$4.7 million). The Group recorded interest income
from loans receivable of approximately HK$0.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately HK$0.6 million).
The Group has adopted a credit policy to manage its money lending
business which includes compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations, credit assessment on potential borrower and his/its
assets, the credibility of the potential borrower, the necessity in
obtaining collaterals and determination of suitable interest rate to
reflect the risk level of the provision of loan.

Corporate consulting business

The corporate consulting business recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$4.0 million (2022: approximately HK$4.7
million) and a segment profit of approximately HK$2.3 million
(2022: approximately HK$1.9 million) during the year ended
31 December 2023. Corporate governance is vital importance
to the public companies for meeting international standard and
market expectations nowadays. The Group expects the demand for
governance related services will have remarkable increase in the
coming future.

Digital business

Upon the completion of the acquisition of NOIZChain Limited
("NOIZChain"”) on 4 July 2022, the Group has been diversified into
the business area harnessing blockchain, artificial intelligence, and
immersive interaction technologies to create value and protection
to individuals, creators, artists and brand owners. NOIZChain aims
to create value by seizing novel growth opportunities in the creator
economy in the entertainment industry, and at the same time
to create diversified and innovative ways for audiences to enjoy
immersive experiences.

The digital business recorded a revenue of approximately HK$3.5
million (2022: approximately HK$1.6 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$3.5 million (2022: approximately HK$2.5 million).
Several digital business projects have been delayed due to a decline in
market sentiment caused by various incidents, including the collapse
of certain financial institutions and cryptocurrency exchanges.

Lo
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Chairman’s Statement

EFR]|RE

PROSPECTS

In addition to its financial services and corporate consulting
businesses, the Company has actively been exploring investment
and business opportunities that align with market conditions. The
objective is to generate long-term and sustainable value for the
Company and its shareholders.

Following the completion of the acquisition of NOIZChain in the
second half of 2022, the Group aims to leverage blockchain, artificial
intelligence, and immersive interaction technologies to create value
and protection to individuals, creators, artists, businesses and brand
owners, and offer various opportunities within the entertainment
sector, including the organisation/production of and investment in
concerts, events and festivals.

In June 2023, the Hong Kong Government established a task force
to promote the development of Web3. They recognized the potential
benefits of blockchain technology, which offers low costs and
transparency for a decentralized Internet. The Group believes that
existing projects can be revitalized in the near future. Additionally,
this presents an excellent opportunity for digital businesses to
collaborate with the Hong Kong Government and tap into a broader
customer base by meeting the growing demand for blockchain
technology.

Furthermore, the Group has been appointed of and granted right
to distribute holographic products of Proto, Inc. in Vietnam. The
Group sees tremendous potential in 3D holographic display products,
offering unique and immersive experiences for audiences. These
products can find broad adoption in various industries, such as
education, training, communications, entertainment, branding,
marketing, and even healthcare.

Looking ahead, the Group plans to leverage its blockchain technology
to develop a comprehensive ecosystem that encompasses both
devices and content. This ecosystem aims to empower creators,
including education centers, brand owners, and individual artists,
by enabling them to store, manage, and access their content on the
blockchain. By leveraging the benefits of decentralized transparency,
enhanced security, increased efficiency, and cost reduction, the Group
aims to assist all stakeholders in monetizing the ecosystem.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFRHRE

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude
to our management team and all staff for their hard work in the
execution of the Group’s strategies and operations during the
past year. Last but not the least, | wish to thank all our valued
shareholders, customers, suppliers, business partners, bankers for
their continuous support and encouragement to the Group.

Wong Hin Shek
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
27 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SR E 575Kk D ifr

FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group is principally
engaged in (i) financial services business including securities
brokerage services, provision of corporate finance advisory services,
asset management and advising on securities business and money
lending services; (ii) corporate consulting business including company
secretarial services, accounting and financial reporting services
and management consulting services; and (iii) digital business that
leverages blockchain, artificial intelligence, and immersive interaction
technologies to create value and protection to individuals, creators,
artists, businesses and brand owners, and offer various opportunities
within the entertainment sector, including the organisation/
production of and investment in concerts, events and festivals.

Since the performance of the trading business was unsatisfactory for
the past years, on 23 September 2022, the Group disposed of the
trading business to an independent third party. Upon the disposal,
the Group ceased to have any interest in the trading business. The
disposal allowed the Group to reallocate more resources on the
remaining businesses.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's continuing
operations recorded revenue of approximately HK$18.9 million (2022:
approximately HK$18.2 million). Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately HK$25.7 million (2022:
approximately HK$27.8 million). Basic and diluted loss per share
for continuing operations was approximately HK$0.044 (2022:
approximately HK$0.057). The reduction in net loss was primarily due
to a decrease in the Group's overall operating costs of approximately
HK$2.2 million, which was aimed at maintaining the Group’s
competitiveness.

Financial services business

The revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 of the
financial services business was approximately HK$11.4 million
(2022: approximately HK$11.9 million) and a segment profit of
approximately HK$3.3 million (2022: approximately HK$2.3 million).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the corporate financial
advisory services generated revenue of approximately HK$8.4 million
(2022: approximately HK$5.2 million), represented approximately
44.4% of the total revenue of the Group. The provision of corporate
financial advisory services continuously enhanced the income stream
of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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In the course of preparing the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023, the Company had engaged an independent
qualified valuer to determine the recoverable amount of the trading
right of the business carrying on the regulated activities of Type 4
(advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management) as defined
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"). The recoverable amount of the
trading right has been determined by the higher of fair value less
cost of disposal, which is primarily making reference to the recent
sales of similar transactions in the market, and value-in-use which is
calculated using cash flow projections based on the latest financial
budgets approved by the management. During the year ended 31
December 2023 and 2022, no impairment loss on the trading right
was recognised.

The Group's money lending business was conducted through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Merdeka Credit Limited, to grant loans to
individuals and corporate entities. The Group strived to adhere to a
set of comprehensive policy and procedural manual in respect of loan
approval, loan renewal, loan recovery, loan compliance, monitoring
and anti-money laundering.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had loans receivable with
gross principal amount of approximately HK$5.2 million (2022:
approximately HK$4.7 million). The Group recorded interest income
from loans receivable of approximately HK$0.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately HK$0.6 million).

The gross individual loans receivable was accounted for approximately
61.7% of the entire gross loans receivable of the Group as at 31
December 2023 (2022: 78.5%). The interest rates of the individual
loans ranged from 8% to 15% (2022: 8% to 12%). The gross
corporate loans receivable was accounted for approximately 38.3%
of the entire gross loans receivable of the Group as at 31 December
2023 (2022: 21.5%). The interest rate of the corporate loans at 12%
(2022: 12%). The determination of these interest rates primarily
involved credit analysis, considering factors such as the size and
duration of the loans, adherence to the Group's credit policies and
the ability of borrowers to provide income proof or other sources of
income that demonstrate their repayment capabilities.

As at 31 December 2023, there were 4 borrowers comprising 3
individual borrowers and 1 corporate borrower (2022: 3 borrowers
comprising 2 individual borrowers and 1 corporate borrower) for the
outstanding loans and interest receivables (net of loss allowance).
Loans and interest receivables carrying amount of approximately
HK$2.6 million (2022: HK$3.2 million) were due from individual
borrowers while remaining loans and interest receivables of carrying
amount of approximately HK$1.6 million (2022: HK$0.5 million) were
due from corporate borrower.

Lo
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group granted
2 loans to an individual and a corporate entity, all of them are
independent third parties. As at 31 December 2023, 5 loans were
outstanding, with terms ranging from 9 months to 30 months,
interest rate ranging from 8% to 15% per annum and with no
collaterals. As at 31 December 2023, the aggregated principal
amount outstanding from the four largest borrowers of the Group
amounted to HK$5.2 million (representing 100% to the total loans
receivable of the Group) while the principal amount outstanding
from the largest borrower amounted to HK$2.0 million (representing
approximately 38.5% to the total loans receivable of the Group).

As at 31 December 2023, the management had engaged an
independent qualified valuer to determine the expected credit losses
of the Group's loans receivable (the “loans receivable ECL"). In
assessing the loans receivable ECL of the Group, a credit rating
analysis of the underlying debtors was adopted by reviewing the
historical accounting information to estimate the default risk. The
Group applied different expected loss rates to different classes
of receivables according to their respective risk characteristics. In
determining the default risk, factors including but not limited to, the
ageing analysis of the receivables, the Group’s internal assessment
of the debtors’ credit worthiness, historical and forecast occurrence
of event of default, existence and valuation of the collaterals, the
relevant regulatory framework and government policies in Hong Kong
and global economic outlook in general and the specific economic
condition of Hong Kong would be considered. The rate of loans
receivable ECL ranged from 12.15% to 35.89% depending on the
nature, probability of default and loss given default of the loans
receivable.

The Group has adopted a credit policy to manage its money lending
business which includes compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations, credit assessment on potential borrower and his/its
assets, the credibility of the potential borrower, the necessity in
obtaining collaterals and determination of suitable interest rate to
reflect the risk level of the provision of loan.

The Group has performed background and credit risk assessment
on the potential borrowers before granting the loans by
(a) global searching on their identity and background; (b) reviewing
and assessing their financial information; and (c) performing an
assessment on their creditability.
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The Group also assesses and decides the necessity and the value of
security/collateral for granting of each loan, whether to an individual
or a corporate entity, on a case by case basis considering factors,
including but not limited to, the repayment history, results of public
search towards the borrower, the value and location of the assets
owned by the borrower and the financial condition of the borrower.

In order to monitor the risks associated with loans receivable,
subsequent repayment record of each loan receivable will be closely
monitored and periodic reviews on loan portfolio will be conducted
by the Group. In the event of failure to repay interest or principal
amount by the due date, the Group will issue overdue payment
reminders to the relevant borrower, instruct its legal advisers to
issue demand letters for loans overdue for a longer period of time,
negotiate with the borrower for the repayment or settlement of the
loan and/or commences legal actions against the borrower.

Details of loans receivable are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Corporate consulting business

The performance of corporate consulting business remained stable
that it recorded a revenue of approximately HK$4.0 million (2022:
approximately HK$4.7 million) and recorded a segment profit of
approximately HK$2.3 million (2022: approximately HK$1.9 million)
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Digital business

Upon the completion of the acquisition of NOIZChain on 4 July 2022,
the Group has been diversified into the business area harnessing
blockchain, artificial intelligence, and immersive interaction
technologies to create value and protection to individuals, creators,
artists and brand owners. NOIZChain aims to create value by
seizing novel growth opportunities in the creator economy in the
entertainment industry, and at the same time to create diversified and
innovative ways for audiences to enjoy immersive experiences.

The digital business recorded a revenue of approximately HK$3.5
million (2022: approximately HK$1.6 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$3.5 million (2022: approximately HK$2.5 million).
Some of the projects of digital business have been postponed due to
the slump of the market sentiment as caused by the collapse of FTX
(a global cryptocurrency exchange platform), Silicon Valley Bank and
Signature Bank (both being crypto-friendly U.S. banks) in early 2023
and JPEX, the most recent case, in Hong Kong.

Lo
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In the course of preparing the financial statements, the Company
had engaged an independent qualified valuer to determine the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit of the digital
business (the “Digital Business CGU"). In assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit of the digital business as at
31 December 2023, value-in-use calculation has been adopted that
the estimated future cash flows were discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflected current market
assessment of time value of money and the risk specific to the
digital business. The calculation used in cash flow projections was
based on the historical revenue and the 5-year forecasted revenue
taking into account of the expected number of sale contracts, and
at a pre-tax discount rate of 20.52% which was determined with
reference to weighted average cost of capital reflecting the specific
risk of the digital business. The cash flow projections beyond the
5-year period are extrapolated using a perpetual growth rate of
3%. The management of digital business reviewed the assumptions
taking into account of (i) the general economic environment;
(ii) industry dynamics; (iii) past performance; and (iv) on-going
business development of the digital business in preparing the cash
flow projections. As the recoverable amount of the Digital Business
CGU is approximately HK$14.4 million, which exceeds its carrying
amount, there is a headroom of approximately HK$2.3 million.
Therefore, no impairment loss was recognised for the year ended
31 December 2023. The Directors are not aware of any reasonably
possible change in the key assumption on which the recoverable
amount is based would cause the cash generating unit’s carrying
amount to exceeds its recoverable amount.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 December 2023, the Group managed a listed security
investment with fair value of approximately HK$0.4 million (2022:
approximately HK$0.3 million). In view of the fluctuations in the
global and local financial markets, the Board is always cautious of
the prospects of the trading performance of the Group’s portfolio of
listed securities investments.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£EAER AT
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Details of the listed security investment as at 31 December 2023 and
2022 and gains/(losses) for the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022 are as below:

Gains for the year ended 31 December 2023

TSR ER2023F KX2022F 12831 HEEE
2023FE K%2022FE12831HIEEEM KT, (B518)
RIEEIENT ¢

HZE2023F12831B L EEZ K E

Realised Unrealised Dividend
Name of listed securities Stock code gains gains received
TS RTE & 17 5% B8R RER T Bl E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT FHET
ICO Group Limited 1460 — 40 —
BREEFRAS
Evergrande Property Services Group Limited 6666 — 55 S
BERMEERBRAF

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 31

December 2023

22023F12831HZ R A TFEEFAEEZNER
BE

Approximate
percentage to
total assets

Name of listed Stock Brief description of Number of Proportion of  Investment Market  value of the
securities code the business shares held  shares held cost value Group
A&
BERERMR
THESLE RIARSE  EHE ERHEE FEROLA  KEME A HEDLL
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TER
ICO Group Limited 1460 Integrated IT service business 1,600,000 0.18% 312 352 0.6%
EREERRRA REEANRRBES
Evergrande Property Services Integrated commercial
Group Limited 6666 properties service business 113,000 0.001% 995 55 0.1%
BAMEEERRAA REBHEMERBES
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Losses for the year ended 31 December 2022

B=E2022512831H L FEZE5HE

Realised Unrealised Dividend

Name of listed securities Stock code losses losses received

TSR B A7 5% BEIREE R E1E Bl E

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET TFET

Evergrande Property Services Group Limited 6666 — (298) —
BERMEERFRAT

Differ Group Auto Limited 6878 (130) — —

HEEBRSEERAT

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 31

December 2022

BE

220225128318 2R AFEESFABFENER

Approximate
percentage to
total assets

Name of listed Stock Brief description of Number of Proportion of  Investment Market  value of the
securities code the business shares held  shares held cost value Group
g 3E]
BEREMR
THESLHE Ak  EHER FERNEE FrRm el REME A HEAL
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TER
ICO Group Limited 1460 Integrated IT service business 1,600,000 0.18% 312 312 0.4%
HREERRAF REENNRRBES
Evergrande Property Services 6666 Integrated commercial 113,000 0.001% 995 - -

Group Limited
BEANEERBRAE

properties service business

REBERERBRH
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Management Discussion and Analysis

S E5Ym MR A

OUTLOOK

The Group has been seeking suitable investment and business
opportunities in light of the market conditions to create value for its
shareholders in a long term and sustainable manner.

Digital business

With the rise of blockchain technology and the rapid development
of the Web3 era, the Group sees the potential in commercializing
and monetizing IP assets using blockchain technology. In July 2022,
the Group took over NOIZChain, which owns the NOIZ Green Chain,
and utilised it to create a digital wallet (the “Digital Wallet”) and
a metaverse. This strategic move positions the Group to leverage
blockchain capabilities for IP asset management.

By identifying vast opportunities in the entertainment and education
sectors so as to leverage blockchain capabilities, the Group initially
invested as a co-organiser in live concerts/events in Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan. This allowed the Group to establish connections
with industry players, gain insights into the entertainment industry
climate and culture and ultimately acquire valuable IP assets. Building
on this experience, the Group aims to transition into the role of
the main organizer for live concerts/events, enabling the Group to
manage and control associated IP assets while showcasing a digitally-
driven entertainment business. Furthermore, the Group partnered
with Proto Inc. for the distribution of holographic products, such as
"EPIC" (a life-size and life-like holographic product) and “M Unit” (a
portable display holographic product) in Vietnam. The holographic
products will be utilized to display three-dimensional educational
curriculum and programs, with content rights stored on the NOIZ
Green Chain for licensing and tracking purposes.

Financial services business

With the deterioration of the Hong Kong financial markets and keen
competition in the corporate financial advisory business, the Group
intends to explore the possibility of diversification into other regional
capital, such as United States, in order to expand its customer base.
The Group is actively taking additional steps to explore ways to
further enhance the performance of the financial services business.
These steps include negotiating for asset management opportunities
under the Capital Investment Entrant Scheme (CIES) and seeking to
uplift license to invest in virtual assets.

WS

A=

]

FEE—EREBR BRABORETER M
E AT ES R B ER RS EE-

BIBEH

PEE @ IR I I 1T B9 B HE e Web3RF IRk & 8 » A<
EEIRIVAERERMTRABEEEERDZE
IEREWIEMNE N 2022678 NEE W EE
BNOIZ4EHERINOIZChain > T H A E A EEIRE
(TEmEtE ) R FH LR ERBELAEE
BESAM A EIREINEETHHREEEEEIR

FEEZBYERERBEXENEABTREAE
RERES RN EE RFIRAEUBEERT
SNRERGEEBE EF - EEAEHENATT
F2HEBRUBER RATRRETENFEKRX
b TRRESEBENNHEREE - BREZRKE
B AEEESEEENARSEES EHNEE
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E FRBETENBRSHNRERE LI £EE
ZiProto Inc. & 1F> W D HE B E M BIMEPIC
(—EEARTHMHEZ2EER &M Unit) (—
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TR ER
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Corporate consulting business

Given the worldwide awareness of corporate governance, the Group
anticipates the demand from Hong Kong listed issuers requesting
for professional services in relation to corporate governance matters
and compliance with the appropriate local rules governing the listed
companies in Hong Kong and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements will persist.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS
2008 Convertible Bonds

On 10 January 2020, the Company and the holders of the 2008
CBs (the “"CB Holders"”) of the convertible bonds as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of forest concessions in Papua,
Indonesia issued by the Company on 12 August 2008 (the “2008
CBs") entered into the fourth supplemental deed, pursuant to which
the Company and the CB Holders conditionally agreed to amend
certain terms of the 2008 CBs such that (a) the maturity date of
the 2008 CBs be extended for a further term of three years from
13 August 2020 to 12 August 2023; and (b) the conversion price
of the 2008 CBs be revised from HK$0.95 per conversion share to
HK$0.110 per conversion share with effect from 13 August 2020
(subject to adjustments). Save for the above amendments, all other
terms of the 2008 CBs shall remain unchanged and valid. The
amendments on 2008 CBs took effect on 18 May 2020.

On 29 June 2020, the Company made a partial redemption in the
principal amount of HK$55,000,000 on part of the 2008 CBs.

On 17 June 2021, upon the effective of the share consolidation on
the basis that every ten issued and unissued shares (the “Shares”)
of par value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
be consolidated into one consolidated share of par value of HK$0.10
each, the conversion price of 2008 CBs adjusted to HK$1.10 per
conversion share.

On 22 July 2021, the Company completed a rights issue and allotted
and issued 346,310,897 Shares, on the basis of five (5) rights share
for every two (2) Shares held on 28 June 2021 at the subscription
price of HK$0.15 per rights share. Upon the completion of the rights
issue, the conversion price of 2008 CBs was adjusted to HK$0.90 per
conversion share.

On 28 December 2022, upon the completion of the subscription
and issue of 2022 CBs (as defined below), the principal amount
of HK$55,000,000 of 2008 CBs was offset and settled with the
subscription price of 2022 CBs (as defined below).

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£EAER AT
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On 31 August 2023, upon the completion of the subscription and
issue of 2023 CB (as defined below) and the share subscription, all
the outstanding principal amount of 2008 CBs was offset and settled
with the subscription price of 2023 CB (as defined below) and the
share subscription price.

2022 Convertible Bonds

On 14 November 2022, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Team Sunny International Holdings Limited (“Team
Sunny”), pursuant to which Team Sunny conditionally agreed
to subscribe and the Company conditionally agreed to issue the
convertible bonds (the “2022 CBs"”) in the principal amount of
HK$91,000,000 for the settlement of the outstanding debts due from
the Company to Team Sunny in aggregate of HK$91,000,000. The
subscription amount payable by Team Sunny under the subscription
agreement shall be satisfied by way of offsetting (i) the principal
amount of HK$55,000,000 under the 2008 CBs and payable by the
Company to Team Sunny; and (i) the outstanding principal amount
of HK$36,000,000 under convertible bond issued to Team Sunny on
2020 and payable by the Company to Team Sunny.

The conversion price per conversion share for HK$55,000,000 of the
principal amount of the 2022 CBs for the period from the date of
issue of the 2022 CBs up to and including 12 August 2023 shall be
HK$0.90 per conversion share and for the period from 13 August
2023 up to and including the maturity date shall be HK$0.186 per
conversion share; and the conversion price per conversion share for
HK$36,000,000 of the principal amount of the 2022 CBs for the
period from the date of issue of the 2022 CBs up to and including
21 May 2023 shall be HK$0.903 per conversion share and for the
period from 22 May 2023 up to and including the maturity date shall
be HK$0.186 per conversion share.

On 28 December 2022, the subscription took place and the 2022
CBs in the principal amount of HK$91,000,000 were issued to Team
Sunny.

On 14 July 2023, the Company and the bondholder of 2022 CBs
entered into the deed of amendment, the maturity date of the 2022
CBs was extended to 31 August 2025.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 2022 CBs with principal
amount of HK$91,000,000, which conferring rights to convert into
489,247,311 Shares with the conversion price of HK$0.186 per
conversion share.

Lo

$R2023FE8H31H  FESE AR M8 K 881720235 A 2
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2023 Convertible Bonds

On 14 July 2023, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Team Sunny, pursuant to which Team Sunny
conditionally agreed to subscribe and the Company conditionally
agreed to issue the convertible bond in the principal amount of
HK$10,000,000 (which are convertible into conversion shares at
the conversion price of HK$0.108 per conversion share (subject to
adjustments)) (the “2023 CB") for the settlement of the outstanding
debts due from the Company to the holders of 2008 CBs in
aggregate of HK$10,000,000. The subscription amount payable by
Team Sunny under the subscription agreement shall be satisfied by
way of offsetting the aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000
under the 2008 CBs and payable by the Company to the holders of
2008 CBs.

On 31 August 2023, the subscription took place and the 2023 CB in
the principal amount of HK$10,000,000 were issued to Team Sunny.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 2023 CB conferring
rights to convert into 92,592,592 Shares with the conversion price of
HK$0.108 per conversion share.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND GEARING

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded cash and bank
balances (including trust accounts) amounting to approximately
HK$14.2 million (2022: approximately HK$34.8 million) and the
net current assets value was approximately HK$15.6 million (2022:
approximately HK$10.3 million).

The Group's gearing ratio as at 31 December 2023 was approximately
1.37 (2022: approximately 1.08), being a ratio of total interest-
bearing debts, including convertible bonds of approximately HK$77.9
million (2022: approximately HK$85.1 million) to the total assets
of approximately HK$56.7 million (2022: approximately HK$79.1
million).

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£EAER AT
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM 2022 SHARE SUBSCRIPTION

The Company completed a share subscription on 7 July 2022,
pursuant to which the Company has issued and allotted 15,000,000
Shares at a subscription price of HK$0.21 per subscription share.
The gross proceeds from the share subscription was HK$3.15
million and the net proceeds after deducting relevant expenses
was approximately HK$3.0 million. The net subscription price per
subscription share based on the net proceeds is HK$0.20.

As at 31 December 2023, the intended and actual use of the net
proceeds from the share subscription is stated as below:

Amount
&%
HKS$ million Intended use
BEAT KHERAR

2022F R BIEFRISRIBER R

RABR2022F 7878 ERRMDEBE B AR
BERERABRM0.21EBTHREBEEITRE
615,000,000 & {7 ° B0 SR BIPRIS FRIBMBEE S
3,150,000 7 NFMERE R BN ERURFE
#9733,000,0008 7T - IRFFTISTRIEF R BRADE
B1n FBEEE0.20587T

1220235F 128318 RV ZBBEAIIMEBF R
ERBERBREIWT

Actual use

ERAR

3.0 General working capital of NOIZChain
NOIZChainl—iREEE &

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM 2023 SHARE SUBSCRIPTION

The Company completed a share subscription on 31 August 2023,
pursuant to which the Company has issued and allotted 37,666,666
Shares at a subscription price of HK$0.108 per subscription share.
The share subscription amount payable by the subscriber of HK$4.1
million under the share subscription agreement has been satisfied by
way of setting off against part of the principal amount of 2008 CBs.

As at 31 December 2023, the intended and actual use of the net
proceeds from the share subscription is stated as below:

Amount
&%
HK$ million Intended use
BEAT KHERAR

Fully utilised as intended
RETERRTHEA

2023 FRINBDBASRIEAR
AABR2023F8A31HEMRMVE Ik A&
NEERERDVEERKD0.108E TR B BT M
£%37,666,6662 /10 - REEH RILR DB EBIREE
1 H9 & 17 5B EE RN IE4,100,00058 70 B 838 3K 852008
FAMRESBIEEH I

P22023F 128318 RIPSBBEFISRIBEFRRE
REERB®ROT

Actual use
BERRR

4.1 Setting off against part of the principal amount of

2008 CBs
EBIDHEEH2008F AT AR RS A 28R

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no pledged assets (2022:
Nil).

Fully utilised as intended
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E5Tm R D

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On 31 August 2023, the Company allotted and issued 37,666,666
Shares pursuant to the subscription agreement dated 14 July 2023.

Save as disclosed, the Company had no changes in capital structure
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

INVESTMENT POSITION AND PLANNING

During the year, the Group invested as a co-organizer in live concerts/
events in Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. This allowed the Group
to establish connections with industry players, gain insights into
the entertainment industry climate and culture and ultimately
acquire valuable IP assets and leverage blockchain capabilities for
IP asset management. The Group will continue to identify potential
investment opportunities in order to enhance its business portfolio.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2022: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (2022: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group's business is principally denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. As certain bank deposits denominated in Renminbi, therefore,
the Group is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk. No currency
hedging arrangement had been made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023. The Directors have positive attitude to
regular monitor the exposure to foreign exchange so as to reduce the
foreign exchange rate risk to minimal.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 18 staffs (2022: 29).
The Group’s remuneration policy is based on principle of equality,
motivating, performance-oriented and market-competitiveness.
Remuneration packages are normally reviewed on an annual basis.
Apart from salary payments, other staff benefits included provident
fund contributions, medical insurance coverage and performance
related bonuses. A share option scheme is also established to reward
and motivate the employees of the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SELEREERER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wong Hin Shek, aged 54, is an executive Director, the
Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, an authorised representative of
the Company (the “Authorised Representative”) and an authorised
representative for accepting service of any process and notices in
Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance (the “Process
Agent”). He is also a substantial shareholder of the Company and
a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong holds
a Master of Science (Financial Management) degree from University
of London in United Kingdom and a Bachelor of Commerce degree
from University of Toronto in Canada. Besides having over 29
years of experience in the investment banking industry, Mr. Wong
has been involved in the management, business development and
strategic investment of listed companies in Hong Kong, having
operations in finance, information technology, hotel, manufacturing
and environmental protection industries. Mr. Wong is currently a
non-executive director of Sino Golf Holdings Limited (stock code:
361), a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He was an independent
non-executive director of Fresh Express Delivery Holdings Group
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1175) from January 2022 to August 2022
and the chairman and an executive director of DeTai New Energy
Group Limited (stock code: 559) from July 2009 to May 2021, both
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina, aged 51, is an independent non-executive
Director and is a member of each of the nomination committee of
the Company (the “Nomination Committee”), the remuneration
committee of the Company (the "Remuneration Committee”) and
the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”).
She holds a Bachelor of Business (Accountancy) Degree from Royal
Melbourne Institute of Technology. Ms. Ng is a member of both
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
CPA Australia. Ms. Ng was the chief financial officer and company
secretary of GR Properties Limited (stock code: 108), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from August 2019
to November 2019. She was the group financial controller of Luxey
International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8041), a company listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange from 2011 to 2018. Ms. Ng has
over 24 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial
management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSRSIEERE

Mr. Wong Wing Kit, aged 53, is an independent non-executive
Director and is a member of each of the Nomination Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee. He holds a
Master of Business Administration Degree from the City University
of Hong Kong and a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong
held senior positions with various local and international institutions.
Mr. Wong has over 31 years of experience in auditing, accounting
management, financial reporting and analysis and financial system
implementation.

Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann, aged 59, is an independent non-
executive Director and is a member of each of the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee.
She holds a Bachelor Degree of Retail Marketing with honours in the
United Kingdom and a Diploma in Marketing from The Chartered
Institute of Marketing. She pursued her further study on legal course
and has been awarded a Diploma in Legal Practice in the United
Kingdom in 1998. She is a consultant of Messrs. Fung & Fung,
Solicitors, a legal firm in Hong Kong. Ms. Yeung is an independent
non-executive director of Success Universe Group Limited (stock code:
487), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
E Lighting Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8222), a company
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Yeung has over 24
years of experience in legal field.
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Report of the Directors
EFEERES

The Directors present the annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Cayman
Islands and its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room
1108, 11/F.,, Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Central,
Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The subsidiaries are engaged in (i) financial services business including
the securities brokerage services, provision of corporate finance
advisory services, asset management and advising on securities
business and money lending services; (ii) corporate consulting
business including company secretarial services, accounting and
financial reporting services and management consulting services; and
(iii) digital business that leverages blockchain, artificial intelligence,
and immersive interaction technologies to create value and protection
to individuals, creators, artists, businesses and brand owners, and
offer various opportunities within the entertainment sector, including
the organisation/production of and investment in concerts, events
and festivals.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 there were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 99 to 100.

The Board resolved not to pay any final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023 is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 7 and pages 8 to 20
respectively.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRES

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years are set out on
page 232.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND CONVERTIBLE
BONDS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital, share options
and convertible bonds during the year are set out in notes 33, 40 and
32 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2023, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution (2022: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the Company

or by the Group after 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRES

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers (including
continuing and discontinued operations), respectively, during the year
ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

TERRRIMER
BT ERPR MMIERMNEE2023F128310 1k

FEDHFMGNAERHERRRBR (QEHE
RERBRILEEXER) HEEHNT !

Percentage of the Group's

total sales

hAEEEHEET AL
2023 2022
20235 20224
Largest customer RAEKR 21.44% 29.55%
Five largest customers AAREFEEE 55.55% 53.88%

Percentage of the Group’s
total purchase

hAREERERBEEGILL
2023 2022
20234 20224
Largest supplier BRAEER N/A RiEH 21.63%
Five largest suppliers hREFEREAREE N/A RiEH 62.12%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’'s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group made donations in various charity activities for
approximately HK$39,800 during the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: approximately HK$120,000).
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRES

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Hin Shek
Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson (resigned on 31 March 2023)
Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping (resigned on 1 December 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina
Mr. Wong Wing Kit
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term
of one year and will continue thereafter from year to year until
terminated by either party and are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company
(the "AGM") in accordance with the amended and restated articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).
According to the Articles of Association, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM.

Pursuant to article 84 of the Articles of Association, Ms. Ng Ka Sim,
Casina and Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM, and both retiring Directors are eligible and will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

In accordance with the nomination policy of the Company, the
Nomination Committee has reviewed the biographies of each of
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina and Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann, being
independent non-executive Directors, who will be subject to
retirement and re-election at the AGM, and taking into consideration
their knowledge, experience, capability and various diversity
aspects as set out in the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) as well as their overall contributions
and services to the Company, including their attendance of Board/
general meetings and the level of participation and performance on
the Board over the years. The Nomination Committee also assessed
and reviewed the written confirmation of independence of each of
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina and Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann, based on
the independence criteria as set out in rule 5.09 of the the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the "GEM Listing Rules”).
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Report of the Directors
SEERES

The Nomination Committee is of the view that Ms. Ng Ka Sim,
Casina and Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann will continue to contribute
to the Board with their respective perspectives, skills and experience.
In addition, none of Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina and Ms. Yeung Mo
Sheung, Ann does not have any financial or family relationships with
any other Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company, which could give rise to a conflict of
interests situation or otherwise affect their exercise of independent
judgement. The Nomination Committee believes that each of
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina and Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann remains
committed to their role as independent non-executive Directors and
will continue to be independent.

Taking into consideration of the above, recommendations to the
Board for the proposal for re-election of each of Ms. Ng Ka Sim,
Casina and Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann as an independent non-
executive Directors were made by the Nomination Committee and the
Board accepted the nomination by the Nomination Committee and
recommended Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina and Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung,
Ann to stand for re-election by the Shareholders at the AGM.

CHANGE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Change in composition of the Board

Pursuant to the Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules. During the
year, the changes in composition of the Board are set out below:

1. Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson resigned as an executive Director
with effect from 31 March 2023.

2. Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping resigned as an executive Director,
the company secretary of the Company (the “"Company
Secretary”) and ceased to act as the Authorised Representative
with effect form 1 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Wong Hin Shek being the executive Director, has entered into
a service agreement with the Company for a term of two years
from the date of appointment/agreement and which will continue
thereafter until terminated by either party and are subject to
retirement and re-election at the AGM in accordance with the
Articles. Each of the other three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina, Mr. Wong Wing Kit and Ms. Yeung
Mo Sheung, Ann has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of one year from the date of appointment and
which will continue thereafter until terminated by either party and
are subject to retirement and re-election at the AGM in accordance
with the Articles of Association.

No Director had a service contract with the Company, which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
any interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as referred
to in rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company

EERESITHRABRAARESFNEDR

PR2023F12A31B ARAEFARSTHRAR
RERBDHEEAEEZE (EERBHRMER
B) 2 RRMB RO RERETEEREES R
HERPIBEXVELE7 8D BN RN & 42 B K B 52
i m Rk e (BEREESRPERINZSE
X REREFXAERERENTAREIXE) -
HALARBERF RAEHRMEI2EFENERT
MR ZERXE > IRBEGEM EHRAIFES.46E
SE6TRFTBESETRESRSNRETR AN
KRB BBV ROR BT

REABRMRERRKRBZEE

Approximate

Total number  percentage of the

Number of of Shares and  total issued share

Nature of interest/ Number of underlying underlying capital of the

Name of Director Capacity Shares held Shares held Shares held Company et

EEAF

BEITRE

FERMR BEz

EEpS BREE /56 HERMNYE ®HEABKRGHE HEARNEEY B E AL =)

Mr. Wong Hin Shek Mot ” Controlled corporation 174,421,666 581,839,903 Mete?) 756,261,569 123.13%

TR L W) REHER Ll

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina Beneficial owner — 113,513 113,513 0.02%
REERL BHEAA

Mr. Wong Wing Kit Beneficial owner — 113,513 113,513 0.02%
BEKERE BHEAA

Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann Beneficial owner — 113,513 113,513 0.02%
BRELL BHEAA
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Notes:

(1 The interest is held by Team Sunny, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands owned as to 100% by Mr. Wong Hin Shek. Mr.
Wong is also the sole director of Team Sunny.

2) The underlying shares are convertible shares to be issued and allotted
upon conversion of the 2022 CBs and 2023 CB with an aggregated
principal amount of HK$91,000,000 and HK$10,000,000 accordingly,
which are held by Team Sunny.

(3) The percentage has been calculated based on 604,395,612 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors,
at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as referred
to in rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

7

FTERRREMATIRAERBESFNER

122023F 128318 FAA T BRESERA QAR
BITBRABN REAB ZRM RABRBKRMDPES
RiEES R SEMNEXVEE2RINDBAMNE &
NERBRARBES RIPEKAEIZ6MKEEN
MRS RRAENT

Approximate

Total number  percentage of the

Number of of Shares and  total issued share

Nature of Number of underlying underlying capital of the

Name of Shareholder interest/Capacity Shares held Shares held Shares held Company

BEATBET

FRERMK RABEZ

RRATE EEE /56 FERMEE FARRRGEE TR S

Team Sunny efe Controlled corporation 174,421,666 581,839,903 Mete?) 756,261,569 123.13%
B R RERHEE L2

Notes: Wt

(1) The interest is held by Team Sunny, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands owned as to 100% by Mr. Wong Hin Shek. Mr.
Wong is also the sole director of Team Sunny.

(2)  The underlying shares are convertible shares to be issued and allotted
upon conversion of the 2022 CBs and 2023 CB with an aggregated
principal amount of HK$91,000,000 and HK$10,000,000 accordingly,
which are held by Team Sunny.

(3) The percentage has been calculated based on 604,395,612 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive of
the Company are not aware that there is any party who, as at
31 December 2023, had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the
SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants for
their contribution to the Group. The share option scheme of the
Company was approved and adopted by the Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 30 December
2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). Unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, the Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years from the date of its adoption. The Board may, at their
discretion, offer options to any Directors of the Group, full time or
part time employees of the Group ; and any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives, consultants, advisers,
suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees (including any
sub-licensees) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including any sub-
tenants) of the Group (the "Eligible Participants”) to subscribe for
Shares.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be
exercised under all share option scheme must not exceed 30% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.

The maximum number of Shares available for issue under share
options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue. The maximum
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted and to be granted to each Participant (including both
exercised and outstanding share options) in any 12-month period
up to the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue
at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of
the above limit must be subject to shareholders’ approval with such
Participant and his associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
abstaining from voting.

If share options are granted to a substantial Shareholder (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) or an independent non-executive Director
or any of their respective associates would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all share options already granted
and to be granted (including share options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant (a) representing in aggregate over
0.1 per cent. of the Shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate
value, based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of Options
must be approved by the Shareholders at a general meeting of the
Company, with voting to be taken by way of a poll. The Company
must send a circular to the Shareholders. The grantee, his associates
and all core connected persons of the Company must abstain from
voting in favour of the proposed grant at such general meeting. Any
vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such share options
must be taken on a poll and comply with the requirements under the
GEM Listing Rules.
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Upon acceptance of the share option offers, the grantee shall pay
HK$1 to the Company as consideration for each offer. The share
option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21 days (or such
shorter period as the Board may from time to time determine) from
the date on which the share option is granted. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the Directors and
commences after a certain vesting period, if any, as determined by
the Directors and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years
from the date of the offer of the share options.

The subscription price of the share in respect of any particular share
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price
as the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that
such price shall be not less than the highest of: (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange as shown in the daily
guotation sheet on the date of the grant of the share option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the
Shares as shown in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on
the five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant of
the share option; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share on the date
of grant.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

As at 31 December 2023, a total of 794,594 share options of the
Company (the “Share Options”) were lapsed. Save and except for
the aforesaid, no Share Option was granted, exercised, cancelled,
expired or lapsed during the year.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 6,166,050 accumulated
total outstanding Share Options, which entitled holders thereof to
subscribe for 6,166,050 Share under the Share Option Scheme at an
exercise price of HK$0.132 per Share. Save for the aforementioned
Share Options, the Company does not have any other outstanding
Share Options. The total number of shares available for issue by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme was 48,506,228 shares,
which represents approximately 8.03% of the Company’s issued
shares as at 31 December 2023.

The number of shares of the Company that may be issued in respect
of options and awards granted under the Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (i.e. 6,166,050 Shares)
divided by the weighted average number of shares of 579,422,000
Shares for the year ended 31 December 2023, was 1.06%.
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The following table summarised movements of the Company’s share
options under the Share Option Scheme during the year:

For the year ended 31 December 2023:

BRESE TAADBRERENEHHFEUWT -

HZE2023F12831HILEEE :

Number of Share Options
BREZLE
Outstanding Cancelled/ Outstanding Price of the
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at Shares before
1January  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 December Date of Exercise the date of Exercise
Grantees/Capacity ERA/ &1 2023 period period period 2023 grant period  grant®¢? price "
#2035 #2035 it =k i
1B1BH R#A 128318 ZBHER i@
HATE  REREE  REATE  EH/RR MG RUAH T8 L2l i
Per Share  Per Share
8k i
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUFEHTES
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina REEUL 113513 - - - 113513 20112021 201172021~ 0.014 0.132
19112026
Mr. Wong Wing Kit BkfiRE 13513 = = — 113513 20122021 20/1/2020- 0014 0.132
19/1/2026
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann RRELT 113,513 - - - 113513 2012021 201172021~ 0.014 0132
19/1/2026
Employees and other eligible EERAMAERSAE
participants
Employees of the Group rEEES 2,610,809 S = (794,594) 1,816,215 20112021 20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Other eligible participants “ HitaERSAE M) 4,009,296 = = — 4009296 201172021 20/1/2021- 0.014 0132
1912024
6,960,644 S = (794,594) 6,166,050
Notes: &t
(1) The exercise price of the Share Options is subject to adjustment in the (1) BEREZITEEAMBEACET EHR RO

(2)

(3)

case of capitalisation issue, rights issue, subdivision or consolidation of
the Shares, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

The price of the Shares before the date of the grant of the Share
Options is the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the trading day immediately before the date on which the
Share Options were granted.

The consultants possess extensive experience in, including but not
limited to, private and public equity investments, crypto and blockchain
technology development and accounting and financial management
respectively. The grant of Share Options to the consultants is to provide
them an incentive to (i) optimize their performance for the benefit of
the Group; (ii) share of their respective relevant experience, knowledge
and network to improve of the business operating system of the Group;
and (iii) introduce or refer viable business opportunities to the Group, in
order to achieve a long term growth for the Group.

HEHRA AR RAEMBLIEEEMIEHRAE-
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 2022 CBs and 2023
CB. 2022 CBs was issued by the Company on 28 December 2022
of aggregate principal amounts of HK$91,000,000 which could be
converted into 489,247,311 Shares and 2023 CB was issued by the
Company on 31 August 2023 of aggregate principal amounts of
HK$10,000,000 which could be converted into 92,592,592 Shares.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests in securities of the Company” and “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2023 was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or associated
corporations, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors and
chief executive of the Company (including their respective spouse and
children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any of its associated corporations.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors,
substantial shareholder or their respective associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which any of the
Company'’s subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries were a party, and in
which a Director and an entity connected to a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during
the year or at the end of the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the share option scheme and convertible bonds of the

Company, no other equity-linked agreements were entered into by
the Company, or existed during the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.8 of the Corporate Governance
Code in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code"”) and
subject to the provisions of the Companies Ordinance, the Company
has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any losses or liabilities incurred, or any
legal actions brought against the directors and senior management of
the Group which may arise out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the directors as
required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or in existence during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed, the Company did not have any other connected
transactions which were subject to the reporting requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December
2023.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there were no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that had a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The emolument policy of the senior employees of the Company is set
and recommended by the Remuneration Committee to the Board on
the basis of the employees’ merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are formulated and recommended
by the Remuneration Committee to the Board, having regards to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance of the Directors
and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
the Directors and eligible employees of the Company, details of which
are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statement.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Company encourages environmental protection and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection. The Company has
adhered to the concepts of recycling and reducing by implementing
green office practices such as double-sided printing and copying,
using recycle papers and reducing energy by switching off those idle
lighting. The Board will review the Company’s environmental saving
practices and identify other energy efficiency opportunities from time
to time.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are our valuable assets.
Thus the Group provides competitive remuneration package to
attract and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews
the remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners to achieve its long-term goals.
Accordingly, our senior management have kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business update with them
when appropriate. During the year, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its business partners.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group has reviewed the possible risks and uncertainties
which may affect its businesses, financial condition, operations
and prospects. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in
addition to those shown below which are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in
the future.

(@) The Group’s financial services business and corporate consulting
business are facing significant competition which may affect its
profitability if the Group fails to maintain its competitiveness;

(b)  The business operations and performance are significantly
affected by the uncertainty about the customer behaviour
and preferences, such as changes on customer expectation
upon new regulations or requirements, and relatively price
competitive. If the Group is unable to respond to such changes
promptly, the Group may not be able to compete effectively
against its competitors and may lost its market share;
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The Group may face the risk of business sustainability arising
from low awareness of potential change in the business
environment under outbreak of contagious diseases, such
as novel coronavirus pandemic, which causes a significant
economic downturn;

The Group’s success depends on professional and experienced
staff to provide regulated and consulting services. Failure to
attract, motivate and retain skilled and talented individuals
would have an adverse impact on the Group’s operations;

Services provided through securities trading facilities to
customers or daily operations might be delayed, interrupted, or
even terminated due to system failure caused by damages from
natural disasters, power outage or any other disruptive actions
resulted from lagging technology. Material impact on the
Group's operations and financial performance may be caused;

Delays or failure in payments by customers, or delay repayment
of loans by borrowers may adversely affect the Group’s
financial position and profitability. The Group may have to
incur additional legal expenses for legal proceedings and/
or enforcement of collaterals and/or make provision for
impairment or write-off the relevant receivables;

The licensed corporations and money lending business under
financial services business segment are regulated under the
SFO and Money Lending Ordinance (“MLO") respectively. Any
failure of compliance would be subject to disciplinary action, or
even revoke or suspend on relevant licence;

Both of the financial services business and corporate consulting
business are required to comply with Anti Money Laundering
related statutory and regulatory requirements under SFO
and issued by the Companies Registry and the Hong Kong
government respectively. If the Group fails to comply with the
relevant requirements and guidelines, it may be subject to
disciplinary actions or even suspension of operation.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Company'’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Full details on the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out on pages 40 to 64.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of reference
which are in line with the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix
C1 of the GEM Listing Rules and comprises three independent non-
executive Directors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Company and the external auditor the Group's annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2023, and was of the opinion that
the preparation of such results are in compliance with the relevant
accounting standards, rules and regulations and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total
issued share capital of the Company as required under the GEM
Listing Rules throughout the financial period under review and up to
the date of this report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Wong Hin Shek
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
27 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has always recognised the importance of the
transparency and accountability to Shareholders. It is the belief of the
Board that the Shareholders can maximise their benefits from good
corporate governance. The Company is committed to maintaining
a good and sensible framework of corporate governance and to
complying with applicable statutory and regulatory requirements with
a view to assuring the conduct of management as well as protecting
the interests of the Shareholders.

Throughout the year, to the best knowledge of the Board, the
Company has applied the principles and complied with all the
applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code except for the
deviation as mentioned below.

Code Provision C.2.1

Pursuant to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that
the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Wong Hin Shek is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
This is at variance with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code which
provides that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

The Board considers that (i) Mr. Wong has substantial experience that
is essential to fulfilling the role of the Chairman, at the same time,
he has the appropriate management skills and business acumen that
are the prerequisites for assuming the role of the Chief Executive
Officer in the day-to-day management of the Group; (ii) having the
same individual in both roles as the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer could ensure the leadership consistency and could make and
implement the overall strategy of the Group more effectively; and (iii)
the powers and authorities of the Group has not been concentrated
as all major decisions of the Group have been made in consultation
with the Board and appropriate Board committees, as well as senior
management. The Board will regularly review the effectiveness
of this structure to ensure that it is appropriate to the Group’s
circumstances.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has not adopted a code of conduct nor established
written guidelines regarding the securities transactions by the
Directors and relevant employees of the Company but has applied
the principles of the required standard of dealings set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “"Required Standard of
Dealings”).

Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, each of the Directors
has confirmed that he/she has complied with the Required Standard
of Dealings throughout the year and up to the date of this report.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is charged with the responsibility for the promotion of the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a
responsible and effective manner. Directors take decisions objectively
in the interests of the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, are aware of their responsibilities and accountability to
Shareholders and for the manner in which the affairs of the Company
are managed and operated.

The senior management of the Group was delegated the authority
and responsibility by the Board and under the leadership of
the Board, responsible for executing the Board’s strategy and
implementing its policies through day-to-day management and
operations of the business of the Group. The Board determines which
functions are reserved to the Board and which are delegated to senior
management. It delegates appropriate aspects of its management
and administrative functions to senior management. It also gives
clear directions as to the powers of senior management, in particular,
with respect to the circumstances where senior management must
report back and obtain prior approval from the Board before making
decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the
Company. These arrangements are reviewed periodically to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Company.

Important matters are reserved to the Board for its decision, including
strategic direction and objectives of the Group, extension of the
Group's activities into new business areas, appointments to the Board
and the Board committees, appointment or change of auditors,
monitor the performance of the management of the Group, annual
budgets and effective control measures, material acquisitions and
disposals, material transactions, material banking facilities, risk
management and internal control, announcements of quarterly,
interim and final results and payment of dividends and other
significant operational matters of the Company.
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The Directors are enabled, upon reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide separate
appropriate independent professional advice to the Directors to assist
the relevant Directors to discharge their duties.

The Board has established the Group's purpose, value and strategy,
and has satisfied itself that the Group's culture is aligned. The
Directors and senior management have acted with integrity, lead by
example(s), and promote the desired culture to support the Group's
pursuit of success. The integrity, honesty, fairness, impartiality, and
ethical long-term business practices should be stated as one of the
core values of the Group.

During the year, the Group has adopted anti-corruption policy
(the “Anti-Corruption Policy”) and whistleblowing policy (the
“Whistleblowing Policy”) to provide the platforms for reporting
issues and concerns on any misconduct, and to uphold business
integrity in its operations. These two policies are the core to
establishing the healthy corporate culture and promoting high ethical
standards in the Group.

The Group will continuously day-to-day implementation and oversight
of these policies, and consideration and approval of changes to the
policies, if necessary. The Group believes that a healthy corporate
culture is very important for achieving the long-terms success and
foster sustainability of the Group.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged in respect of the legal
action against the Directors and the management of the Group. The
Board considers that the Group has sufficient and appropriate liability
insurance to cover the Directors and the management of the Group
against any legal liability arising from their performance of duties.

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises four Directors, with
an executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Director:

Mr. Wong Hin Shek
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina

Mr. Wong Wing Kit
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann
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The Board possesses a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the businesses of
the Group. The Directors with a variety and a balance of skills and
experience in investment banking, auditing, accounting, financial
management, company secretarial, business development, legal,
management, marketing and corporate finance which is relevant
in managing the businesses in which the Group is engaged. The
names of the Directors in office during 2023 and up to the date of
this report and details of retiring Directors to be re-elected at the
forthcoming AGM are set out in the section headed “Report of the
Directors” in this report. The biographical details of the Directors
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in this report. Updated list of Directors
identifying their role and function are maintained on the websites
of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company at
WWW.Noiz-group.com.

To the best of the knowledge of the Company, there is no financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships between
Board members or between the Chairman and the chief executive.

Appointment, Re-Election and Retirement of the Directors

In accordance with article 83(2) and 83(3) of the Amended and
Restated Articles of Association, the Company may by ordinary
resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board. The
Directors shall have the power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting of Members after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM")
and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles of Association,
notwithstanding any other provisions in the Articles of Association,
at each AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at the AGM at least once
every three (3) years.
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In accordance with article 84(2) of the Articles of Association, a
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue
to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The
Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to
ascertain the number of directors to retire by rotation) any Director
who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors
subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between
persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the
same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot. Any Director appointed by the
Board pursuant to article 83(3) of the Articles of Association shall not
be taken into account in determining which particular Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation.

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

The Board, led by the Chairman, sets the overall direction, strategy
and policies of the Company.

Presently, Mr. Wong Hin Shek assumes the roles of both the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer. The roles of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer are not separated and exercised by different
individuals. The reasons for the deviation from the code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code are set out under the section “Corporate
Governance Practices” in this Corporate Governance Report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are seasoned individuals
from diversified backgrounds and industries. The Board has complied
with rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules to have at least three
independent non-executive director and who represent one-third
of the Board and with at least one of whom holds appropriate
professional qualifications and accounting or related financial
management expertise. The total number of independent non-
executive Directors represented half of the Board members so that
there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
formal letters of appointment with the Company for an initial term
of one year and will continue thereafter from year to year until
terminated by either party, subject to re-election at the general
meeting/AGM next following their appointment and thereafter
retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGMs in accordance
with the Articles of Association.
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The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors. The Company
is of the view that all of the independent non-executive Directors
meet the guidelines for assessing independence as set out in rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers them to be independent.

During the year, the Chairman has held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
executive Directors.

Board Meetings

Board meetings are held regularly and at least four times a year to
approve, among other things, the financial results of the Company.
Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to give the
Directors an opportunity to attend. All Directors are invited to include
matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings. For all other Board
meetings, reasonable notices are given to Directors. Directors can
attend Board meetings either in person or by electronic means of
communication.

During the year, a total of fourteen Board meetings were held. There
was satisfactory attendance for Board meetings, which evidences
prompt attention of the Directors to the affairs of the Company.

If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical
Board meeting rather than by a written resolution. Independent non-
executive Directors who, have no material interest in the transaction
will be present at such Board meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of all Board
and Board committee meetings. Draft minutes are circulated to Board
or Board committee members unless a conflict of interest arises and
the final version of minutes are open for inspection by the Directors
upon reasonable notice.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations are followed. The Directors also have
separate and independent access to senior management to make
further enquiries or to obtain more information where necessary.
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Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Upon appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director will
receive the briefing by senior management on, among others, the
corporate goals, objectives, business activities and plans and financial
situation of the Group. Subsequently, each newly appointed Director
is also provided a training with a package of materials in respect of a
director’s responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules
and other applicable law, rules and regulations, corporate governance
matters and financial reporting standards.

During the year, all the Directors have participated in appropriate
continuous professional development training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code. Reading materials on relevant topics are sent to the Directors
where appropriate.

Each of the Directors participated in the following trainings during
the year:
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Executive Director BITES
Mr. Wong Hin Shek TERELE v v
Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping BENYZT
(resigned on 1 December 2023) (7A2023E 128 1R &) v v
Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson REELE
(resigned on 31 March 2023) (73202338310 &) v
Independent Non-executive Directors JBIIIFHITES
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina RESLT v v
Mr. Wong Wing Kit =KBREE / v
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BREZL v v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee.
All Board committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of reference. The main roles and responsibilities of
these three committees, including all authorities delegated to them
by the Board, as set out in the terms of reference and are published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and
the Company at www.noiz-group.com. The different committees’
independent views and recommendations not only ensure proper
control of the Group but also the continual achievement of the high
corporate governance standards expected of a listed company. The
chairman of each committee reports the outcome of the committee’s
meetings to the Board for further discussion and approval.

There was satisfactory attendance for meetings of the Board
committees during the year. The minutes of the committee meetings
are circulated to all members of the relevant committee unless a
conflict of interest arises. The committees are required to report back
to the Board on key findings, recommendations and decisions.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include: (i)
reviewing the structure, size and diversity (including without
limitation, gender, age, culture and educational background, skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually, and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (i) identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships; (iii) assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and (iv)
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.
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Members of the Nomination Committee are:

RRZEEMERHE:

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina
BREEYL BIFRITESR)
Mr. Wong Wing Kit
KB E BIIFRITESR)
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann

BRIEZ LT (BILIFAITES)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(Independent non-executive Director)

The Nomination Committee will at all times, have a minimum of three
members, a majority of which shall be independent non-executive
Directors and presently consists of three members comprising
three independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of the
Nomination Committee is elected by the members who are present at
the meeting.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year and as and
when there is any issue which requires its consideration. One meeting
was held during the year.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has (i) reviewed
the structure, size and composition and diversity of the Board,
(i) assessed the independent of the independent non-executive
Directors; (iii) recommended to the Board on the selection of
members of the Board; (iv) reviewed the Board Diversity Policy,
the Nomination Policy and terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee.

During the year, the Nomination Committee was provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties and responsibilities and at
the Company’s expense to seek independent professional advice,
where and when necessary.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee takes
into account various aspects as well as the factors concerning the
Board diversity as set out in the Board Diversity Policy, as follows:

Board Diversity Policy

(0

(1)

(iir)

Objective

The Company recognizes the importance of the nomination
of the Board of Directors and the Board diversity which are
beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s performance.

Policy

The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the Board
composition on behalf of the Board and recommends the
appointment of new Directors. In addition to its terms of
reference, the Nomination Committee will also take into
account includes: (a) in designing and reviewing the Board'’s
composition, the Nomination Committee will consider from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to reputation
for integrity, accomplishment and experience in the financial
services industry, in particular, in the securities, commodities
and futures and financial markets, commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors
that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from
time to time; and (b) all Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to reputation for
integrity, accomplishment and experience in the financial
services industry, in particular, in the securities, commodities
and futures and financial markets, commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Lo

FLEEFENAMF RLZEEREREEMES
B UREFEZTIEBRAIREAMEFTES T
fENRAZR > ARRWT !

EFESTIEHE
=V

(i)

(1ii)

KABRHIRREFEREFEZ TN
2 HERS A AT EER -

R

RAEZEENREFERIATEEFTEN
AR THEFNERREHEZ - FERE
REEIN RREEGMERNTEIEQE
R RBNEFEENE BRREEERK
ZESTEERE SEEFRNHEEE T
TRBBE FHRRS BmidflERhE/
M15) B R AR B ~ TEIR AR B R B R &
FEREE MR E&R - XIEREEFR
B BELR - RE-MBRRBE MU
REFEETRIBA/BMAERNENE
MRE ;bEREFEMENERIREL
REAREBNER L REARBEEER
BEECTER UEEEBINEFTETZ LN
ko

TN ==

REANBERER -—R2IZTENRA>
BEEBRARNHEEE -TERBRBE 5
EEF HmERERERTS) VR K
LB~ TR AR R S AR R 21 75 T AY KGR
M ER NIERBEEER BHE FEL
R - MBRRTEH RERER
ENERBREARSEFEFRNEFERE
B o

ANNUAL REPORT F#§ » 2023

49



50

Corporate Governance Report
EXEIBRS

(iv)  Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the
Board annually in the corporate governance report contained in
the Company’s annual report and monitor the implementation
of this Board Diversity Policy. A summary of this Board
Diversity Policy together with the measurable objectives set for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives will be disclosed in the
annual corporate governance report of the Company.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised two male and two
female Directors, and the percentage of male and female employees
are 44% and 56% respectively.

The Board considers that the Group’s workforce (including Directors)
are diverse in terms of gender. The Group will continue to apply the
principle of appointments based on merits with reference to our
Board Diversity Policy as a whole, and we have also taken, and will
continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of our
Company.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
diversity of the Board, it ensures that the Board composition is
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. Also, it reflects an
appropriate mix of Board's specific skills, experiences and knowledge
and diversity of perspectives, and contribute to the Board’s
effectiveness and efficiency to achieve the Company's strategy and
corporate governance issues. The Nomination Committee considered
that an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board
(include the industry or professional knowledge and experience,
gender, technical skill and management experience) is maintained.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£EAER AT

(iv) EiZREER

RLZEERBEELIRADERFAENTE
EAREAMBEFTSEMBR LERIE
EFEEtHENBH LEFEZ T
HRBEERRPITILEEFE S TEBEM
ENAFEERRERNEERNARTH
FELEELARTNKE-

REABREAH EFETHMEBEMEMELMES
MR B Rz M EEFMERIE 2 LRI R44% K
56% °

Bl AEE2EET (BFES T L
RETE-AEEREESREFSTS TIEER
BETRAEZBREA] FHAFITFE A A E RS
BoaErRBsEREREMLNZ T

REZEEERNEFENRB - RERS L
BRESENHEMFECGEMETRR o Hix
RESGERTR TR AN RS RN
HMEAESENABENMEMESG TAEFEE
RAERBRENMELRYEYUREEEGHBEF
HEM -REEEETRR EFTESHRENAER
EEETERNTENMFHEEER MR RMEND
REBEER) HFEMEREE T



Corporate Governance Report
EXEIBRS

Nomination Policy

The Board approved and adopted the Nomination Policy which
sets out the nomination procedures, criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of Directors. Details of the Nomination
Policy are set out below:

1. Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall consider
the following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

o character and integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience and diversity aspects
under the Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the
Company'’s business and corporate strategy;

o any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

o requirement in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules
and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules (in case of
independent non-executive Director);

o any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

o willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and

o any other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company's business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of Directors and succession planning.
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Nomination Procedures

The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’ nomination
which are pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and the Articles as
below:

2.1

2.2

Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee or the Board or the
Company Secretary shall call for a meeting of the
Nomination Committee upon receipt of any nominations
of candidates. The Nomination Committee should
evaluate such candidate based on the selection criteria
mentioned above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the
appropriate candidate for directorship. For any person
that is nominated by the Shareholder(s) for election as
a Director at the general meeting of the Company (the
“General Meeting”), the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board should evaluate such candidate based on the
same selection criteria as mentioned above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship, and
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to the Shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of Director at the
General Meeting. The Board should have the final
decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of
candidates to stand for election at any General Meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board
to stand for re-election at the General Meeting according
to the Articles. The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should review the overall contribution and service
of the retiring Director to the Company, his/her level
of participation and performance on the Board and
determine whether the retiring Director continues to meet
the above selection criteria. The Nomination Committee
and/or the Board should then make recommendation to
the Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of
Director at the General Meeting.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The main duties of Remuneration Committee include: (i) making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for
the remuneration of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; (ii) assessing
performance of executive Directors’ and approving the terms of
executive Directors’ service contracts; (iii) reviewing the remuneration
package including the performance-based bonus and incentive
rewards for the executive Directors and the senior management
of the Group and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors; (iv) reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board the compensation, if any, payable
to the executive Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment; and (v)
reviewing and approving the matters relating to the share schemes
under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary objective of the Group's remuneration policy is to retain
and motivate the executive Directors and the senior management of
the Group by linking their rewards to the corporate and individual
performance, job complexity and responsibilities, so that the interests
of the executive Directors are aligned with those of the Shareholders.
No Director can, however, approve his/her own remuneration.

Members of the Remuneration Committee are:

HINEEEMEEE

HwMEEE

FABERIUFEMEE S AR ESHMEEET

ahFEEATH -

HMEZEETEREOE (MEAEREZERER
EEEZHFMBERRERS URMRILERMAE
PENEFRGAMFNERR mEFIRMER
F(FEATEFZRRE R ERNTEFRS S
KRR S (NBRARTFTATEFREIEBASRE
HE 2 #aEs > SEERBHBZEARKEE
THMIFRTESNFHRAEFTTRUEER (vVE\
RENTFTHATEERESREEE B BT ABR
HiEEmZfHE (WA  TRitRESeRME
# 5 RVBBE R EGEM EHRAIE23ZEFRIRHG
STENER-

FERFNERZEIEZBN DRATESREE
EehEBE2HmMECERBAZKRE -HIF
MERB SN BB RHBRE AL EH
TEFERFINIDRE—R-AM EFFEH
BRERE ZFHM -

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina
REERL (BILIENTESR)
Mr. Wong Wing Kit
KR E (BILIENTESR)
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann

BREZL (BIUFPTES)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(Independent non-executive Director)

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is elected by the
members who are present at the meeting.
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The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year and as and
when there is any issue which requires its consideration. One meeting
was held during the year.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year
included: (i) reviewing the remuneration policy and structure of the
Directors and the senior management of the Group, including those
retired and re-elected at the AGM. The Company has adopted the
model to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management;
(i) reviewing the performance-based remuneration package of each
individual executive Directors, and his/her terms of services contracts
and recommending to the Board; (iii) reviewing matters relating to
share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules; and (iv)
reviewing the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with specific
written terms of reference in accordance with the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include: (i) reviewing the
quarterly, half-yearly and annual results of the Group; (ii) reviewing
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group;
(iii) reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the
Group; (iv) ensuring the objectivity and credibility of the Company’s
financial reporting and internal control procedures as well as to
maintain an appropriate relationship with the external auditor of
the Company; and (v) reviewing and investigation of reports of the
whistleblowing policy and systems.

Members of the Audit Committee are:
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Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina
REERL (BILIENTESR)
Mr. Wong Wing Kit
KRR E (BILIENTESR)
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann

BREL LT (BIUFPTES)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(Independent non-executive Director)
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The Audit Committee consists of three members comprising three
independent non-executive Directors, at least one of whom with
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required in rule 5.05(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules. The chairman of the Audit Committee is elected
by the members who are present at the meeting. All members of
the Audit Committee possess appropriate professional qualifications
and experience necessary to give advice on the Board’s strategies
and other related matters. All members of the Audit Committee
have complete and unrestricted access to the external auditor of the
Company and all employees of the Company.

The Audit Committee meets at least two times a year and as and
when there is any issue which requires its consideration. Four
meetings were held during the year.

During the year, the work performed by the Audit Committee
included: (i) reviewing together with senior management and
external auditor of the Company, the annual audit plan, the risk
management and internal control system, the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and other financial matters; and
(ii) considering and approving the Company’s annual financial results
and annual report for the year ended 31 December 2022, the interim
results and interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2023,
and the quarterly results and quarterly reports for the periods ended
31 March 2023 and 30 September 2023 of the Group, and confirmed
that the preparation of such complied with the applicable accounting
standards and practices adopted by the Company, the requirements
of the under the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements and adequate disclosures has been
made.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board the
re-appointment of Elite Partners CPA Limited as the Company’s
external auditor subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming AGM.
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Attendance at Board Meetings, Board Committees Meetings
and General Meetings

During the year, the attendance records of the Directors at Board
meetings, Audit Committee meetings, Nomination Committee
meeting, Remuneration Committee meeting, AGM and Extraordinary
General Meeting ("EGM") (attendance by either in person or by
phone) are as follows:

EFEER - ERZEEERNRRRATHLHESR
*;\l'

ERNEENEFEER - BEREETTE RS
ZERER FNEEE SR RRBFARTERK
RENARE RRFINKE) GREIUBHRTLR
HE) 2 HEEEImT

Number of meetings

EERS
Attended/Eligible to attend
BHEAERHE
EGM held on
Audit Nomination Remuneration  AGM held on 25 August
Board Committee Committee Committee 5 May 2023 2023

EXg BERERY

120235 720235
SASH21THM 8H25HSTH
Re%8g HFMZEET RERBEAT BREBIAE

Executive Directors

HTES
N/A
Mr. Wong Hin Shek 13/14 TEH
IEEAE
Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson N/A
(resigned on 31 March 2023) 1/8 il
REBELE (1202353831 HEHD)
Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping N/A
(resigned on 1 December 2023) 12/14 TEH
L (20235128 1B E#D)
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFHNTES
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina 1214 3/4
RESEUL
Mr. Wong Wing Kit 13/14 4/4
EKBRE
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann 1214 4/4
BREXL

N/A N/A

TBHR ~BAR 17 mn
N/A N/A N/A N/A

TBR ~EBR TER TEBR
N/A N/A

~BH ~BHR n mn

1”n 1”n 1”1 ”n

1”n 1”n 1”1 ”n

1”n 1”n 1”1 ”n

The attendance of a Director is stated by reference to the number of
meetings held during his/her tenure if he/she was appointed part way
during the year.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£EAER AT

MRENFRESZENEEMS HHELHRL S
REFEANMBITZEZRAMI L -



Corporate Governance Report

EREBHS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code which
include: (i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board; (ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management of
the Company; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company's policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer while all Directors have access to the advice and
services of her to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable
law, rules and regulations, are followed. The Company Secretary
is also responsible for supporting the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that Board policy and
procedures are followed, advising the Board through the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer on corporate governance matters and
facilitate induction and professional development of Directors.

Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping (“Ms. Tsang"”) resigned as the Company
Secretary on 1 December 2023. Mr. Au Kai Yin (“Mr. Au”) has been
appointed as the Company Secretary in place of Ms. Tsang with effect
from 1 December 2023. During the year, each of Ms. Tsang and
Mr. Au attended over 15 hours of professional training as required
under rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board approved and adopted a dividend policy which outlines
general principles for the determination and payment of dividend to
its Shareholders (the “Dividend Policy”). Dividends or distributions
by the Company shall be determined and declared in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations, the Articles of Association and
the Dividend Policy.
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Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the Company may declare and pay
dividends to the Shareholders by way of cash or by other means
that the Board considers appropriate. The Board, in recommending
dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to retain
adequate reserves for future growth. The Company’s decision to
declare or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of such
dividends will depend upon, among other things, the current and
future operations, financial condition, liquidity position and capital
requirements of the Group, as well as dividends received from the
Company'’s subsidiaries and associates, which in turn will depend on
the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a dividend. In
addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment of
dividends by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under
the laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the Articles of
Association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Board will continue to review this Dividend Policy from time to
time, amend and/or modify this Dividend Policy at any time as it
deems fit and necessary.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICY

The Group has established the (i) policy and measures to support
anti-corruption laws and regulations; and (ii) whistleblowing policy
and measures for employees, suppliers and business partners to raise
serious concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Board about
possible improprieties in financial report or other matters of the
Group. These polities can promote high probity standards and ethical
business practices.

Further details of the Group’s anti-corruption policy and
whistleblowing policy, please refer to the Company’s website.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2023 provided by the external auditor of
the Company, Elite Partners CPA Limited, are as follows:

=% M B =

BE2023F12A31HIEFE » R A B SMNES % BLED
ML EREMEBEMERLRMEHREZLIE
BEZ

Fees paid/payable

Services rendered Fri2 AR 7S Bt EEER
HK$'000

FET

Audit services Mote/ E PR RS ) 988
Non-audit services JEEIZARTS -
Total a5t 988

Note: Included annual audit service fee of HK$950,000.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Company and ensure that they
are prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the timely
publication of such financial statements. The Directors aim to present
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's position
and prospects.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company, Elite Partners
CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on the
Company’s financial statements is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor Report” in this report.

The Directors were aware that the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$25,673,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
net liabilities were approximately HK$34,804,000. These conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

Notwithstanding the above conditions, the financial statements were
prepared based on the assumption that the Group can be operated as
a going concern.

it BIEFEEZRFEE950,000/8 7T

EEMARMBRRZEME

EFNEREECERRALDMBRE > LHER
BERBBEEZERERBASAEIRR -BEFTA
BREFTNEZEMBERR -EFRIMEEERR
MEASREEFFEZRNERZ TG

ARBNEREMRATEBEAMEFAARA
B REN AR M BRERARENPREMEMN
BRZEBR §NABREBI ARG —&-

BEMBAEBNREBE2023F 12831 HIEFEE
4 FE1825,673,0008 7 AEENFEERN
34,804,000/87c - ZEBREKAFEEANTHEE
Mo EEHAERNFELEERENEEEARRE
fig o

BEFELMER M HFRENVERIDENEAE
EEUFEEE LN EFZRR-

ANNUAL REPORT F#§ » 2023

59



60

Corporate Governance Report
EXEIBRS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for establishing
and maintaining the Group's risk management and internal control
system and reviewing its effectiveness. The Group has established
a risk management and internal control system covering all the
business units to monitor, assess and manage various risks in the
Group's business activities, on a regular basis.

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group include: the identification of risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the development and continuous
update of responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of
risk management and internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness. Such risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The system
identifies, evaluates and manages the significant risks through regular
risk assessments, including both compliance assessment and self-
assessment on risk management and internal control.

The risk management and internal control system of the Group
comprises four levels based on the corporate governance structure:
(1) the Board, responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives and to ensure the defects found in reviews of
the risk management and internal control system can be resolved in
a timely manner; (2) the Audit Committee, responsible for reviewing
the quality, integrity and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control policies of the Group and to approve and make
suggestions to the Board the revisions on the risk management
and internal control policies; (3) management, responsible for the
day-to-day risk management in all departments and subsidiaries of
the Company and (4) the members of the Group, responsible for
performing the daily risk management task.

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of inside
information and for compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal control element,
a serious of disclosure procedures of price sensitive information on
reporting and dissemination of inside information and preservation
of confidentiality. Under the current practice, the directors aware any
potential/suspected inside information event as soon as practicable
when it materializes for determining the nature of developments,
and if required, making disclosure. All staff are also required to
observe the code of ethical standards to keep non-public information
confidential.
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During the year, the Group engaged a professional advisory firm
as internal control reviewer and to report directly to the Audit
Committee to conduct annual review for the effectiveness the risk
management and internal control system of the Group covering the
period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 in compliance
with the requirements under code provision D.2 of the CG Code
which covers expenditure and cash management and treasury cycles
of certain Subsidiaries of the Group.

The result of the review has been summarised and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board with recommendations and follow-
up results. All the recommendations have been properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they will be implemented within
a reasonable period of time. The Board considered that the risk
management and internal control system of the Group is adequate
and effective.

During the year, the Board also reviews the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of the staff of the Company, the
Company's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or
more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
convene a physical meeting at only one location which will be the
principal place of the meeting, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Sending Enquiries to the Board

The Shareholders may send their enquiries to the Board by addressing
them to the Company’s head office and principal place of business
in Hong Kong, presently at Room 1108, 11/F, Wing On Centre,
111 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong, by post for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as
a Director

Pursuant to article 83(2) of the Articles of Association, subject to the
Articles of Association and the Law, the Company may by ordinary
resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

Pursuant to article 85 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at
any general meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other than
the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at
the head office or at the registration office provided that such notices
must be lodged with the Company at least fourteen (14) days prior
to the date of the general meeting of election but no earlier than the
day after despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election.

The Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to make proposals or
move resolutions at the general meetings under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands other than to propose
a person for election as a director. Shareholders who wish to make
proposals or move a resolution may, however, follow the procedures
set out in “Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting” above by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting for
putting forward proposals at the Company’s head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong, presently at Room 1108, 11/F, Wing
On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication
policy (the “Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) to ensure
the Shareholders’ questions and concerns are the appropriately
addressed. The Board has the responsibility to review the policy
regularly to ensure its effectiveness.

The Shareholders” Communication Policy set out the provisions with
the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company in order to promote effective
communication with the Shareholders so as to enable them
to engage actively with the Company and exercise their rights
as Shareholder in an informed manner. The Shareholders’
Communication Policy is available on the Company’s website at
www.noiz-group.com and emphasizes the maintenance of ongoing
communication with the Shareholders.

The Board strives to encourage and maintain constant dialogue with
its shareholders through various means includes: (1) financial reports
and other corporate communications. The publication of the financial
reports (quarterly, interim and annual reports) and other corporate
communications including but not limited to announcements,
circulars, notices, proxy forms and other regulatory disclosure will
be provided to Shareholders in accordance with the GEM Listing
Rules and any other relevant laws and regulations to facilitate
Shareholders’ understanding; (2) Shareholders’ meetings. (i.e. AGM,
extraordinary general meeting or any other Shareholders’ meetings);
and the members of the Board, in particular, either the chairmen
of Board committees or their delegates, appropriate management
executives will attend AGMs to answer Shareholders’ questions in
normal circumstances; and (3) Company’s Website. The availability of
latest information of the Group on the Company’s website at www.
noiz-group.com which is an effective communication platform to the
shareholders and the investors as well as the general public.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of
relevant information to its Shareholders and investors and discloses
information in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, and publishes
periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance with
the relevant laws and regulations.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy for
enhancing the investors relations, and the investors understanding of
the Group’s business performance and strategies.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

An amendment was made to the constitutional documents of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Shareholders approved to amendment to the memorandum and
Articles of Association at the AGM held on 5 May 2023 and also
adopted amended and restated memorandum and Articles of
Association in order to (i) reflect the Change of Company Name;
and (ii) reflect the amendments to Appendix 3 to the GEM Listing
Rules regarding the core shareholder protection standards (the “Core
Shareholder Protection Standards”), which became effective on
1 January 2022, and to conform to the Core Shareholder Protection
Standards; and (iii) make some house-keeping changes. The amended
and restated memorandum and Articles of Association has been
adopted on 9 May 2023.
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ABOUT NOIZ
Introduction

Noiz Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group” or “We") are pleased to present
the environmental, social and governance (the “ESG") Report
(the "Report”). This ESG report discloses and summarizes our
sustainability initiatives, strategies, and performances in 2023.
This Report has been prepared in accordance with the updated
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide ("ESG
Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20 of the Rules (the
"GEM Listing Rules”) governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX").

Our Commitment and Approach

The Board recognises the importance of the strong sustainability
commitment and performance in fulfilling the expectations of
stakeholders. The Board has worked with the management and our
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") working team to
identify, prioritize and oversee ESG strategy to continuously improve
our ESG performance to mitigate the ESG-related risk.

Since 2021, the Group has established an ESG working team
(the "Working Team”) which is responsible for the evaluation
of the impact of ESG-related risks of business operations through
ESG risk assessment and internal control review, and formulating
corresponding policies in dealing with the risks. This Working Team
will report to the Board at least twice a year regarding the ESG
performance and the outcome of the associated risk assessments. The
Group's ESG management approach and strategy would be closely
monitored and reviewed by the Working Team. It would assist the
Board to evaluate the progress made toward achieving ESG-related
targets and performance goals. On the other hand, the Group carried
out a materiality assessment to collect the feedback from different
stakeholders on each ESG issue as one of the references for the
sustainability development plans. We also raise awareness from our
employees and encourage them to work together to move toward
sustainability.
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Scope of Our Report

The Report focuses on the operations of our Hong Kong headquarter,
the financial services business, corporate consulting business and
digital business (the “Selected Business Segments”) of the Group,
including the provision of securities brokerage services, corporate
finance advisory services, asset management business, money lending
services, company secretarial services, accounting and financial
reporting services, management consulting services and digital
business services for the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2023 (the “Reporting Period”), which could reveal our performance
and efforts in the aspect of environmental, social and governance.
We cover the material ESG-related issues with respect to the core
business.

Reporting Principles

This Report has been prepared following the principles of materiality,
guantitative, balance and consistency. It is also pursuant to the
“comply or explain” provision outlined in the ESG Reporting Guide.
Our application of these four principles is illustrated as follows:
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Reporting Principle Description Our Application
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Materiality The ESG issues covered in the Report should A materiality assessment has been carried
be sufficiently important to investors and out to identify the material issues which are
other stakeholders in the areas of the significantly important to the Group and its
economy, environment, and society. major stakeholders. The relevant information
of the material issues has been collected and
analyzed in a targeted manner.
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Reporting Principle Description Our Application
BE R R A b KA FEF
Quantitative KPIs should be disclosed in a measurable way. Comparative and quantitative information

Targets should be set to reduce a particular
impact. In this way, the effectiveness of
ESG policies and management systems can
be assessed and validated. Quantitative
information should be elaborated with a
narrative, presenting its objective, impacts,
and providing comparative data where
appropriate.
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Balance The ESG report should provide positive and
negative information to reflect an unbiased
picture of the Group's performance. The
report should avoid selections, omissions, or
presentation formats that may improperly
affect a decision or judgment by the report
reader.
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Consistency The issuer should adopt consistent
methodologies to present and allow
meaningful comparisons of ESG data over
time. The issuer should disclose in the ESG
report should cover any adjustments to the
revised methods used or any other relevant
factors influencing a meaningful comparison.
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has been disclosed in the Report where
appropriate.

BEEEEBERT RARSKETLLREH
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Both accomplishments and challenges of the
ESG issues have been disclosed in an objective
manner.
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Consistent methodology has been adopted
in the Report with necessary justification on
any modifications to the methods used in
comparison with the previous year.
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Stakeholder Engagement

The Group highly values feedback from our stakeholders. Through
regular engaging activities with our major stakeholders, we could
communicate transparently and better understand and respond to
their expectations and concerns regarding our sustainability strategy
and future development. These opinions will help us further identify
and assess our current effort on sustainability and refine our ESG
strategy to align with their perceptions.

The following table sets out our major stakeholders and its
corresponding communication channels.
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Stakeholders Communication channels

& BIERE

Management Regular meetings

EEE E B S R

Employees Regular performance appraisals

B& Frequent meetings
Training programs
EHARIFETZ
EEERER
EHIERE

Customers Customer services

EE Daily communication
ERR®
SRR

Shareholders/Investors

RRREE

Suppliers
HRER
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Your Feedback

The Group recognizes the importance of our stakeholders’ opinions.
Should you have any suggestions or comments on the content
of the Report or our ESG performance, feel free to contact us at
admin@noiz-group.com.

Materiality Assessment

The Group has carried out a materiality assessment to identify
material ESG issues. The assessment process involves identification,
prioritization and validation of issues. The procedures of the
assessment process are shown as follows:

Step 1: Identification
F15  #Al

Step 2: Prioritization
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Step 3: Validation
#3% | EE

A total of 25 ESG issues relevant

to the Group were identified by
reviewing daily operations. A pool of
possible material issues was created.

BBEAAEEE K25 EER
EEAFANRRE HEREREE-
BRI —EEEERZERE-

We have mapped out a total of 25 sustainability issues Through

Through continuous communication
with stakeholders, evaluation of the
Group actual business operations
and industry characteristics, and
with reference to the Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board (SASB) as
well as the material issues disclosed by
industry peers.

BREFMNEFRERR FTEFERE
REBEENEERR L2E0RHE
ERETEMNEZEE (SASB) IREHE
FIEFTIRBENEREE

The management of the Group reviews
and verifies the materiality of the issues
and confirmed the 10 ESG issues as its
material issues of 2023.

AEBREEEEAAREEENEE
MUWERI0ERE - HENREREES
2023FHEKRFEBE
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continuous communication with stakeholders, indicating their
importance to stakeholders (vertical axis) and its business (horizontal
axis). 10 issues were identified at the upper right quadrat and
regarded as material by stakeholders and the Group, including equal
opportunity, diversification and anti-discrimination, occupational
health and safety, employment relationship and communication,
supplier selection process, anti-fraud and corruption, business
continuity plan, service quality, complaints handling, and customer
privacy. The above issues are considered as material for the
Group's sustainable development and are further elaborated in the
subsequent sections of this ESG Report.
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The materiality matrix is depicted as follows:

IMPORTANCE TO STAKEHOLDERS
HEDENEEME

0 o

Medium

Medium

Green Procurement
Environmental Risk in
Supply Chain

BRI

Hazardous Waste

EEERMEE HERNIRE AR
3. Greenhouse Gas 8. Employee Welfare

Emissions BTRER

RERBHR 9. Equal Opportunity,

Diversification and

Conservation Anti-Discrimination

HARERAE 4 Ak TERE St
5. Climate Change Risk MR AR
Management 10. Occupational Health
REEERRER and Safety
BERREZ2
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. Staff Development and

Training
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. Employment Compliance
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. Employee Turnover Rate

BIRAE
Employment Relationship
and Communication
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. Training for Crisis

Response and
Contingency Operation
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18.

19.

20.

Supplier Selection Process
HEERERR
Anti-Fraud and
Corruption
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Business Continuity Plan
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Financial Results
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Service Quality
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Intellectual Property
Rights Management
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Customer Privacy
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Participation in Volunteer
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT

We recognize the growing concerns on the environmental risks and
the importance of the strategy to manage and prevent these risks.
The Group has formulated “ESG Strategy and Policy” in 2023 for
the purpose of integrating ESG principles into business operations.
We strive to adopt diverse environmental measures to mitigate
environmental risks while taking into consideration the stage of
development of our business, capability and resourcing. Despite the
impact of our business operations on the environment is minimal,
we are committed to continually enhancing the environmental
friendliness of our business operations by measuring, monitoring and
evaluating our environmental performance ceaselessly and minimizing
negative environmental impacts.

Since 2021, we have established preliminary directional environmental
targets. In order to decrease our carbon emissions, we aim to
continuously work to reduce the consumption of energy and water
and enhance energy and water efficiencies. For the purpose of
creating sustainable business operations, we would keep enhancing
employees’ awareness on waste reduction and recycling and
progressive improvement of workplace safety and environmental
management. We encourage our employees to take concerted effort
to achieve our environmental targets. The Group will regularly review
the implementation and performance of different environmental
protection measures and goals.

We are pledged to comply all relevant environmental laws and
regulations. The Group was not aware of any incidents of non-
compliance with environmental laws and regulations. In this section,
we shall demonstrate our environmental strategy in relation to
emissions, use of natural resources, environmental and natural
resources, and climate change.

Air and Greenhouse Gases (“GHG") emissions

As the Group revolves around the provision of financial services, the
source of our greenhouse gas emissions originates mainly come from
purchased electricity consumed for the use of office operations and
fuel consumption of company vehicles. During the Reporting Period,
the total GHG emissions and its intensity are 58.89 tonnes COze and
0.11 tonnes of CO2e/m? respectively. The fuel combustion of vehicles
emits air pollutants, including nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides, and
particulate matter. The Group obeys and complies with Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) to minimize
air pollution.

REIRIR
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The following tables illustrate the GHG emission in CO2 equivalent
emissions (“C0O2e") for each scope and air emissions in the Reporting
Period and 2022.

RN RSB R2022F X HE % Z ALK
EE ((TEEREE)) I ERNEEREHK
e BE R

GHG Emissions Unit 2023 2022
BEREBHM B 2023%F 20226
Direct Emissions (Scope 1)
HiEH® E@E)
e Road Mobile Combustion (Unleaded  Tonnes of COze

Petrol) 12.02 11.15
o [ERENRIER (EESH) WZEtIREE
Indirect Emissions (Scope 2)
BB (&E2)
e Purchased Electricity Tonnes of COze 27.01 29.78
o FREEES “EftiRE=E
Other Indirect Emissions (Scope 3)’
Hh B (FBE3)
e Business Air Travel Tonnes of COze 19.86 —
o MIZTEENR “afbikEE
Total Tormes of COze 58.89 40.93
et “aikEE
Intensity? Tormes of CO2e/m? 0.11 0.08
B2 —aibiREEFAHK
Air Emissions Unit 2023 2022
BE mBER B i 2023%F 20224
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) kg 4.20 1.13
REE (NOX) N
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) kg 0.07 0.06
BRE ¥ (SOx) N
Particulate Matter (PM) kg 0.31 0.08
BT HUHL (PM) AR

’ In 2023, business air travel resumed following the global recovery
from the COVID-19 pandemic. The release of the coronavirus led to
the relaxation of travel restrictions, resulting in an upsurge in business-
related air travel. Since travelling was highly restricted owing to the
coronavirus pandemic, there was no business trips taken in 2022 and
therefore there was no emissions from indirect emissions (scope 3) were
recorded.

2 The intensity of GHG emissions is calculated by dividing the total GHG
emissions by the gross area of the office.
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Waste Management

The Group did not generate any hazardous waste during its business
operations due to the business nature. Paper for the use of business
activities and food waste were our main waste sources. Regardless of
insignificant resources usage, we strive to promote the importance of
saving resources and have adopted various measures to mitigate the
consumption of resources. We also encourage employees to reduce
waste generation by recycling and reusing papers and other materials
as far as possible. The Group obeys and complies with Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for proper waste
treatment and disposal.

Below table outlines our non-hazardous waste generation data during
the Reporting Period and 2022:

BERYMER

EREBUHERRN AEEREEFEBETEESL
EREEEEY AREFIPNARKEGFSE
EEEYRR - BEERBENA AR IEE
MHNERNESMN K ERITRIE KR BEIRFE
R RMTZEEERETEZBRIWKRERRRK
Hith DU D EEBERY) - A EREBET KBRS
BEPIEIAE(BEYRERD)  ZEREREE
BEY) -

TRBMN RSB R2022FNEEEEYES
i

Non-Hazardous Waste Units 2023 2022
BEBEEY Bl 20235 20224
Paper kg 492 500
g N

Food waste? kg 738 390
&Y B> N

Total kg 1,230 890
“ast N

Intensity* kg/m? 2.40 1.74
= AF /B K

E In 2022, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, our office implemented a 3 20224 > #HCOVID-198 15 » I A EE KD

split-team arrangement, resulting in comparatively lower levels of food
waste and rubbish. However, in 2023, as we returned to normal office
working mode and thus leading to an increase in food-related waste.

3 The intensity of non-hazardous waste generation is calculated by
dividing the total volume of waste by the gross area of the office.

W2 < RYDRE RAIRKFAERRME - 24M
1220235F  BEEHMIMEEERAZETFER
ME N R YRR AL -

, BEBRRYVELETENAED ERBERYBER
DR AER R EEE -
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Use of Resources

In view of our office-based business nature, the main energy
consumption was originated from the use of electricity for general
usage such as lighting, air-conditioning, powering of laptops,
monitors, printers and other equipment. The consumption of
unleaded petrol was originated from motor vehicles.

Below table outlines our fuel and electricity consumption data during
the Reporting Period and 2022:

BiREH

BERMAEEBME  TERERHEENRE—RA
BHBER FIREEE8 FIRBM EE
THRREMRENHE - BRIV HFERRE A
o

TR IR E R R2022FN B REIRHFE !

Energy Consumption Units 2023 2022
BEIRHFE Bl 2023 20224
Unleaded petrol MWh 43.01 38.17
e KB B

Purchased electricity MWh 38.04 41.95
FREBE KB

Total MWh 81.05 80.12
w5t JKELBF

Intensity® MWh/m? 0.16 0.16
BE° JKEBF 75 oK

Natural resources were not significantly utilized in our business
activities, so the minimum environmental impacts were posed on the
natural resources during the Reporting Period. As the water supply
for the office is controlled by the property management, the data
is unavailable to individual tenants. Nonetheless we didn't pose
significant environmental impacts in this aspect, we acknowledged
the importance of environmental protection and resource
conservation to our community and adopted various measures as
detailed in the section of “Environmental Protection Measures”.

2 The intensity of energy consumption is calculated by dividing the total
volume of energy consumption by the gross area of the office.
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Tackling Climate Change

The Group recognizes increasingly concerns from our stakeholders
regarding climate change and its associated risk. The Group closely
reviews and monitors the potential risks and take the corresponding
action to prevent and mitigate the impact of climate change.

For physical risks, for instance, rainstorms, typhoons, hurricanes,
and other possible extreme weather conditions arising from climate
change, the Group has formulated a policy in our Employee
Handbook regarding the arrangements during adverse weather
conditions. Employees are required to inform their department head
at the earliest possible if they come across difficulties in reporting
for work in times of adverse weather conditions. We will continue to
identify and manage the climate-related risk to combat the challenges
of climate change.

Environmental Protection Measures
We have formulated environmental policies to introduce the
corresponding measures into our daily business operation. We aim at
improving our environmental performance across four focus areas by
implementing the following measures:

Emissions reduction

o Continuously promoting the concept of pollution prevention to
our employees

° Encouraging to minimise the environmental impacts in servicing
and procurement processes

Energy saving

o Unnecessary lights and air conditioners are switched off in the
unused area of the workspace

o Temperatures of air-conditioners are set to be at 24°C to 26°C
to avoid excessive consumption of electricity

o Electronic equipment including printers, laptops, monitors are
turned off when being idled

P& R 210

FEBNEFNESREEEREAHRARNE
BRI - REBRY)ER K EFET AR R F
EARRITHUY LR ERESIENTE -

HrgRak flinsEk REE - BERREEE
BYNHEMBETGBRERART 2EEERELTF
MHRIEAMES KRR T ZHHBEER - EEWN

BHEREMRRTHU LT BRRMEGHIMIE
EoRMKEEHN R EERGRMARUEER
TREERI PR EL o

IRIBRERE T
RMEREREHRUSIABREHRERE X
EE-RMBREMU T HERNUN SN A ERLEE
RIRIE AR

HLHE

s FERESEENLESENES

o  HERBRBRRBAETRERVERETE

B BE

e FEIGHEFAERENANERBRES
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Waste reduction

o Take environmental protection, resource conservation
and recycling readiness into consideration as part of our
procurement process

o Waste generated are encouraged to be reused and recycled
whenever possible

o Recyclable amenities are sorted and collected according to their
classifications and delivered to recycling vendors

o Electronic communications and electronic handling of
documents are encouraged among employees to promote
resource conservation

o Apart from the official documents that require single-sided
printing, double-sided printing and reusing of single-side
printed paper are encouraged for office operations

Water conservation

° Integrating water-saving strategies and considerations in
business and operations planning

The Board will conduct a periodic review on ESG Strategy and Policy
upon recommendation of the Working Team and is responsible
for approving changes in ESG Strategies and Policies if deemed
appropriate. As part of our regular operational meetings, we ensure
all employees are informed of our above policies and align with our
practices and enhance their awareness of environmental protection
and resources conservation.
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OUR COMMITMENT TO EMPLOYEES
Employment Practices and Labour Standards

The Group attaches great importance to its employees, as they
are our valuable assets to our sustainable business development.
We strive to create an including and discrimination-free working
environment and emphasis on equal opportunity in the decision
process of recruitment and promotion in compliance with Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), and Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). We have established an Employee Handbook
concerning the recruitment and remuneration policies to ensure
the decision is made only based on relevant factors such as job
requirement, work experience, qualifications and work performance
of the candidates. Gender, nationality, race, religion, disability, marital
status, or pregnancy are not involved in the consideration factors in
any recruitment or promotion process to ensure equal opportunities
in employment. Any form of discrimination would not be tolerated in
the workplace. The Group’s Employee Handbook has been established
and provided to our employees to ensure they are informed regarding
their rights and responsibilities to align with the policy. It contains the
terms and conditions of employment practices, welfare and benefit,
company rules and policies.

The Group protects employees’ rights and strictly comply with various
relevant labour laws concerning employment, including but not
limited to the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Employment of Children Regulation (Cap. 57B of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and Employment of Young Persons (Industry) Regulation
(Cap. 57C of the Laws of Hong Kong).

In addition, any child and forced labour are strictly prohibited. Our
human resources personnel would verify the personal information
of candidates during stringent recruitment process to ensure they
have met the minimum statutory working age and no forced labour
is recruited. The Group frequently reviews the employment practice
and guidelines concerning recruitment and employment to ensure
compliance with the Employment Ordinance and all applicable laws
and regulations in relation to child and forced labour. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any violation of labor-
related laws and regulations.
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Our Workforce EMHWET

The total number of workforce and the distribution of employees FY¥REHIRIR2022FERE TS LUK IR (&
by gender, employment type, employee category, age group and f{E4ET\(REER  EHARRMES HHEE D
geographical region of the Reporting Period and 2022 are as follows: &R T :

Total Number of Workforce
BT
35
33
31
29
27
25
23

21
19 18
D |
17
2023 2022
20234 20224

29

Total Workforce by Gender
RURIEIDH B TR

20
18
16
14
12
10

16 (55%)

10 (56%)
8 (44%)

8
6
4
2
0
2023 2022
2023%F 20224

M Male 1% I Female Zoit
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40
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N

Total Workforce by Employment Type
REREE DB THH

29 (100%)
18 (100%)
0(0%) 0(0%)
2023 2022
2023% 20224F
M rull-Time 28% I Part-Time/Contract 385,/ & #)

Total Workforce by Employee Category
RESHEMEIDHNE TEH

11(38%)
10 (34%)

8 (44%) 8 (28%)

6 (33%)
4 (22%)

:

2023 2022
2023%F 20224

M Senior Management 24 =2 E 1 Middle Management FRAZEIRE  |] Operating Staff Zi& A B
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Total Workforce by Age Group
RERAEREIDH B THEH

14

12 11 (38%)

e 9(31%)
8 7 (3%) 7 (39%) 7 (24%)
6
4 3(17% —
-l | I
, 1R
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M 21-30 1 31-40 1 41-50 M >50
Total Workforce by Geographical Region
i [E S| D H B THEH
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Retaining Talents

Our employees are the foundation for the sustainable growth of
our businesses. We offer competitive remuneration packages to our
employees in order to retain and attract talents. The management
continues to review and refine the current remuneration policy with
reference to the industry standard. We also provide Mandatory
Provident Fund contributions, medical insurance and performance-
related discretionary bonuses to our employees. In addition, we have
established a share option scheme with the aim of acknowledging,
rewarding high performer and motivating the employees to achieve
goals. The following graphs outline the total employee turnover
rate and employee turnover rate by different categories during the
Reporting Period and 2022:

REAL

RONELIARMEBFEERNEAR -RMAE
ITRHEBIHHHFENTE URBRRSIAL -
EEEREBSROTERE BERTERITHN
MER - AT ABETRERFIMEATESHR &
BRI R EERNBES IS RATFHERBRE
8 EERURERRRHENE T THER
EERER - TEMAN RS HABR2022FEE
BRKERRZFREHNEDNEERAK !

s )10

Total Employee Turnover Rate*

BRI AK X
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0%
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e Percentage to the total number of staff (by category) as of 31 December
2023

2022
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g HZE2023F 12831 HGETAEH ZER) a0
tE

ANNUAL REPORT F#§ » 2023

81



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI - HBREBRS

Employee Turnover Rate by Gender*
R R 21D B R B 7 2 sk
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80% 75% (6)
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20%
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Employee Turnover Rate by Age Group*
RFRARIZEIDEBRKE
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Employee Turnover Rate by Geographical Region*
iR & 5 e E Bk X
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Health and Safety

Protecting employees’ health and safety is one of our core
responsibilities. We endeavour to build a safe and healthy working
environment for our employees and adhere to Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The office layout is designed in compliance with applicable
safety ordinances to lower the risk of occupational hazards in the
workplace.

A clear instruction of fire escape written in Employee Handbook,
guides the employees about emergency preparedness when
encountering a fire hazard. The Group arranges the newly hired
employees to join the annual fire drill arranged by the service provider
of property management of the office premises. The guideline of fire
discovery and escape is as follows:

o Activate the nearest fire alarm immediately

o If there is a telephone readily available, dial 999 and report the
locality of the fire to the Police

o If the fire is within the capability of portable extinguishers
and these are readily available, an attempt should be made to
control or extinguish the fire until the arrival of assistance

2022
20224

EER%E
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o Employees not required for firefighting duties should leave the
office premise in an orderly manner

. Lifts must not be used, use the stairs instead

o Doors should be closed when leaving the office premise but
they should not be locked

"Exit” lighting panels are equipped to clearly show the direction
of the exit aisles to aid emergency evacuation. Smoking is strictly
banned in the entire office area to prevent the risk of fire accidents
and comply with the relevant laws and regulations.

The Group strives to uphold the principle of safety-first and actively
engage employees to minimize occupational safety incidents. All
injuries must be reported to the corresponding department head
as well as the human resources department in responding to
contingency and action to provide assistance to the injured employee.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any work-
related injuries and lost days, nor experience any non-compliance
with applicable laws and regulations concerning health and safety.
There were no work-related fatalities occurred in the past three years
(including the Reporting Period).

Development and Training

The Group attaches great importance to talents development and
strives to support employees to achieve their full potential. We
recognize that the knowledge and skills of employees are essential
to the long-term development of the business of the Group. Thus,
we provide 3 days of paid educational leave to motivate employees
participating in continuous professional training and education
programs for attaining the academic and professional qualifications.
The Group will keep reviewing our employee policy to increase the
employee’s capacity which fulfill our business need.
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Training ratio and average training hours per employee by different  F¥REHIRI % 20224F » EE 50 B AE 48R
categories during the Reporting Period and 2022 of the Selected |23 B3I LE B K & 2 18 B F #9535 3| BF B 4t 40
Business Segments are summarized as follows: T s

Total Training Ratio*
el
90%
85% 83% (15)
80%
75%
72% (21)
70%

65%

60%
2023 2022
2023%F 20225

Training Ratio by Gender
R RIEI 5 B EFIEL )
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60%
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40%
30%
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Training Ratio by Employee Category
1B B RIE 5 BRI
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Average Training Hours By Gender*
I RIB 0 ) g HE )| 2R
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Average Training Hours By Employee Category*
1IEBIERIE 5 8T IR 8

70.00

60.00 >
2000 43.81

40.00 e
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10.00 8.6
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M Senior Management &4 E 28 1 Middle Management 7 4% & 12 /8 "1 Operating Staff Z:& A &

S Total training ratio and average training hours by category are divided — * ¥ B2 7 [B) 48 B1) B9 48 35 31| BE 1) e - 39 335 311 BF 24 Bk L

by the total number of employees as of 31 December 2023. Staff B E2023F12831HNEB T H 2023F 8T8
training ratio decreased in 2023, while the decrease in the staff training SNEEBI B R R > B8 & T L T A B iF A
ratio is a temporary adjustment aligned with our strategic objectives, BEoREBRMANERER BAEEFHERENRE
the Group recognizes the importance of investing in our employees’ ITREREBRNEEM -HRANMARINARER
growth and development. We remain dedicated to providing them HUBENTEARER UBREAKRBEERE

with the necessary tools and resources to thrive both personally and
professionally.
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The Group adheres to various ordinances, rules and guidelines
including but not limited to the Securities and Futures Commission
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486), the GEM Listing Rules, the
Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance (Cap. 405), the
Organized and Serious Crimes Ordinance (Cap. 455), The United
Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Ordinance (Cap. 575); and the
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial
Institutions) Ordinance (Cap. 615) ("AMLO"). Every licensed
individual is required to complete prescribed hours of continuous
professional training for each type of regulated activity in every
calendar year. Moreover, the company secretary and all Directors must
take part in continuous professional training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure they are fully aware of their
responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules and all applicable rules,
laws and regulations.

OUR COMMITMENT IN UNDERTAKING
RESPONSIBILITIES

Supply Chain Management

Due to the office-based business nature, our Selected Business
Segments generally procure routine office consumables for business
operations in Hong Kong headquarter office, such as stationery, toner
and paper.

Despite that we do not largely rely on suppliers, the Group is
pledged to conduct our business in an ethical and safe manner.
We recognize our suppliers’ practices will affect our sustainability
performance. During the supplier assessment process, we not only
consider their capability, quality of products and services and price,
but also value their performance on labour practices, environmental
and social responsibilities. Our external suppliers are encouraged to
provide environmentally friendly alternatives for our consideration
in the procurement process. The Group avoids procuring products
from those suppliers with poor environmental image. We have used
the paper generated from responsible sources certified by Forest
Stewardship Council (FSC) for publication of quarterly, interim and
annual reports since 2016.
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We would also be aware of negative news of its suppliers, especially
in environmental and social aspects to prevent risks along our supply
chain.

With a view to continuously increasing our sustainability performance,
we will seek potential new suppliers who could offer reliable, price
competitive and environmentally friendly products. We mainly engage
with local suppliers to lower carbon footprint due to transportation.
As of 31 December 2023, the Group worked with 5 suppliers (6
suppliers in 2022), all of which were Hong Kong-based during the
Reporting Period.

Product Responsibility
Quality Assurance

The Group is devoted to optimizing financial services to meets the
expectations of customers. To achieve this goal, the high quality of
employees is essential for the growth of business. We evaluated our
employees through comprehensive recruitment process to ensure
all of them are appropriately experienced and qualified to deliver
professional services to our customers. Besides, the Group has
established and implemented Compliance Manual that is designed
to strictly abide by all relevant laws, rules and regulations. Our
experienced management team including responsible and compliance
officers must monitor and control the business operations and
practices to ensure those are in compliance with internal policies and
all applicable laws and regulations.

Complaint Handling

We carefully listen to feedback from our customers and seriously
handle their complaints. We believe that it could constantly drive
our improvement and raise the quality of the services and products
we offer. Our customers and other stakeholders could contact us
via email, hotline and our website to express their concerns and
opinions. After receiving any complaint or dispute, it will be handled
by a responsible officer who is not directly concerned with the matter.
The responsible officer will promptly respond and properly follow-
up it accordingly until reaching an appropriate resolution. All files
of complaints must be kept confidential and kept for at least seven
years. The policy of complaint handling is outlined in the Compliance
Manual. There were no related complaints received during the
Reporting Period.
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Protection of Customer Privacy

The Group is dedicated to protecting the privacy of customers’
information and confidential data in compliance with the provisions
of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486). The policy in
the Employee Handbook stipulated employees are required to treat
the Company’s and client’s information with the strictest confidence.
Such information should not be divulged to third parties and
discussed outside the office premises. All employees are required
to ensure all personal data is kept confidential and restrict internal
availability. The customers’ information and confidential data must
not be used and disclosed to friends and relatives for any personal
purposes and benefits. All Department Heads are responsible for
their department's security procedures on protecting confidential
information.

The Group has taken various measures to prohibit unauthorized
access of customers’ data, including installation of firewall, secure
handling and storing sensitive information. We have arranged
our management to participate in training related to data privacy
regulation and its latest regulations in Hong Kong. There were no
complaints regarding data leakage are noted during the Reporting
Period.

Protection of Intellectual Property Right

The Group is responsible for protecting intellectual property. The
Group has purchased legal licenses on information system and
software within our business operations. All employees are forbidden
to download, install and use any pirated computer software on the
company’s computer.

Anti-corruption

The Group is dedicated to fostering a culture of integrity, fairness,
honesty and transparency and taking a zero-tolerance approach to
bribery and corruption in our business operation. We have formulated
policies in accordance with provisions of Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) ("PBO"). All employees are obliged to comply
with high standards of business and ethical conducts as outlined in
the Group’s Employee Handbook and Compliance Manual. Employees
are required to report to management through their department
head or the Human Resources Department of incidents or suspected
cases of corruption, theft, fraud and embezzlement. Employees found
guilty of such cases will be subject to disciplinary actions, including
termination as stated in the employment contract. Such cases will
also be reported to the police and/or Independent Commission
Against Corruption (“ICAC") if appropriate.
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The Group has established policies and standard procedures in the
Compliance Manual for identifying and combating money laundry.
The policy stipulates customer due diligence, records retention, cash
handling and reporting of suspicious transactions to the management
of the Group. The Group strictly comply with the relevant laws and
provisions including the Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds)
Ordinance (Cap. 405), the Organized and Serious Crimes Ordinance
(Cap. 455), the United Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Ordinance
(Cap. 575), and the AMLO.

The Group has regularly arranged training in relation to anti-
corruption, anti-money laundering to directors and employees. The
training materials and practical guides from ICAC are distributed to
both directors and employees regularly. We also encourage our staff
to take part in the trainings organized by external professional parties
such as Hong Kong Securities & Futures Professionals Association,
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and Hong Kong
Securities Institute. Through these trainings, our staff could keep
pace with the knowledge regarding code of conduct, regulatory
requirements and best practice of the above issues.

The Group was not aware of any concluded legal cases regarding
corruption, extortion, fraud and money laundering against our issuer
or employees during the Reporting Period.

Community Investment

As a socially responsible corporation, we actively seek opportunities
to enhance community wellbeing and are dedicated to supporting the
ESG conscious community to progressively grow in our sustainable
development. To achieve this purpose, we decided community well-
being as our focus area for investment and engagement with the
local communities.

The Group supported Ten Percent Donation Scheme Foundation
Scheme Annual Charity Dinner to raising fund in 2023, the
organisation which focusing on subsidizing primary school students
in Hong Kong, hoping to provide them with a good learning
environment and diversified development space and opportunities.
They cooperating with various organizations to organize “after-school
support programs”. In addition, we placed the donation boxes of
Ten Percent Donation Scheme Foundation in our office welcoming
our staff, customers and visitors to devote to the education for
underprivileged students in promoting upward social mobility.
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2023 2022

20235 20224

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Cash donations I/ 39,800 120,000

In the future, the Group will continuously explore diverse
opportunities to deliver positive influence for our community.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
&L 1% BNEh ¥R &5

elite
~ partners

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NOIZ GROUP LIMITED (FORMERLY
KNOWN AS “MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED")
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of NOIZ Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
set out on pages 99 to 231, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the "Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), together with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 3.4 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$25,673,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of
that date, the Company had net liabilities of HK$34,804,000. As
stated in Note 3.4, these events or conditions, along with other
matters set forth in Note 3.4, indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect
of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.

Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had goodwill of HK$5,600,000
and intangible assets of approximately HK$14,761,000 which were
belongs to multiple cash-generating units (“CGUs").

For the purpose of the impairment assessment of goodwill and
intangible assets, the Group had assessed the discount cash flow of
the Group for the recoverable amount of each CGU at the end of the
reporting period.

We had identified impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible
assets as a key audit matter because significant management
estimation was required to determine the key assumptions including
estimated future income with growth rate, operating margins and
discount rate, etc.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our major audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
the goodwill and intangible assets included the following:

o We evaluated of the independent valuers’
capabilities, independence and objectivity;

competence,

o We evaluated the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and techniques used in determining the value in
use of the goodwill and intangible assets;

o We challenged the reasonableness of key assumptions based
on our knowledge of the business and industry; and

o We checked the accuracy and relevance of input data used.

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibility of The Directors of the Company and The Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determined is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise HREEEBBAENETEXE ESERZEY
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism E> REEZEZBETHEBFIERREE-EFF
throughout the audit. We also: GIN

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with The Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide The Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with The Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Mak Kin Wang with practising certificate number
P08114.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 27 March 2024

Level 23, YF Life Tower, 33 Lockhart Road,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Incom

mOBmNREMERWNAR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #iZE2023FE12831HIEEE

L

2023 2022
20235 20224
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FAT
Continuing operations RRBREER
Revenue WA 6 18,938 18,151
Other income and gains/(losses) Hiw A Rz, (B548) 8 583 589
Operating and administrative expenses RERITHER (32,266) (34,418)
Reversal of impairment loss on B 5 EWEIE R AR
trade receivables 24 72 208
Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment loss) % K £ F& W I8 g B 5 18 B a],/
on deposits and other receivables (RfEEE) 25 3 (5)
Impairment loss on loans receivable RN ERRERBE 26 (25) (814)
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries B AR i B 50 2 s 39(b) — 21
Share of loss of associates DMEBEATNEE 20 (462) (183)
Finance costs G 1PN 9 (12,575) (13,724)
Loss before income tax FRErfS M AT 18 10 (25,732) (30,175)
Income tax credit FTiEMiER 13 59 75
Loss after income tax from REFELEEBNGRAER
continuing operations B (25,673) (30,100)
Discontinued operation BARILREER
Profit for the year from REERIEREXENFER R
discontinued operation 7 - 2,280
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEERRE (25,673) (27,820)
ANNUAL REPORT f #R » 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GoBaKHEbEEWRAR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

2023 2022
20235 20226
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FTHET FHET
Other comprehensive income: HtZ2mEKA :
Item that may be subsequently HEEOEEN 7 EEEm
reclassified to profit or loss: ZHEH
Changes in fair value of financial assets URFEBESAEMEERA
at fair value through other comprehensive ~ Z&fRIBEAFBEEH
income 21 315 (1,862)
Other comprehensive income FEEHM2EHRA
for the year 315 (1,862)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEEZEEKRA
FOR THE YEAR (25,358) (29,682)
Total comprehensive income attributable ZAAF]REREE AEGEESEEARA
to owners of the Company (25,358) (29,682)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO FATREREE AL
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY SRS 15
From continuing and discontinued RERESEREKLE
operations R
Basic and diluted BEARKEE (HK$0.0447#7T)  (HK$0.0537% 1)
From continuing operations REFEREER
Basic and diluted EXAR#E (HK$0.044#7T)  (HK$0.0577E7T)
From discontinued operation REBRIEEEEE
Basic and diluted HEAKEHE N/A F3E HK$0.0044 7T

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

i ORISR IR R &

As at 31 December 2023 #2023 12831H

2023 2022
20236 20224
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b= FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment L IE N Y 16 1,523 1,903
Statutory deposit EERE — 510
Goodwill HmE 17 5,600 5,600
Intangible assets BILEE 18 14,761 16,467
Right-of-use assets EREEE 19 2,983 6,562
Interests in associates =N 20 — 522
Financial assets at fair value through NFEESFAEMEEBEA
other comprehensive income ZEMEE 21 1,473 3,053
Financial assets at fair value through URFEEEF AER
profit or loss ZEREE 22 263 372
Rental deposits HEEE 25 1,358 1,354
Total non-current assets EREEEMRE 27,961 36,343
Current assets RENEE
Inventories 75 23 418 418
Trade receivables B IE 24 3,867 2,383
Contract assets BHNEE 352 349
Prepayments, deposits and FANRIE N 2 M H A
other receivables & U R 1B 25 1,293 627
Loans receivable EURE = 26 4,161 3,703
Financial assets at fair value through UAFEEFAER
profit or loss ZEMEE 22 4,308 312
Tax recoverable A =R 18 156 156
Bank balances — trust accounts IR1T4ERR — E5CERE 27 70 11,775
Bank balances and cash — RITHERRIRE —
general accounts —fRER P 27 14,127 23,031
Total current assets TMENEEME 28,752 42,754
Current liabilities mENAaRE
Trade payables B 5 ENRIE 29 188 13,083
Contract liabilities = N=N 2,658 88
Other payables and accruals HtEMRIBERESTE R 30 7,355 2,495
Convertible bonds EEAVIEES 32 — 12,935
Lease liabilities HE&E 28 2,995 3,830
Total current liabilities PEI=REEk 13,196 32,431
Net current assets MENEEFEE 15,556 10,323
Total assets less current liabilities EEEERTHAER 43,517 46,666
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBI ERER

As at 31 December 2023 22023%F12831H

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET

Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEaE 31 390 431
Convertible bonds AR ES 32 77,931 72,175
Lease liabilities HEaE 28 - 2,995
Total non-current liabilities EMEIBERE 78,321 75,601
Net liabilities BEFEE (34,804) (28,935)

EQUITY R

Share capital &N 33 60,440 56,673
Reserves E (95,244) (85,608)
Total deficiency BS54t 4R X8 (34,804) (28,935)

These consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 231 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

27 March 2024 and is signed on its behalf by:

Wong Hin Shek
T EERE

Director

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AORRIERZIME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;ZF2023F 12831 HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRARRBHEAENEL
Fair value
through
Equity other
component Share Capital  comprehensive
Share Share Contributed  of convertible option reduction income Other  Accumulated Total
capital premium* surplus* bonds* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* losses* equity
NATEE
THRRHESZ FRR BapE  HAHMRE
R RipiEE BARER o fifE 1M o1 Hitf Ratisi st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TR TiEn FER TiEn FER TiEn TR TiEn TEn
At 1 January 2022 202251818 48,506 1,114,228 66,710 51,928 25,518 163,191 185 (6,548) (1,491,213) (27,495)
Comprehensive income 2ERA

Loss for the year FEERA = = = = = = = = (27,820) (27,820)
Other comprehensive income 2 & KA

Changes in fair value of NATEE AL

financial assets at fair value ~ 2EWAZ EHEE

through other comprehensive ~ ATB{EZE)

income - - - - = = (1,862) - = (1,862)
Total comprehensive income for ERZEWALE

the year - - - - - - (1,862) - (27,820) (29,682)
Issuance of consideration shares E{THEMR (s#33)

(Note 33) 6,667 8,466 = = = = = = = 15,133
Issuance of shares (Vote 33) #1713 (#z£33) 1,500 1,650 - - - - - - - 3,150
Lapsed of share options BRELN - - - - (25,057) - - - 25,057 =
Released of contributed surplus & I B /A 5 & BB 4

upon disposal of subsidiaries  AB# - - (48,507) - — - — - 48,507 -
Redemption of convertible bonds 31 E R &% - - - (1,532) - - - - 1,219 (313)
Modification of the terms of 1A EH 2 (3

convertible bonds = = 50,670 (40,398) = = = = = 10,272
At 31 December 2022 and 2022128318k

1 January 2023 2023F1818 56,673 1,124,344 68,873 9,998 461 163,191 (1,677) (6,548) (1,444,250 (28,935)
Comprehensive income 2ERA

Loss for the year FEERA - - - - - - - - (25,673) (25,673)
Other comprehensive income Eft2E KA

Changes in fair value of NATEE AL

financial assets at fair value ~ 2EWAZ EHEE

through other comprehensive ~ ATB{EZE)

income - - - - - - 315 - - 315
Total comprehensive income for A2 AW ALE

the year - - - - - - 315 - (25,673) (25,358)
Issuance of shares (Note 33 B{TRk1A (Ht33) 3,767 2,636 (2,335) - - - - - - 4,068
Lapsed of share options BREEN - - - - (53) - - - 53 -
Release of fair value through  RRRMUA TE(EET A KA

other comprehensive income  2EWA Z ##E

reserve - - - - - - 835 - (835) -
Modification of the terms of TR EH 2 K0

convertible bonds - - (3,558) 18,979 - - - - - 15,421
At 31 December 2023 12023128318 60,440 1,126,980 62,980 28,977 408 163,191 (527) (6,548) (1,470,705) (34,804)
& These reserve accounts comprised the reserve balances as presented in * ZERERBEENGESMBIRRERERAE

the consolidated statement of financial position. S BB ASER o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

meRENER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ZE2023E12831HIEEE

2023 2022
20235 20224
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M & FERT FEx
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEBRERE

ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax BRETSIRATEIE
Continuing operations FEREEK (25,732) (30,175)
Discontinued operation BARIEEE R - 2,280
Total ait (25,732) (27,895)
Adjustments for: HE
Finance costs BRE R A 9 12,575 13,724
Interest income F B UA 8 (189) (42)
Depreciation of property, ME-BERZERTE

plant and equipment 16 1,241 1,178
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEN#E 18 1,706 967
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEERE 19 3,579 3,580
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR ZWa 39(a) - (2,796)
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries MB AR FHER 2 W 39(h) - (21)
Changes in fair value of financial assets at ~ UATEBEFABRZZ EHEE

fair value through profit or loss NTEEEES 22 (167) 499
Reversal of impairment loss on trade B 5 EWRIE

receivables B AR 120 24 (72) (208)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment loss %< B E fth fE W 7118

on deposits and other receivables (REBEER) RERE 25 (3 5
Impairment loss on loans receivable EWETRESE 26 25 814
Written off of deposits and < T EL th & Uk =0 I8 M 88

other receivables 8 151 8
Share of loss of associates DIEHE A BEIE 20 462 183
Operating loss before working MEEEScEHFICEHRE

capital changes (6,424) (10,004)
Decrease in inventories EZERD - 279
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables B S EWEE (Em) R (1,412) 6,345
Increase in contract assets BHEEEM (3) (349)
(Increase)/decrease in loans receivable EWEm (L) /b (483) 625
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FENFIE RehEMERRIE

deposits and other receivables ¢gm B (308) 129
Increase in financial assets at fair value NAFEEFAEBRZCHEE

through profit or loss #m (3,720) (442)
Decrease/(increase) in bank balances RIT4E R — EEEERA R/ (Em)

— trust account 11,705 (392)
Decrease in trade payables 8 5 E A s (12,895) (2,567)
Increase in contract liabilities AR EEEM 2,570 88
Increase in other payables and accruals ELFE(T 7018 K & 5t R B 3 2,971 753
Cash used in operations KREEEMmARE (7,999) (5,535)
Tax refund/(paid) B[O/ (BA) RIB 18 (214)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEEMMAZIRE 38 (7,981) (5,749)

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

meRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

2023 2022
20235 20224
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B st FHET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEZBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest income received BUIRTTH EIRA 8 189 42
Dividend received from an associate BEERARREBZER 20 60 =
Purchases of property, plant and equipment A B E KR E 16 (861) (23)
Payment for financial assets at fair value NAFEESAREMZERAZ
through other comprehensive income ERBEEMR 21 - (2,730)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets ~ ZKEHEMUAFEEF AEMEE
at fair value through other comprehensive ~ WA Z &REEZFIERIE
income 21 1,895 =
Net cash inflow from acquisition of WENRBARZRERAFE
a subsidiary 38 — 92
Net cash outflows from acquisition of WEME AR ZREREFEE
an associate 20 — (559)
Net cash outflow from disposal of a subsidiarytt € —RIK B A S 2B & M H 348 39(a) — (26)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZHESE A 2Re 38
investing activities 1,283 (3,204)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEITHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest paid B E (36) =
Proceeds from placing of shares & RBATERIE - 3,150
Repayment of principal portion of BEHEERREESD
lease liabilities 28 (3,830) (3,314)
Repayment of interest portion of BRHEEEENEHD
lease liabilities 28 (226) (405)
Proceeds from borrowings BTSN IE 2,000 -
Repayment of borrowings BEBM (114) =
Payment for redemption of B ] ES Z TR
convertible bonds - (3,807)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEEAMAZIRE 25 (2,206) (4,376)
NET DECREASE IN CASH RERFEEEEB AV ZE
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (8,904) (13,329)
Bank balances and cash IRITAEERRIRE
— general accounts at the beginning — F—RERF
of the year 23,031 36,360
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRFEERREFEIER
of the year 14,127 23,031
Analysis of the balances of cash and RERREZEEBEHRIN
cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRIRE
— general accounts — —RERP 27 14,127 23,031
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

#n 6 R IS &R B 5L

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ZE2023E12831HIEEE

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its share are listed on GEM. Its registered office is
located at the offices of Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the
principal place of business is located at Room 1108, 11/F, Wing
On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) consider the
immediate holding Company and ultimate holding company
to be Team Sunny International Holdings Limited (“Team
Sunny), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the principal
activity of the Company was investment holding. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries comprised of financial services
business, corporate consulting business and digital business.

Pursuant to the passing of a special resolution at the annual
general meeting held on 5 May 2023, the English name of
the Company was changed from “Merdeka Financial Group
Limited” to “NOIZ Group Limited” and its dual foreign name in
Chinese from "®EEETMEEBRELT" to "BHREBRFRA
B8)". The Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name was
issued by the Registry of Companies in the Cayman Islands with
effect from 9 May 2023.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRS")

(a) Adoption of new or amendments to HKFRSs -
effective 1 January 2023

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new or amendments to HKFRSs (the
“new or amendments to HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), which are relevant to and effective for
the Group's consolidated financial statements for the
annual period beginning on 1 January 2023:
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.  ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. FMEEMBHREEN (FEMBR

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued) S#8])) @

(a) Adoption of new or amendments to HKFRSs — (a) RAFEIHLETEBMFREER
effective 1 January 2023 (Continued) —H2023F181BBEM (@
Except as described below, the application of the PRIt &SN R AR FEEEBE]
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year R EISEMBREENEAER
has had no material impact on the Group's financial RAEAFERBFFENMBNRTRE
positions and performance for the current and prior R/ RS eERRAMEEE
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these TWHmEBEBALE

consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 EREEEGEREIRRE BT
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of REERBEERE F20 2 16T E 5
Accounting Policies HEZHRENZE

The Group has applied the amendments for the REBRAFEBRERE BB
first time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation S EEIRP BRI ZETUTE
of Financial Statements is amended to replace all AEFHKER M BERAEE
instances of the term “Significant Accounting Policies” BETHEK — Ao mERBRMBERE
with “Material Accounting policy information”. NEMEBEN —HZE ST BRER
Accounting policy Information is material if, when AINSERAETERRAUHTREN
considered together with other Information Included FTEFRERBZEMBHRERMEL
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be FIRE AIZEstBEREBERBEKX -

expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy ZEEIINE R BIE M R FERIE T R
information may be material because of the nature of BAOEERBRARZEE -HEMEIE
the related transactions, other events or conditions HIEMR GETBERERMNAIBE KA
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not e W3FPRBEHEEARRZ S HMMSBIE
all accounting policy information relating to material BERERANGstBHRENEAGANEE
transaction, other events or condition is itself material. Ko MEREEREFERGTBER
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting Bk ERBERAEEEERG ST
policy information, such information must not obscure REK o

material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality ERVBRESENBEHBRESE290NE
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also HERMEHE (TERRE)) TEE
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the 10 MEREAERUWMAE Nm T AT EE
“four-step materiality process” to accounting policy KMERAZ AT & 5T BURIR B R I bR
disclosures and to judge whether information about B BENENEEMBERER
an accounting policy is material to its financial TEEA - BHERGEEMEERER
statements. Guidance and examples are added to the K& Hl o

Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no EREBIITERAER R AIESS
material impact on the Group financial positions and FHEZHBRARERELEETE AR
performance for the current or prior period. 2o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRS") (Continued)

(a)

Adoption of new or amendments to HKFRSs -
effective 1 January 2023 (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long Service
Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong

The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong
Kong which are obliged to pay LSP to employees
under certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group
makes mandatory MPF contributions to the trustee
who administers the assets held in a trust solely for
the retirement benefits of each individual employee.
Offsetting of LSP against an employee's accrued
retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF
contributions was allowed under the Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). In
June 2022, the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region gazetted the Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the
use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset severance
payment and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition will
officially take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition
Date”). In addition, under the Amendment Ordinance,
the last month's salary immediately preceding the
Transition Date (instead of the date of termination of
employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP in
respect of the employment period before the Transition
Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” which provides guidance
for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and
the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this,
the Group has implemented the guidance published
by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation
retrospectively so as to provide more reliable and more
relevant information about the effects of the offsetting
mechanism and the Abolition.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

2

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

(a)

Adoption of new or amendments to HKFRSs -
effective 1 January 2023 (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long Service
Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong (Continued)

The Company considered the accrued benefits arising
from employer MPF contributions that have been
vested with the employee and which could be used
to offset the employee's LSP benefits as a deemed
contribution by the employee towards the LSP.
Historically, the Group has been applying the practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 to account
for the deemed employee contributions as a reduction
of the service cost in the period in which the related
service is rendered.

Based on the HKICPA's guidance, as a result of the
Abolition, these contributions are no longer considered
“linked solely to the employee’s service in that period”
since the mandatory employer MPF contributions after
the Transition Date can still be used to offset the pre-
transition LSP obligation. Therefore, it would not be
appropriate to view the contributions as “independent
of the number of years of service” and the practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 is no longer
applicable. Instead, these deemed contributions should
be attributed to periods of service in the same manner
as the gross LSP benefit applying paragraph 93(a) of
HKAS 19. Accordingly, the Group should recognise a
cumulative catch-up adjustment in profit or loss for
the service cost, interest expense and remeasurement
effect from changes in actuarial assumptions for the
year ended 31 December 2022, with corresponding
adjustment to the LSP obligation. The cumulative
catch-up adjustment is calculated as the difference
at the enactment date (16 June 2022) between the
carrying amount of the LSP liability calculated under
paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 before the Abolition and
the carrying amount of the LSP liability calculated
under paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19 after the Abolition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRS") (Continued)

(a)

Adoption of new or amendments to HKFRSs -
effective 1 January 2023 (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long Service
Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong (Continued)

By following the guidance, the Group has therefore
changed its accounting policy and ceased to apply
the practical expedient and reattribute the deemed
employee contributions on a straight-line basis from
the date when services by employees first lead to their
benefits in terms of the LSP legislation in accordance
with HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a). The cumulative effect
was not material and hence no adjustment was
made to the opening balance of retained earnings,
financial performance, cash flow for the year ended
31 December 2022 and financial position as at
31 December 2022 or another component of equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n 8 M5 R R b 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRS") (Continued)

(b) New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been
issued but not yet effective

The following new or amendments to HKFRSs,
potentially relevant to the Group’'s consolidated
financial statements, have been issued but are not
yet effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Classification of Liabilities as
current or
non-current’

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants’

Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Lack of Exchangeability?

Supplier Finance
Arrangements’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a

date to be determined

The Group is in the progress of making assessments of
the potential impact of these new or amendments to
HKFRSs upon initial application.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B ¥5 ER =R Bif 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

o O\
FERE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which
collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under historical cost convention except for
certain financial instruments which are measured at fair
values as explained as the material accounting policies
set out below.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand (“"HK$'000") except when
otherwise indicated.

Going concern assessment

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have given consideration to the future liquidity
of the Group in light of the Group incurred a net loss
of approximately HK$25,673,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the Group had
net liabilities of approximately HK$34,804,000 as at
31 December 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4

Going concern assessment (Continued)

These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
therefore it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors
are satisfied that the liquidity of the Group can be
maintained in the coming year taking into consideration
of the following matter:

— An undertaking letter has been obtained from
a convertible bond holder for no intention to
demand repayment of convertible bond due
from the Group after the maturity date until
the Group has sufficient financial resources to
satisfy its future working capital, other financial
requirements and repay the convertible bond.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for future liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities to current respectively. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements. The preparation of consolidated
financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and the underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B ¥5 ER =R Bif 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

o O\
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.5

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiaries and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income and
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3. HRUEEREAGHBEEHR @

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.6 Goodwill 3.6 HE
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried RAWE—BxBEEENEELHRRE
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the EFREHR I AR RTBERE
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any. wmAE) 38R
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is MmABEARMES B8 ERERAR
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units mREaHBENEZAERRSREE
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the EE MxEBEMNEMANIEIA
combination, which represent the lowest level at which HEEENGEZEEENRBEKFEAR
the goodwill is monitored for internal management R BB S IR o

purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been EokBENRETELENESFE
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more TR E R S B BRI ER
frequently when there is indication that the unit may R mAR R N ERSHBER
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in WEEENEEMS  EoEBEN
a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which REEEBEUNBRSHARANETAE
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment A o mA U E R DR EREE A
before the end of that reporting period. If the BEBEg LD RUAIBEREE
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the NIEEE HBERSBEEMGEN
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying HEREELADEEEMEE -

amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit.

3.7 Property, plant and equipment 3.7 YME -BERSE
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that ME-BERIEARBERAREE
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or REEERIRBEARTHERZ &
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant FREE-MEx -BEAIBERETRE
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement BRFSMEREBRSBERE (W
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated B) REEHBERIRAAR
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.7

3.8

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the lease term
20% to 33%
33%

Leasehold improvements
Computer and office equipment
Motor vehicles

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses
or at revalued amounts, being their fair value at the
date of the revaluation less subsequent accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Amortisation is
charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives as follows.

Customer relationship
Blockchain technology

5 years
9.5 years

The amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss
and included in operating and administrative expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.8

3.9

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions
of the contract are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group
reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.9 Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

GUEEREAGHBREN @

3.9 Leases (Continued) 39 fHE®

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

FEFEBEAMA (B

ARENTHERE

EMNMAREHEREREEEYH
BREEFIFAR WIRATEEE
TR E - ENRESHERRTE
ENRBRESEINBAECR I

SPAERREENMAE-

HEER

REERGBBEH  ~EEREZE R
XMEEREREEIRTEHEES
BNt BHERRFER  HEER
FHMEHIEE  AEBEREAER
ARG REEERA K.

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at the date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including HERECEEERE (BEEEETE
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives TRIE) R AE e FE U FH & A o

receivable.

KK BHRER BEEERANEKIEE
REERIEAT LU -

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

EHRETIHBERR  NEFBEHE
HEaE(REAMEREEEFLE

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use

assets) whenever: FEREL) :
. the lease term has changed or there is a change in . WEREEFGTHEEEEERE

BUSP A5 B A BB UL IE R T -
7 A7 B B 75 2 P B 7 AT 4
BB AE 1 4T BE IR S B AT 5 3T
T RET E A 5 -

the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

1T R A & B R A
SERHMERARTREH
FELLIER T 48R E & 5
BB AN HT R EH RACE TR
B (2T B R 5 R o

o the lease payments change due to changes in o
market rental rates following a market rent
review in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

FEERGEUFTRAREANEBZS]
HE&E-

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.9

3.10

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modlfications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3. HRUEEREAGHBEEHR @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.10 Impairment on property, plant and equipment, 3.10 MREBIMIE - BERSZE -FRHES
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than ERBREERE @

goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and ME-BERZE CTRAEEENER
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are BENTINE & 3B BB EITHE o
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate ERLZBEBMGES U WNEERER A&
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates ER G ZEEMBNIREEE B
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to Ry BT Us [B] & %8 ©

which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, RARAREELEEUZBER > Ho]
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash- RUGER—BNDEELE AT
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis BEENPEEHBAREELSMA I D
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they EERSELEUANIRIGER —
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating RO EEZR/NER - 7] lUk [0l & 28
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation BRARBEMBREELEBEULRE
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is EEBMAREBEE LHERREE
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of EENNREELEUMANZKRAE
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset FEELER 0

belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs AREIEEA A FEBRREERAER
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, FRBENRSE EERABER
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their st KRR EREEAFRRAIAEIRE
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects MIREHRE MARMRERIME
current market assessments of the time value of money AIMBHEESEENTERZEE
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating (HIREEEBM (HEFREKRRE
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have MEXRTRAE) HEHNEAR-

not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.10 Impairment on property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3. HRUEEREAGHBEEHR @

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments 3.11 £fMTH
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised THMEERETMEENINEEREREN
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual R TEESHNIRX 2T B
provisions of the instrument. All regular way BEUEREREBANHEZEMEE
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised ThiRRX 7 B E R REBUSRSE
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way EREKEBANHETLIZTIHERK
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial BHFEENREAERARNEERN
assets that require delivery of assets within the time THBEERBASNHEE -

frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially THEEAEMEBENBREATERB
measured at fair value except for trade receivables HEOMELEBRRAENCZESENW
arising from contracts with customers which are initially FIERRSN  HAR Z EEWRIER] & 127
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction ERAMBHREEAF IS =2 o ULEE
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or RETEHREERETREBEMUATE
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other Bt AEBEmzEmMEENTME AR
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 4N 2 BRI 5 A A 0 52 9 4R T ER
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from HNAZHEERTCREBENAFE
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, BEFREPIR ER) -BEEBER
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs MRAFEESAEGZEMEENE
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets BB B3 5 R4S o] L 48 7 A B BF AR
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 0

are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating BERABENGHEEMEENETHE
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability BEEERA R DB BB B UK
and of allocating interest income and interest expense ARFEHEZN G E BEMETLH)
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is RREREREHEEREHMEENTE
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash STEEHATE A BT A R AL IR
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid STARRBEWMA KA (BIEBRER
or received that form an integral part of the effective MERAHRB AN —TIEMHE W
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or ERARDE - XZHAKREMGEEDS
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset i) EZEENEBENREZENT]
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter o

period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group's AEBBBEEBBERERELENT S U
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue. ALUEAF TR @
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), except that
at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

GUEEREAGHBREN @

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued) 3.11 £RITE &

EHEE (@

Financial assets (Continued)

THEENIIEREEE B

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if: HETAER tHEESARER

il

L

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of BAZENFEARFHALEE ;

selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

14

. RYFEDFENNEBER
EEZAH#HNERTIAEESZ
—& 7 W ERAAFERER

ZEBREL; %

. BWIFEE KRB MEREHT

AZ#TETIR-

b oh > 7 & [ B] A 5] U R 2R i
HRARRAFEEFARMEEEL
AZTREERESBAFTEESA
Bmst 8 (HILRrDERRBRER LV g
SHEEFCIE ) o

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVOCI as measured at FVPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income (i)  #IHA KA BWA

F S WA B H 12 4% 48 8 AR AN 5t
ENETREEMUBENEE
TSR3 335 30 8 B R R A8 A 7Y
THEERBDAESE  HEER
BEAEERE(RTX) Nz
MEEBRI -REBEESE
BERENEMEEMS > FEH
ABBERBERFANEZEANRET
1 3R & HA AE 51 1Y & AL &5 722 48 4
A - HiEEREEMIA
NEERRAS UEEMEE
FHEEFEERE JIFBWA
TETEETNBHFEERE
B BEARBRAEXEAN BR
THRAREFNETMEER
HAREMEER ©

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Equity instruments designated as at FVOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVOCI reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the other income and
gains/(losses) line in the profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI or
designated as FVOCI are measured at FVPL.

Financial assets at FVPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “other income and gains/
(losses)” line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

GUEEREAGHBREN @

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued) 3.11 £ERIA @

Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&
Impairment of financial assets THEERE

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, loans receivable
and bank balances) and contract assets which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after each reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.

FEERBREESE (RBFEEES
) BAEBREEBMBREENS
XA FRENEZENEE (BEE
2 R EMEWRIE B ERKRIRT
B hEMNBEEETREN L -TEH
FEBENTENSREBHERM
URMBEBVMFEIREERRNE
(o

EHEHEEBERERARTANES
FHAMBAENENSHBEERN
FHHEEEE -BR 12B8RHAEE
BE (M2ERAMEEEE)) 5/
MRERSBRBI2ESNEIEEEERN
BUSEHERNB 2 BAREES
BofEDREAEBRBEEERRE
ERET ITRMEFSARENER —
RAQEMRTUREHRE BANERTRK
TR AR AR IR Z S EE R -

FEEGEIBWEZRERGNE
ERIEHRAEEHE

HRPBEEMTE  c&EBGEFERN
NRELBBMEEHENGEERF R
FFBE IR LRE E A KoK 181
meAlREEEREHAREEGE-
LR REEREMARREEERD
BN B REELRELEZQIA AL
T BB R 2 S AR MRS A o

ANNUAL REPORT F #§ » 2023

127



128

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

)
me

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at each reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument's
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

)

(if)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade and other receivables, contract
assets and other financial assets measured
at amortised cost, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

GUEEREAGHBREN @

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued) 3.11 £ERIA @

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the FVOCI reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
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An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by group
entities are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All financial liabilities including trade payables and other

payables and accruals are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated

future cash payments through the expected life of the

financial liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Convertible bonds contains liability and equity
components

The component parts of the convertible bonds issued
by the Company are classified separately as financial

liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of

a financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market

interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments.
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised
cost basis using the effective interest method until

extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s

maturity date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3. REEBEEREAGHBRER®
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.11 Financial instruments (Continued) 3.11 &fTH %)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) ETHEERREX (&)

Convertible bonds contains liability and equity
components (Continued)

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component
from the fair value of the compound instrument as a
whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of
income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.
In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised,
in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible bonds, the balance recognised in equity will
be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included
in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the lives of the convertible bonds using
the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition and modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, is recognised in
profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a convertible instrument
are modified, such as extending the tenure, change in
exercise price of the underlying options, the revised
terms would result in a substantial modification from
the original terms, after taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors,
such modification is accounted for as derecognition
of the original financial liability and the recognition
of new financial liability. The difference between the
carrying amount of financial liability derecognised and
the fair value of consideration paid or payable, including
any liabilities assumed and derivative components
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and
the net amount presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3. GUNEERBEAGHEBEREN @

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.12 Income tax 3.12 Frf&
Income tax expense comprise of current tax and deferred FREEROENARIERIELER
tax. He
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit REEEMNRIET R AF ERRR &F
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before STE o ERM AT H RN ATBBRE
tax because of income or expense that are taxable LHERTEMFERSRRIINKT 2
or deductible in other years and items that are never WA KN EFRIINR2IE
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax BRI - AEBEZENHREBEEGREIZ
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or R SHARAIEEMBEBEM 2R
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. EtHo
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences BERIBLREEMBRRANEER
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities BEZEMEANERERER &N AE
in the consolidated financial statements and the MEZERREEEED - RIERNEBEME
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of BEONEERREBR ZEMET
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally BEEIRIEE ER T | E R ER
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. FRFERER WiZo BRI AY
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all BF M ZRRIN R 2 PSR MR s 7 B iR #5 o
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it HEEMEEERE RER —IEERE
is probable that taxable profits will be available against BEJFNADMNTALEGH R ZR
which those deductible temporary differences can be 5 (EBEHRN Az EERABEREM
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not EX MENZXZUAEERER
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the FRIR R A0S AR BT
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) REMEEREBEEEREE I &
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects TREMEENREEE 28 NESR
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit AR FHRERIEERIEEE -

and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of

goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable HGBERNB AR REE AR MURR
temporary differences associated with investments SECEZEDERZ ERNGEE
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint BHEDAELERBEE EXAERT
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the EHESERzEBL hEREERE
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable KA SER g X Al B R 2R B B B BR Ib ©
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the MZERERER AR ol 188 R
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from ERMEEZRIEREBEEE 2109
deductible temporary differences associated with such EETECHERR FMEESRY
investments and interests are only recognised to the FRFERE 2 M@ MR ETRRAR A B AR 2K
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient BECIR 5 g iEsT o

taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.12 Income tax (Continued)

3.13

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Related parties

a) A person, or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n 8 M5 R R b 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.13 Related parties (Continued)

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

i)

ii)

iii)

v)

Vi)

vii)

viii)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in a).

A person identified in a) i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.14 Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

(b)  the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

(c)  the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.14 Revenue recognition (Continued)

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

i) Services income

Provision of consultancy and financial advisory
services

The performance obligations for certain
consultancy and financial advisory services
are fulfilled when all the relevant duties of an
advisor as stated in the contract are completed.
Consultancy and financial advisory fee is generally
due within 30 days upon reaching contracts’
milestone payment terms.

For contracts where the period between the
payment and the transfer of the promised services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in
HKFRS 15.

Certain consultancy and financial advisory
services’ performance obligations are satisfied
over time as services are rendered if the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group. These services are charged
at agreed fee billed on a mutually basis (e.g.
regular period).

Provision of asset management and advising on
securities services

Revenue from asset management and advising on
securities services are recognised over time as the
services are provided. Fees for asset management
services are calculated based on a fixed percentage
of the value of assets managed and due on a
regular basis as mutually agreed. Invoices for
provision on advising of securities services are
issued on a regular basis based on the terms stated
in the contract and are usually payable within 30
days.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.14 Revenue recognition (Continued)

i)

ii)

Services income (Continued)
Provision of securities brokerage services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point
in time when the customer has received the service
from the Group. Commission income on securities
and futures dealing and broking is generally due
within one to three days after trade date.

Provision of Blockchain-as-a-Service income

Revenue is recognised over time as those services
are provided. Invoices for provision of services are
issued on a regular basis based on the terms stated
in the contract and are usually payable within
30 days.

Revenue from other sources
Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued
on a time-apportioned basis by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset's
net carrying amount.

Investments in concerts

Investments in concerts are measured at fair value
through profit or loss with gain or loss arising
from net changes in fair value of such financial
instruments recognised as revenue from other
sources in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.15 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans and defined benefit pension

plans.

(1)

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
to a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions after payment of the fixed
contribution.

The contributions recognised in respect of defined
contribution plans are expensed as they fall
due. Liabilities and assets may be recognised if
underpayment or prepayment has occurred and
are included in current liabilities or current assets
as they are normally of a short-term nature.

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for
those employees in Hong Kong who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.15 Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

(i)

Defined benefit pension plans

Defined benefit pension plans define an amount
of pension benefit that an employee will receive
on retirement, usually dependent on one or
more factors such as age, years of service and
compensation.

The liability recognised in the consolidated
statements of financial position in respect of
defined pension plans is the present value of
the defined benefit obligation at the end of the
reporting period less the fair value of plan assets.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation
is determined by discounting the estimated
future cash outflow using interest rates of high-
quality corporate bonds that are denominated in
the currency in which the benefits will be paid,
and that have terms to maturity approximating
to terms of the related pension obligation. In
countries where there is no deep market in such
bonds, the market rates on government bonds are
used.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions
are charged or credited to equity in other
comprehensive income in the period in which they
arise.

Past service costs are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Discretionary contributions made by employees or
third parties reduce service cost upon payment of
these contributions to the plan.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.15 Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Defined benefit pension plans (Continued)

When the formal terms of the plans specify that
there will be contributions from employees or third
parties, the accounting depends on whether the
contributions are linked to service, as follows:

° If the contributions are not linked to services
(for example contributions are required to
reduce a deficit arising from losses on plan
assets or from actuarial losses), they are
reflected in the remeasurement of the net
defined benefit liability (asset).

° If contributions are linked to services,
they reduce service costs. For the amount
of contribution that is dependent on the
number of years of service, the entity
reduces service costs by attributing the
contributions to periods of service using
the attribution method required by HKAS
19 for the gross benefits. For the amount
of contribution that is independent
of the number of years of service, the
entity reduces service costs by attributing
contributions to the employees’ periods
of service in accordance with HKAS 19
paragraph 70.

Long service payments obligation

The Group’s net obligation under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance in respect of long service
payments on cessation of employment under
certain circumstances is the estimated discounted
amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their services in the current
and prior periods. The obligation is calculated
annually using the projected unit credit method,
taking into account offsetable accrued benefits
related to the Group’s MPF Scheme.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.15 Employee benefits (Continued)

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at
the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer
withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when

it recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the

inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and

sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair

value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3. RUNBEREXREHHEREN @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.15 Employee benefits (Continued) 3.15 EE®&H &%)
Share-based payments (Continued) URHBERZ (17 (&)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions RIEZELRG BERNTHZ @)

(Continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based RIEEBMEBEEZ RELGEURD
payments determined at the grant date without taking RERNRZ AFEE (LR EAE
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is FEMBEBGY RELAERERR
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, KREBzED TRt REBH
based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments REGFZH Mz (BRERE)
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase ARG - NI E AR > AEER
in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each B T A E R IE T 5 R B I 2 5Tk
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the EBsTESERARBE T TRE#ME 2
number of equity instruments expected to vest based on At BT RGBT NEE (WA R
assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. BaPER SR RREES]
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, Z A st B AR S A 15 5 1E H AR FE AR
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the B RNREHBINEBNRGD, B
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a R BENRGBRENATE
corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments (ENREEERESSE -

reserve. For shares/share options that vest immediately
at the date of grant, the fair value of the shares/share
options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously BREEITER KA RGO
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be EHEIZARBREEEROEBE-
transferred to share premium. When the share options EERENFEHBRBELWENE
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not HAE R AT 652 B S Al i B A A
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously ERRERE 2 RIER ARS8

recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with HEBZINNEMBETZURN S
parties other than employees are measured at the fair BERORRSZ  HEMEEINE &K
value of the goods or services received, except where RFEz A FEEFZ BFRIEZATFE
that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which ERSER EM G E > TXIFR T~ PR
case they are measured at the fair value of the equity EYTHREIANERESH RIS
instruments granted, measured at the date the entity FHIERERFHNBERAAEN R TFERE
obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the 2 -BREREmIRB 2 AFEEE
service. The fair values of the goods or services received MERARYE GRIFZARIRBETE
are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or services RABBENIRME) °

qualify for recognition as assets).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.16

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
Group's most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity
that is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of
such a line of business. The results of discontinued
operations are presented separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes judgements, estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n 8 M5 R R b 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

4.,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group's management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

Impairment on trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables and loans receivable

The Group's trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables and loans receivable are assessed for
impairment based on the expected credit loss model
required by HKFRS 9. The assessment made by
management has taken into account relevant historical
information adjusted for forward-looking information
available to management at the date of assessment
(to the extent that such information is reasonable and
supportable without undue cost or effort). Impairment
losses are also recognised for the current year (please
see Notes 24, 25 and 26). Management has exercised
judgement in estimating the amount of expected
credit loss. If the actual outcome is different from
management’s estimate, an additional impairment loss or
reversal of impairment loss may arise.

Impairment on goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Directors to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

4.

EXE

(i)

(i)

(iii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT (Continued)

(iv) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Certain of the Group’s assets and liabilities included
in the consolidated financial statements require
measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group's financial
assets and liabilities utilises market observable inputs
and data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining
fair value measurements are categorised into different
levels based on how observable the inputs used in
the valuation technique utilised are (the “fair value
hierarchy”):

Level 1:  Quoted prices in active markets for identical
items (unadjusted);

Level 2:  Observable direct or indirect inputs other than
Level 1 inputs;

Level 3:  Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from
market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is
based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised in
the period they occur.

The Group measures the following item at fair value:

— Financial assets at FVOCI (Note 21)

— Financial assets at FVPL (Note 22)

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the items above, please refer to the
respective notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments comprise loans
receivable, financial assets at FVOCI, financial assets at
FVPL, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
bank balances, trade payables, other payables and accruals
and convertible bonds. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group's operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the
Group's policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be
undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk
and credit risk. The Directors review and agree policies for
managing this risk and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s
exposure to foreign currency risk primarily arises from bank
balances which are denominated in Renminbi (“RMB"). The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy but the management continuously monitors the foreign
exchange exposure. In the opinion of the Directors of the
Company, the Group’s foreign exchange exposure is not
significant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. HHEEEEEHERBE @
POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk mENE & RS
The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between FEEZENEERDN AT BKES K
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of B TEENEHREHEE R BERFT
convertible bonds and borrowings. o
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s TREGLBESOIFLIRORO T 2 RER
liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments. BEZIHHER
As at 31 December 2023 $:2023%12831H
More than
Within one 1 year but Total
year or on less than undiscounted Carrying
demand 5 years cash flows amount
—FERH SR—F ARER
BRER BUORESE REnues fREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTET THET THET
Trade payables B ECRIE 188 - 188 188
Other payables and accruals HAE O RIB R EET B 7,355 - 7,355 7,355
Convertible bonds IR R - 101,000 101,000 77,931
Lease liabilities HE&B 3,043 - 3,043 2,995
10,586 101,000 111,586 88,469
As at 31 December 2022 720224 12831H
More than
Within one 1 year but Total
year or on less than  undiscounted Carrying
demand 5 years cash flows amount
—ERNF ZR—F PN
BEXR BLORRE RERER REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TET TET TET
Trade payables BEEMTIE 13,083 = 13,083 13,083
Other payables and accruals Ht R IE RS FRIE 2,495 = 2,495 2,495
Convertible bonds AR R 14,068 91,000 105,068 85,110
Lease liabilities HEEE 4,056 3,043 7,099 6,825
33,702 94,043 127,745 107,513
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have material exposure to interest rate
risk, as the Group has no financial assets and liabilities of
material amounts with floating interest rate.

Management will continue to review the market trend, as
well as its business operation needs and its financial position
in order to identify the most effective tools for the Group's
interest rate risk management.

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, contract assets, deposits and other receivables,
loans receivable and bank balances. Management has
monitored the exposures on an ongoing basis.

For loans receivable, deposits and other receivables, the Group
uses three categories which reflect their credit risk and how the
loss provision is determined for each of those categories. These
internal credit risk ratings are aligned to external credit rating
companies, such as Moody's.

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

RERAGEERZERBR @

A= E g

FERBUTESREANKER  ARHETEH
WELTBHERFABRZEATREERE

& o

BEEREBRS MBI UREERZE
BREM BRI U EHRERF R ER
EERAMZIR

= &R

FERZEERBRIEREEZEKRIEA
BNEE FREEMERRIE - BRER
RRTEG EEERERRAR-

PEWRER R REMBURIATNS > &
EEFER =B8R RREE SRR R IR
Z-ERpEEHIEEE ZENREER
BET AR BB EINEBE BT AR AT —2 o

AEENRAEERRTRIERSEUTE
A

Internal credit rating  Description Trade receivables and  Other financial assets
contract assets
AEEETR R BHRKTRIER HittEmEE
BNEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
any past-due amounts (refer to as Stage 1) credit-impaired
BERE REHFHZENRRRE BEXREMARRERE LHEREEESE NEAEHREESSE
(EE—FEE) - RBEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle in full  Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
after due date (refer to as Stage 1) credit-impaired
BRyE KERIAHEEEMBENIBRATHENNES LHEREEESE NEAEHREESSE
(EE—FEE) - RBEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial Lifetime ECL-not Lifetime ECL-not
recognition through information developed internally (refer credit-impaired credit-impaired
to as Stage 2)
75 RIBRE Bz BRI E R 2 5 6 B g B A1 1R HEs3 LUk LHERESRE 2HRBEEEE
BB (EE R - EBEEHE - BiEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired (refer to  Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL-
as Stage 3) credit-impaired credit-impaired
B ERBBTEELREEAE BE=RK) LHERESRE LHRBEEEE
— EEHE — E&HE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial ~ Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off

difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
(refer to as Stage 3)

B BERBETESAEHREM RS AEED RS Rr
HE GEE=RR)

TR TR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For the trade receivables and contract assets arising from
business other than dealing in securities, the Group carries
out regular review on these balances and follow-up action on
any overdue amounts to minimise exposures to credit risk. The
Group measures the lifetime ECL based on the outstanding
balances and historical credit loss experience adjusted to
reflect the Group's view of current and forecast economic
conditions that may affect the ability of the debtors to settle
receivables. The total impairment allowance amounted to
HK$1,102,000 (2022: HK$3,897,000) had been provided
under ECL assessment by using simplified approach according
to the ageing by due date of which reversal of impairment
loss of HK$72,000 (2022: HK$208,000) was recognised in the
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023. For trade
receivable of approximately HK$118,000 (2022: approximately
HK$1,731,000) that are arising from the business of dealing
securities, the credit risk is limited because the counterparties
are clearing house and brokers with sound credit ratings. They
have a low risk of default and there is no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. Accordingly, they are
subject to lifetime ECL and the amount of ECL is insignificant.
For contract assets, the management considers that the
amount of ECL is insignificant because the carrying amount is
insignificant.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. HBHEEEEEHEREE @
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) SERE (&

The loss allowance as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 was R2023F K2022F 12831 HMWE B EE TS
determined for trade receivables arising from business other MERBEEFS IV EBNERE SR
than dealing in securities as follows: EWH -

Gross carrying
Expected  amount (after

credit loss rate excluding
— weighted credit impaired Loss
average balance) allowance Net amount
BHEE REAE
BB R (BiNRiER
— MiEEY B ER) HHEEE B8
(%) HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(%) THET TET TERT
At 31 December 2023 120235128310
Not yet past due 1 R 0.1% 2,348 (2) 2,346
Overdue within 90 days BHAABRE0H 0.9% 1,261 (11) 1,250
Overdue over 91 days BHEBIIH 87.7% 1,242 (1,089) 153
4,851 (1,102) 3,749
Gross carrying
Expected amount (after
credit loss rate excluding
— weighted  credit impaired Loss
average balance) allowance Net amount
RHEE REAE
Bt (EMBEE
— METs B BERE B
(%) HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(%) TET FTET FTER
At 31 December 2022 2022128318
Not yet past due EESGEE 0.5% 222 (1) 221
Overdue within 90 days BT BBI0A 8.3% 362 (30) 332
Overdue over 91 days BHBA1E 97.5% 3,965 (3,866) 99
4,549 (3,897) 652
For the deposits and other receivables, the ECL had been MERREMEWERMS > BE%12@ 878
provided under 12m ECL assessment. The total impairment HEEBEEARAGEEHBHRER RE
allowance amounted to HK$17,000 (2022: HK$20,000) has BB 4E%E 217,000 7T (20224 © 20,0004
been provided under ECL assessment, of which reversal of 70)  BRREBEBHEEREN GHIREE B
impairment loss of HK$3,000 (2022: impairment loss of R E RS R #5 13,0008 70 (20224 & B {EES
HK$5,000) was recognised in the profit or loss for the year $85,00058 7T) B E E2023F12831HIEE
ended 31 December 2023. Erigss PR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. HHEEAKRETEEEREE @
POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE @
The credit risk of loans receivable is determined based on the FEWE R E S R kTR 3% R 2B Kk S &6 #Y
combination of the internal and external credit rating, the FEEFR  FHEFLCIWE -FESEEN
average debt recovery, peer review information and comparison RARNHENNLERERNRKRET -AEH
with public available data. The Group calculates ECL using FR=ZEFEZHostERMAEERE  EY
three main components: a probability of default (“PD"), a loss R (TEAMER)) BB LRX (TEHNEX
given default (“LGD") and the exposure at default (“EAD"). R REARR (FTEHRERE) - 12@BFEH
The 12m ECL is calculated by multiplying the 12m PD, LGD EEBEENBERMNI2EANELARE E
and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated using the lifetime PD HNEREREANRESESEH 2HTEME
instead. The 12m and lifetime PDs represent the probability of EEBERA2BEAOBERFE- 128K
default occurring over the next 12 months and the remaining ZHEABXR D RARRKI12ERS RELEE
maturity of the instrument respectively. The EAD represents the AR E R T AT ERHAMR - BA R R
expected balance at default, taking into account the repayment EBHNRNNIERGRE TRIANEEEERA
of principal and interest from the balance sheet date to the HIZNEH4NAE KA ENEER URE
default event together with any expected drawdowns of AIFERA Y R R B VIR BN 0 BAVIB R ALK
committed facilities. The LGD represents expected losses on the EEEENEHRENRBNEREE =
EAD given the event of default, taking into account, among BE (HHaEFEMmEN) R REETR
other attributes, the mitigating effect of collateral value at the HERENERFRAREENFEEEBE -
time it is expected to be realised and the time value of money. 2023F12A31H > EHEBEEBENGH
The total impairment allowance on the loans receivable as at FERE B R E R EEEES1,111,0008 7T
31 December 2023 amounted to HK$1,111,000 (31 December (20224128318 : 1,086,000 7T) » Hh
2022: HK$1,086,000) has been provided under expected credit 25,0005 7T (20224F : 814,000 7T) BN &
loss assessment, of which HK$25,000 (2022: HK$814,000) was F2023F12B31HEEENGEEEBaRE
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and e mEU A TRFREST
other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2023.
An analysis of changes in the gross amount and impairment 1R2023F 522022F 12831 H W48 & BB e iR
allowances of loans receivable as at 31 December 2023 and BERENEEFIMUWT .
2022 is as follow:
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E—PEER BREER B=PEER 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHET FHET
At 31 December 2023 #2023F12831H
Loans receivable Bl ER 2,020 3,252 — 5,272
Impairment allowances ARG (421) (690) — (1,111)
Net amounts HER 1,599 2,562 — 4,161
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E—PEEY FEREER = FRER 4 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHETT FHETT
At 31 December 2022 722022 12831H
Loans receivable FEW B = 4,789 = 4,789
Impairment allowances BEREE = (1,086) = (1,086)
Net amounts R ER — 3,703 — 3,703
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance. The Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would exposure the Group to the credit risk.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial
assets and financial liabilities that:

3 are offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position; or are subject to an enforceable
master netting arrangement or similar agreement that
covers similar financial instruments, irrespective of
whether they are offset in the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position.

Under the agreement of continuous net settlement made
between the Group and Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited ("HKSCC"), the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off the money obligation receivable
and payable with HKSCC on the same settlement date and the
Group intends to set off on a net basis.

In addition, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
the trade receivables and payables with cash clients that are
due to be settled on the same date and the Group intends to
settle these balances on a net basis.

Except for balances which are due to be settled on the same
date which are being offset, amounts due from/to HKSCC,
brokers and cash clients that are not to be settled on the same
date, deposit placed with brokers do not meet the criteria for
offsetting in the consolidated statement of financial position
since the right of set-off of the recognised amounts is only
enforceable following an event of default.

RERAGEERZERBR @

EERE (@

EeEERARERGSYHIRIREANEE
MEEZIREE HRERRERE &
iR ARt ERAERARNES
LR 7 R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master

5. HMBEERMRBEEERBE @

RN AR MITRIPREE T SE L

netting arrangements or similar agreements ZHEFMRIR E R E &=
Gross amounts Net amounts
of recognised of financial
financial assets
liabilities set recognised  Related amounts not set off in
off in the inthe  the consolidated statement of
consolidated  consolidated financial position
Gross amounts  statement of  statement of
of recognised financial financial Financial Collateral Net
Type of financial assets tHEEREY financial assets position position instruments received amount
RESHBRR Resumny  DRCREHERRREHN
BRY RAENERD  EEIHLR Hnz8
THEELE ERARLEE BERE ERMIA ERIERR #8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TEx TERT FEL TER FEL
At 31 December 2023 120235126318
Trade receivables from the HHEEEBNES
business of dealing in [ElEIE
securities 118 - 18 - - 118
At 31 December 2022 1120224128318
Trade receivables from the HHEBEBNES
business of dealing in JEWFIE
securities 91,298 (89,567) 1,731 (51) = 1,680
Gross amounts Net amounts
of recognised of financial
financial liabilities
liabilities set recognised  Related amounts not set off in
off in the inthe  the consolidated statement of
Gross amounts  consolidated  consolidated financial position
of recognised ~ statementof  statement of
financial financial financial Financial Collateral Net
Type of financial liabilities ~ &RF&EHEY liabilities position position instruments received amount
RESHBHR Keapigy  DFRRMBRRRENN
BRZ XRAMNEED  EEIHLR Lk
ERMARRE SRAGLE BERE EHMIA BRIERR et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET T TET TET
At 31 December 2023 120235125318
Trade payables from the BHEEEEN
business of dealing in BRENTE
securities 188 - 188 - - 188
At 31 December 2022 120225128318
Trade payables from the HEHEEEBNES
business of dealing in JEfI7E
securities 102,345 (89,567) 12,778 (51) = 12,727
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fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value estimation

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, which are not
measured at fair value, are not materially different from their
carrying amounts because of the immediate or short-term
maturity.

The Group's financial instruments carried at fair value represent
the Group’s other financial assets. The following provides on
analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent
to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to 3
based on the degree which the fair value is observable.

— Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities.

— Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

— Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation technigues that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets are determined as
follows:

The fair value of listed equity securities as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 is determined by reference to its quoted
market price at the reporting date in active markets.

The fair value of unlisted investments, put option in relation
to acquisition of a subsidiary, unlisted equity securities and
investments in concerts as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
are determined by reference to a valuation report issued by
independent qualified valuer.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)
The financial assets measured at fair value in the consolidated

statement of financial position are group into the fair value
hierarchy as follows:

5. HMBEERMRBEEERBE @

DT EEMSLE @

RIEREHBERRNRAURFEEFENER
BEERATEERBOENT

At 31 December 2023 142023%E12831H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EF—E BE BB st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET F#ET
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEESABRS
SHMEE
— Listed equity securities — FHRRERE S 407 — — 407
— Unlisted investments — FLEHEE — — 263 263
— Investments in concerts — BEEGERE — — 3,901 3,901
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEESAEM
2EBAZEREE
— Unlisted equity securities — JF_Em R — — 1,473 1,473
407 _ 5,637 6,044
At 31 December 2022 7R2022E12831H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—E EE BB “mst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET TET
Assets HBE
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEEBESABRZ
SRHEE
— Listed equity securities — FHR#EES 312 — - 312
— Unlisted investments — JELEHEKE — — 319 319
— Put option in relation — BN E
to acquisition of a NEIE R
subsidiary (Note 38) ShERRE (F12E38) — — 53 53
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEEESAEHM
2EBAZEREE
— Unlisted equity securities — JE LR #EEH — — 3,053 3,053
312 — 3,425 3,737

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of
measuring fair value are unchanged compared to the previous
reporting periods. There were no significant transfers of
financial assets and liabilities between Level 1, Level 2 and Level
3 fair value hierarchy classifications.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5.
POLICIES (Continued)

RERAGEERZERBR @

AFEEMGS @

Fair value estimation (Continued)

ERFE=BATEEFSENER

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements:

Significant
Fair value as at Valuation unobservable
Financial assets EREE 31 December techniques inputs Range
EARE
R12BA3ENATEE @‘ESE BzuaAgE ®E
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET
Unlisted investments FEMESR 263 319 Discounted cash  Pre-tax discount  26.54%
flow rate (2022: 26.06%)
EREER AR RE 26.54%
(20224 1 26.06%)
Investments in concerts ~ EIBBRE 3,901 — Discounted cash  Expected 80% to 90%
flow ticket sales
performance
EREER B PIREERR 80%E90%

Put option in relation to  SE—RKTE - 53 Monte Carlo Volatility 126.74% to0 154.78%
acquisition of a NEBRN simulation W (2022: 63.42% to
subsidiary AR model 116.44%)

SRRBEHRLN 126.74%Z154.78%
(2022 :63.82% %
116.44%)
Unlisted equity securities ~ JE Em R ARzEH 1,473 1,788 Discounted cash  Pre-tax discount ~ 26.54%
flow rate (2022: 26.06%)
EREER AR RE 26.54%
(20224 : 26.06%)
Unlisted equity securities ~ JE Em R ARzEH - 1,265 Discounted cash  Discount rate N/A (2022: 5.63%)

flow

RERRER

3RS

A (20226 .
5.63%)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)
The fair value of financial assets at FVPL is a Level 3 recurring

fair value measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and
closing fair value balances are provided as below:

5. HMBEERMRBEEERBE @

DFEEMGE @

MATEESF ARG EMEENAFEER
BE-EKEMRATEEFE -MUREAX
AFEEFEHNEROT

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Unlisted investment: ELEHRE :
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring HYRE (FZEREERTEDB
fair value) 319 390
Fair value change during the year FRATBEES (56) (71)
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring BARGRE (FZEBREEQATFEBR
fair value) 263 319

A higher in discount rate would result in lower in the fair value

MIREEE FLEHRENAFEEBE

of unlisted investment, and vice versa. RZIRR
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Investment in concerts: EEEKRE
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring YRR (FZEREERATED
fair value) — =
Additions HE 7,166 —
Settlements # (3,921)
Fair value change during the year FRNATEEEE 656 —
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring AXRFE (FE=ZEREERATER)
fair value) 3,901 —

The higher in expected ticket sales performance result in higher
in the fair value of investments in concerts, and vice versa.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

5. HMBEERMRBEEERBE @

Fair value estimation (Continued) AT EEGBT @
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Put option in relation to acquisition of BEUKE—KIEBAE ARV HE
a subsidiary: %
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring fair FUER E=ZAKEEATEE)
value) 53 —
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 38) WiE—RK BB (BaE38) — 53
Fair value change during the year FERAFEEES (53) =
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring FRER B=2AKBEEATER)
fair value) - 53

The higher in volatility would result in higher in the fair value
of put option in relation to acquisition of a subsidiary, and vice

RENE VIR AR SRR FEINE A BB R
SEHIEN AT EERM RZTFAR e

versa.
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Net gain/(loss) recognised in profit or loss  FERFRER PN FWRE, (BE)
for the year 547 (71)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)
The fair value of financial assets at FVOCI is a Level 3 recurring

fair value measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and
closing fair value balances are provided as below:

HERGEEEERBEER @

DT EEMSLE @

HATEEFARMRERAZ SHEEN
ATBEBE=BEHEATBENE
MRIAKA T EERBEHEDT :

2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Unlisted equity securities JELETHRRIEE S
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring fair YR (FZEREEHRATER)
value) 3,053 2,185
Addition BE — 2,730
Fair value change during the year (Note 21) ERAFEELE (Kfz£21) 315 (1,862)
Disposal (Note 21) HE #aE21) (1,895) —
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring HRGFRE (FZEREERQATEBR
fair value) 1,473 3,053

A higher in discount rate would result in lower in the fair value
of unlisted equity securities, and vice versa.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there
were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level
1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both
financial assets and financial liabilities.

Capital risk management

The Group's objective of managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns and benefits for members and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes convertible bonds, bank balances and cash and total
equity as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Capital risk management (Continued)

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
management, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as the issue of new debts or
redemption of existing debts.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate their
corresponding fair values.

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting periods was as
follows:

RERAGEERZERBR @

BEXREBER @

FEENEEESYFBER —RELEB-
ERIEEEN -0 EEEREREEMN
ARELZERGHEBNERR -REEERE
WEZ cEERBRETHR ETHE
HEORART U THHERERERE

EFRR AR HTRRPLUBEHERETA
RNEMEERERME BNIREELEAR
NPEEES-

REMRNEESB/LERNT :

2023 2022

20235 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Convertible bonds AR E S 77,931 85,110
Total debts B 4858 77,931 85,110
Total assets REE 56,713 79,097
Gearing ratio BEEBSRKE 1.37 1.08

Except for certain subsidiaries of the Group licensed by the
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”), neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

BAERETHBEADEZISRPEEHS
=Heg (REg) EEIN RATKREM
HiB A TZIINBMINE AR E Z IR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

6.1

6. WAKRDBHRS

Revenue represents income from financial services 6.1 WAEFAREMBBERFMER
operations, income from corporate consulting operations ANTEBAEFAESUWA KNG
and income from digital operations during the year. TEUTA ©
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Continuing operations FEREER
Revenue from contracts with customers: RKEFLBAIBWA :
Service income ARFS U A
Financial service business SRR RS 10,912 11,288
Corporate service business ERBER 4,025 4,678
Digital business S 2,822 1,566
17,759 17,532
Revenue from other sources: KRB EMARAUA -
Interest income from financial services RESRRBEEBNN WA
business 523 619
Profit on investments in concerts from REBHEBEEIREN
digital business, net PR pE-E] 656 —
1,179 619
18,938 18,151
Timing of revenue recognition: TSR U 2 Y B R
— At a point in time — RE—FBH 1,455 751
— Over time — BERF 16,304 16,781
17,759 17,532
The Group has applied the practical expedient in AEBCERAEBMBREERAFE1S
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 and does not disclose WEI2IRZATRER F UEEE
information about the remaining performance obligation EHRERFEAS —FHUATZHER
that have original expected durations of one year or less. BHAEEZER

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT



L

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WABRDIBRE @)
6.2 Segment reporting 6.2 NIWI®E
(a) Reportable segments (a) HEHDL

The Group determines its operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker that are used to make strategic
decisions. The chief operating decision-maker has
been identified as the executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group has completed the disposal of the trading
business. In accordance with HKFRS 5, the segment
of trading business for the year ended 31 December
2022 was presented as discontinued operation
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Further details regarding the results of the
discontinued operation is set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group currently has three reportable segments.
The segments are managed separately as each
business offers different products and services and
requires different business strategies as follows:

(@) The financial services business includes the
securities brokerage business, provision of
corporate finance advisory services, asset
management and advising on securities
business and money lending business;

(b)  The corporate consulting business segment
is engaged in the provision of company
secretarial services, accounting and financial
reporting services and management
consulting services; and

AEBRRBEREERRERN
FRAUNERBARNRS
BEHKEDM - BELERR
EEREERATES-

REE2022F12831HIEE
B AEEETREZEBHNH
E-RESEBYHBREERES
St BUE2022F12831HIEF
B BSEBDINAEBNLR
B BRERENABERIERE
XK - ARBRIEKEEFZNE
— S HBERGEM BRI
370

AEEBRAZERZ2®RDE-
DB ORNEE ABEEES
REASENERMRE  LED
B B9 £ F5RBE U0 T PR

(a) BREEBFELCED RBH
CEREAARB BE
BRI AB B ET M R
BEHFZEMRFESD

=

(b) WFRHEIADMWERS
Gt R HREIRE U
BEAEHRS 2 B EES
EHO &
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WARSHBERSE @
6.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2 SDIHRE @
(a) Reportable segments (Continued) (a) HEFHDL @)

(c) The digital business segment is engaged to (0 HBEBITNBFHAR
leverage blockchain, artificial intelligence, R~ A& ERINEI
and immersive interaction technologies to E#xir B A BIME
create value and protection to individuals, EEMR-bEERMME
creators, artists, businesses and brand R ANRIEEE MRHEK
owners, and offer various opportunities 58 0 R R B H I IR
within the entertainment sector, including the BikE OEAESRE
organisation/production of and investment in KREEEEBE EEHRE
concerts, events and festivals. This business HoARERMN2022F784
segment has established by the Group since H AL b2 555 8 o
4 July 2022.

There were no inter-segment transactions between TR AEKE DT 2 B E D EE R
different operating segments for the year (2022: Nil). 5 (20224 : ) c H R A KRR E
Central revenue and expenses are not allocated to the EREFELERKEAUTED I &
operating segments as they are not included in the WD EEESEZ N MR DK
measure of the segments’ results that is used by the chief [=bag=i ]

operating decision-maker for assessment of segment

performance.

(b) Segment revenue and results (b) DERAREE

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue UTERRUERDPBEHAEHR

and results by reportable segments: BIUW A R ZE &R D AT

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE2023F 128310 ILEE

Financial Corporate

services consulting Digital

business business business Total
& ¥

HK$'000 FTERT PRI EEIES B UES At

Segment revenue SERA 11,435 4,025 3,478 18,938

Segment profit/(loss) AEEF,/ (B1H) 3,307 2,265 (3,484) 2,088

Finance costs B % (12,525)

Unallocated corporate RREEERE W2

expenses ot (15,295)

Loss before income tax from  FELELEIRFF

continuing operations ARS8 (25,732)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WARSDERRSE @
6.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2 SDH/RE @
(b) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (b) DEIRARESE (@)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BHE2022F12831HIEFE
Financial Corporate
services consulting Digital
business business business Total
i 1=t
HK$'000 TET R %R FA e EUES Bt
Segment revenue AEEA 11,907 4,678 1,566 18,151
Segment profit/(loss) DEER (BE) 2,321 1,909 (2,516) 1,714
Finance costs BT (13,634)
Gain on deregistration of MEBATZHBRLZ
subsidiaries 6y 21
Unallocated corporate KREEERE W2
expenses ot (18,276)

Loss before income tax from B EEE KIS

continuing operations RAisE (30,175)
Note: Unallocated corporate expenses mainly included Ha: kAR EE T EAIES
staff salaries, directors’ remuneration and 20234 20224128318
depreciation of right-of-use assets for the years tEENSIHS BSiHe
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. R AR EERE
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WARDEBIHRS @
6.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2 DHFH/E @
(c) Segment assets and liabilities (c) PHEERERE

UTERAIE2RIBHEER

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets

and liabilities by reportable segments: BEREBEND
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Segment assets DEEE
Continuing operations FEREER
Financial services business Rl ARTS £ 20,807 32,447
Corporate consulting business EBAET 6,728 6,511
Digital business BT 20,674 15,743
Total segment assets DEEELLE 48,209 54,701
Unallocated bank balances ROEBRITHEBERIRE
and cash 2,098 12,312
Unallocated corporate assets KDL EEE W2 6,406 12,084
Consolidated total assets EeEEHE 56,713 79,097
Segment liabilities DEEE
Continuing operations FEREER
Financial services business ETHRBER 3,901 15,295
Corporate consulting business EAAET 1,000 200
Digital business BIEET 2,107 229
Total segment liabilities NHFEBEE 7,008 15,724
Convertible bonds AR A 77,931 85,110
Unallocated corporate liabilities Mete) k3 Bg 1t 2 & (& W) 6,578 7,198
Consolidated total liabilities REBaEEEE 91,517 108,032

Note: Unallocated corporate assets mainly comprised of

unallocated right-of-use assets.

Unallocated corporate liabilities mainly comprised of
unallocated lease liabilities and accrued headquarter

expenses.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WARSDERS @
6.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2 SDH/RE @
(d) Other segment information (d) B3 EH
For the year ended 31 December 2023 F2023F 128310 ILEE
Financial Corporate
services consulting Digital
business business business  Unallocated Total
SRR EE#:
¥% ¥% LU RAE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TER TER TER TEL

Amounts included in the AR BER SR
measure of segment profit ~ HAPEEHE

or loss or segment assets: 288
Additions to non-current assets ~ FRBEFERBEE

(other than financial assets) (EREERMN - - 861 - 861
Deprediation of property, plant ¥ BRERRETE

and equipment - - (79) (1,162) (1,241)
Deprediation of right-of-use assets ERBEETE (794) - - (2,785) (3.579)
Amortisation of intangible assets & E &% - (228) (1,478) - (1,706)
Reversal of impairment BRRKHERRAE

loss/(impairment loss) on BB/ (AEHE)

trade receivables 128 (26) (30) - 72
Reversal of impairment losson &R EAMERFIE

deposits and other receivables B BELL - - - 3 3
Impairment loss on loans receivable FE Ut & =15 {E 5548 (25) - - - (25)
Written off of deposits and other 43 & RE M

receivables WA - - - (151) (151)
Interest income FISWA 7 - - 118 189
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WARDERS @
6.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2 DHFH/E @
(d) Other segment information (Continued) (d) EM7EEH &)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2022F12B31HILEE
Financial Corporate
services consulting Digital
business business business Unallocated Total
SRR =5
£% 2% EUCES Fnk st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TER TER TER TER

Amounts included in the FAR SRR RS

measure of segment profit ~ HAWEEHE

or loss or segment assets: 288
Additions to non-current assets ~ FREFRBEE

(other than financial assets) (ZREERIN - - 14,901 = 14,901
Depreciation of property, plant ~ ¥J% BERRENTE

and equipment — — (8) (1,170) (1,178)
Deprediation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE (794) = = (2,786) (3,580)
Amortisation of intangible assets & & E & = (228) (739) = (967)
Reversal of impairment losson 57 UL AR B

trade receivables EBE 205 3 - = 208
Impairment loss on deposits and & R EERFE

other receivables AESE (1) = = (4) (5
Impairment loss on loans receivable BN EF A EHE (814) = = = (814)
Written off of deposits and other 843 & RE M

receivables BRI = (8) = = 8)
Interest income FISMHA 26 - - 16 Iy)
Amounts regularly provided to EHRETTELERE

the chief operating decision- ~ E{ERH AL R

maker but not included in the StEMEE

measure of segment profit or

loss:
Gain on deregistration of WEARFHEELDZ

subsidiaries W - = = 21 21
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L

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WABRDIBRE @)
6.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2 SDH/RE @
(e) Geographical information (e) EFEZEHN

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group's revenue from external customers
(including continuing and discontinued operations)
is derived solely from its operations in Hong Kong
(place of domicile), where all of the Group’s non-
current assets are located in Hong Kong. The
geographical location of external customers is
based on the location at which the goods are

HE2023F %2022%F12831H
IEFE AEBKRBIFELH
WA (BEFERBRIEKLEZE
%) 2WREEENREE FrEt)
NEE AEENFEIERSE
EMREB IR NMIEM
BNERZNEY RIRERD
B3t B o

delivered and services rendered.

(f) Major customers () ETEEFR

HAERBAKDBEBEI10%HE
FWAMWT :

Revenue from a customer contributing over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group is as follow:

Year ended 31 December

HE12H31BILEE
2023 2022
20236 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A — Financial services BEEA — THMREER
business 4,060 —
Customer B — Digital business EFEB — BBER 2,000 —
Customer C — Financial services BRC — TMREER
business — 5,363
7. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 7. BRRIEKEHERE

7R2022F98 230 AEBESRHBOBILE
—HHEERER

On 23 September 2022, the Group has completed disposing
the trading business to an independent third party.

BSEBERRBUNTEEREG  REE
2022F 1283 1HIEFERDEABRIER

Trading business represented the separate line of major
business and is classified as discontinued operation for the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

7.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 7. BRI

The results and cash flows of the trading business for the year

REEE ®

HE2022F12A31HIEFEEEZEBHNE

ended 31 December 2022 are as follows: BRIFERAOT .
Year ended
31 December
2022
BE20224
12H31H
IEFE
HK$'000
FHET
Revenue WA 2,534
Cost of sales & A4S (2,147)
Other income and gains H U A B W a5 79
Operating and administrative expenses KRERITHAX (982)
Loss before income tax PRPTS IR Al B 1B (516)
Income tax expenses FriSii sz —
Loss after income tax from discontinued BRI EEBIRIIEREEE
operation (516)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR 2 W
(Note 39(a)) (H13£39(a)) 2,796
Profit for the year from B IEKREETFENEF]
discontinued operation 2,280
Cash flows from discontinued operation: KB B ILEEEHEN
HWEME
Operating cash outflows KSR M (27)
Investing cash outflows BEIREMH =
Financing cash outflows AEIRE M =
Total cash outflows MIRERNE (27)
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the convertible bonds for both years.

RO M5 IR EE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE
8. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/(LOSSES) 8. HthWARWKE  (§518)
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
Continuing operations FEREER
Bank interest income ERITH B UA 189 42
Other operating income Hha& S A - 206
Changes in fair value of financial assets at UAFEBEStABGZSMEE
FVPL (Note 22(a), (b) & (c)) RTBEES (H222(a) (b)E()) (14) (499)
Written off of deposits and other M EE % & M H A E U IE
receivables (151) (8)
Government grants (vote U # B 02 — 679
Sundry income FETEWA 559 169
583 589
Note: The government grants represented a one-off subsidy under W BNEMEEBRITHRERRRERE
Employment Support Scheme launched by the Government of 2022F12A31B L FEERRMESET
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the year ended — R #E B o W BN 52 35 A B A A BT 7
31 December 2022. There are no unfulfilled conditions and other RIEMM RS R EMIAEE
contingencies attached to the receipts of those subsidies.
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MEKZE
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Continuing operations FHEREER
Imputed interest on convertible bonds ™t A {1 jRE 35 = {h EF B @ 12,310 13,319
Interest on lease liabilities HEaREME 226 405
Other borrowing costs HiEE A 39 =
12,575 13,724
Note: It represents the imputed interest on the liability component of Mz IERFEEMRESEEN 2 EEF R e
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

10.

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

10. BRFAIG#AIESIE

PRETISI A BRI GIA) THEE®%

o
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Continuing operations FEREER
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a) EI A (BIEEEMS) :
emoluments):
Salaries, wages and other benefits e LEKREHMEF 13,637 16,093
Pension scheme contributions BRIRE ST EHERR 529 425
14,166 16,518
(b) Other items: (b) EhIEE :
Auditor’s remuneration ZE M = 988 950
Depreciation expenses in respect of: MU ER
Property, plant and equipment M BE KK B 1,241 1,178
Right-of-use assets EREEE 3,579 3,580
Amortisation of intangible assets B E Y 1,706 967
Reversal of impairment loss on trade B 5 eI IE# 0]
receivables BEEE (72) (208)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ W& Rk HMMEWEIE (B
impairment loss on deposits and BUEER) BERE
other receivables (3) 5
Impairment loss on loans receivable FEWE R ERIE 25 814
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to

11. EEME

BEER LHRAUREBLDRIIRENE

the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies FESEHMMOT -
Ordinance, is as follows:
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
Executive Directors: HITESE
Fees B — —
Other emoluments: HE< :
Salaries, housing allowances, other e EERR - HAERL
allowances and benefits-in-kind KEYH = 2,770 2,955
Pension scheme contributions BASEHEIMHER 36 41
2,806 2,996
Independent non-executive Directors: BIIFRTES !
Fees BE 360 360
360 360
3,166 3,356
ANNUAL REPORT f #R » 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 1. EEME= @
(a) Independent non-executive Directors (a) BIUEMITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive Directors FRENMNBIFRATESTZHE
during the year were as follows: T

Share-based

payment Total
Fees expenses emoluments
IVY:ah]
AHERN
ik e i & 48 %8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT THET
2023: 2023%F :
Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BRIE 120 — 120
Ng Ka Sim, Casina 8= 120 — 120
Wong Wing Kit =K 120 — 120
360 — 360
2022: 20224 :
Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann Y RIE 120 — 120
Ng Ka Sim, Casina LR 120 — 120
Wong Wing Kit Bk 120 — 120
360 — 360

178 NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT



L

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 11. EEMNE @

(b) Executive Directors (b) BITES

Salaries, housing

allowances, other Pension Share-based
allowances and scheme payment Total
Fees benefits-in-kind  contributions expenses  emoluments
HEBEEE Yy
Hit28 R B®RE AERMN
ik BWAE B fTREZ ALy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER FTAET THET TET
2023: 2023F ¢
Wong Hin Shek THBR
("Mr. Wong") (TE%%)) - 1,950 18 - 1,968
Cheung Wai Yin, REE W)
Wilson (et ?) — 50 2 — 52
Tsang Kwai Ping B e
ote — 770 16 -~ 786
- 2,770 36 - 2,806
2022: 2022% ¢
Wong Hin Shek TR — 1,950 18 — 1,968
Cheung Wai Yin, REE
Wilson = 100 5 = 105
Tsang Kwai Ping BEY - 905 18 = 923
= 2,955 41 = 2,996
Notes: g2
1. Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson resigned as an executive 1. REBFLENR2023F3831HEFEH
Director with effect from 31 March 2023. TES-
2. Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping resigned as an executive Director with 2. BENZTR2023F 128 1HE#EHR

effect from 1 December 2023.

The executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
independent and non-executive Directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company and the Group.

No share options were granted to directors in respect
of their services to the Group for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

TES-

FHRATEEFIHESAWRREEE
BARBARFEREL S EREMHOR
o EMBIUMIFMITESR BN S M
BREGR/REIRDRFTEREE IR
HBIPRTS -

B E2023F K2022FE 12831814
B> EmEEAsAERRENREM
BHERTERE

B E2023F K2022FE 128318 1IEF

B> UEFHARENESHEXNEE
MERERMEZ 25k
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

11.

12.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Executive Directors (Continued)
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
no emolument was paid by the Group to the directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included one (2022: one) director. The emoluments of the
remaining four (2022: four) highest paid individuals for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

11.

12.

EEME @

(b) HITEE®)
B E2023F K2022F128318 L5
ErAERMERESITHMN > UE
ARFEEMA IR 0A A E B L
RIEAEBEBEE-

EERAABREFMAL

FERAERRLARBHFMATEE %
(2022%F | —%) EF - H E2023F12831
HIEEE R FEE (2022F | ML) BRSH
B A THER BN T

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind e EHREYANG 4,037 4,172

Pension scheme contributions BARSEEMER 71 72

Share-based payment expenses MR AERZRELZ - =

4,108 4,244

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

HK$ BT AE A#
Nil-1,000,000 £ 51,000,000 1

1,000,001-2,000,000 1,000,001%2,000,000 3 3

No share options were granted to non-director, highest paid
individuals in respect of their services to the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

There was no arrangement under which the above non-director
and highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022. No compensation for loss of office has been paid by
the Group for any individual for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT

B E2023F K2022F 12831 B IEFE > &
HIEEREESFINATHERREFIRMHE
FIRTSIR TR ARHE -

HE2023FE K2022F12831HIEEE i &E
FHFEERREFMATITHREXIRERE
A ENBI 22 HE - B 22023 % 20225128
BMTHIEEE AEBMEREAEAZCE
] o B A 18 o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

13t

INCOME TAX CREDIT

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying corporations will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities in Hong Kong that are
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. No provision for
Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the current and prior

13. FRIEMIER

RENSBEMAHN > dERDLER
2,000,000 7T 89 @ Al MU IR = 28.25% »
M8 #82,000,0008 T imFI MR ER 2
16.5% AR EANERMAEGNNEEEERS
BERHF BB IZ16. 5% —MERER MK
RAEBNBEETEBEENEERFE
LA AR K > BT HARS I B 5HE BB B R

periods as the Group has no assessable profits arising in Hong B o
Kong.
2023 2022
20235 2022%F
Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations  operation operations operation
& B4k & 241

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET TAET TAET

Continuing operations FEREER
Current tax BNHEATRIE
Hong Kong profits tax: BHEFER
— Over-provision in prior year — AEBEERHE (18) — (36) —
Deferred tax (Note 31) IRIERRIE (M7 a231) (41) — (39) -
(59) - (75) =
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

13. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

Income tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
income tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

13. FASMIER @

& EERGRE

maRnkEMEEERAE
BIRRFTISIM AT B E AR T ¢

2023 2022
20235 20224
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations operation operations operation
& B g BRI
REER IR RS REEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FTHET FHET FHET
(Loss)/profit before income tax  BRFT1SIR AT (E518) /& F (25,732) - (30,175) 2,280
Tax calculated at the BAMITER16.5%
domestic rate of 16.5% (2022: (20224 : 16.5%)
16.5%) STEMRIE (4,245) - (4,978) 376
Tax effect of income not TR RRRANR B E
taxable for tax purpose (352) - (437) (461)
Tax effect of expenses not AR NREE
deductible for tax purposes 2,736 - 3,001 —
Tax effect of tax losses not RFHRARIBEENRTE
recognised e 1,946 - 2,375 85
Utilisation of tax losses previously BNFEsCpikRERMMISE B
not recognised (126) - — —
Over-provision in prior year F—FEBERE (18) - (36) =
Total income tax credit FriSiik e MER (59) - (75) -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$60,710,000 (2022: HK$49,680,000)
available for offset against future profits that may be carried
forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT

R2023F 128318 AEE KRB BRIEEIE
#17560,710,0007 7T (20224 : 49,680,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

14.

15.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share based on the
following data:

14.

15.

[2=)

BEESAEEREHZT2023F12831H 1
FEMEMBE (20224F : &) °

BiREHE

BREARBEHEEEDRBEUTEESE !

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET TFHET
Loss attributable to owners of the Company FistE SR ER K#EEE 2
for the purpose of calculating basis and KRB EES AELEIE .
diluted loss per share:
Continuing operations FERE T (25,673) (30,100)
Discontinued operation BRIEREER — 2,280
Total loss attributable to owners of the REREREAIEKEEHRN
Company from continuing and KA EES ARG EEE
discontinued operations (25,673) (27,820)

Number of shares

ahE 4=
2023 2022
20235 20224
‘000 ‘000
TR T B
Weighted average number of ordinary MABEREAREEEIEY
shares for the purpose of calculating L@t T8
basic and diluted loss per share 579,422 525,437

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based
on the loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of 579,422,000
(2022: 525,437,000) ordinary shares in issue.

Diluted loss per share amount for both years were not
presented because the impact of the exercise of the share
options and conversion of convertible bonds was anti-dilutive.
Potential ordinary shares are dilutive when and only when their
conversion into ordinary shares would increase loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company.

EREARBEGEEILRBEANTZERR
HELERE URBETEERNINEFS
#579,422,0008% (20224 : 525,437,00088)
&

HRTTEBRERSBRIIBRESHNTES
REFEE > RItEWEEENSREEES
BERrE2R EREEETERREN
mEBRREEMANEREES ABGLER
BEE T REAEEM -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. Y% -WEKR=HE

Computer
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
Bk
HEMERE RAERE AE -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FTET FTAT TAT
COST: B
At 1 January 2022 120261818 2,376 526 3,433 6,335
Acquisition of a subsidiary WEE—RERE AR

(Note 38) (H1z38) - 3 - 3
Addition BE — 23 — 23
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AT

(Note 39(a)) (H15£39(a)) = (294) = (294)
At 31 December 2022 and 2022128318 K

1 January 2023 2023F181H 2,376 258 3,433 6,067
Addition BE - 861 — 861
At 31 December 2023 120235 12831H 2,376 1,119 3,433 6,928

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION E:HFERRERSIE
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES:
At 1 January 2022 120221818 2,376 481 423 3,280
Depreciation for the year FAITE - 34 1,144 1,178
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWRB AR

(Note 39(a)) (H15£39(a)) = (294) = (294)
At 31 December 2022 and 2022128318 &

1 January 2023 2023F181H 2,376 221 1,567 4,164
Depreciation for the year FRITE - 97 1,144 1,241
At 31 December 2023 1R2023%F12831H 2,376 318 2,71 5,405

NET CARRYING AMOUNT: IREFE !
At 31 December 2023 12023 12831H — 801 722 1,523
At 31 December 2022 1220225 12831H = 37 1,866 1,903

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

17.

GOODWILL 17. B2
HK$'000
FET
COST: B :
At 1 January 2022 71202218 1H 11,273
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 38) WHE—REW B RE (#3238) 130
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 20224128318 20231818
31 December 2023 20234128318 11,403
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES: Rt ERBE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 202251818 ~20225E128310
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 2023F1H1H%2023%F12831H 5,803
NET CARRYING AMOUNT: BRERME -
At 31 December 2023 720235 12831H 5,600
At 31 December 2022 2022412831H 5,600

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
the cash-generating unit (“CGU") identified as follows:

AEASME BEOERECHNRSE
FEA ((REEEEM) M :

2023 2022

20235 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Corporate consulting business BB ER 5,470 5,470
Digital business ISR 130 130
5,600 5,600
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

17.

GOODWILL (Continued)
Notes:
Corporate consulting business

The goodwill was arising from the acquisition of corporate consulting
business in the financial year of 2019. The carrying amount of goodwill
is HK$5,470,000 as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit of corporate consulting business (the “Corporate
Consulting Business CGU") is determined by the Directors with
reference to a valuation report issued by an independent qualified
valuer. The recoverable amount of the Corporate Consulting Business
CGU has been determined from value-in-use calculation. The calculation
used cash flow projections based on latest financial budgets approved by
the management covering a period of 5 years and at a pre-tax discount
rate of 19.46% (2022: 22.03%). The cash flow projections beyond
the 5 years periods are extrapolated using a terminal growth rate at
3% (2022: 2%). Cash flow projections during the budget period are
based on past performance and the Group management'’s expectations
for the market development and future performance of the Corporate
Consulting Business CGU. The discount rate is determined based on
the cost of capital adjusted by the specific risk associated with the
Corporate Consulting Business CGU. As the recoverable amount of the
Corporate Consulting Business CGU is higher than its carrying amount,
the Directors are in opinion that no impairment loss was considered for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Digital business

The goodwill was arising from the acquisition of digital business as
set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements during the
year ended 31 December 2022. The goodwill with the net carrying
amount of HK$130,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$130,000)
is allocated to the cash-generating unit of digital business (the “Digital
Business CGU").

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of the
Digital Business CGU is determined by the Directors with reference
to a valuation report issued by an independent qualified valuer. The
recoverable amount of the Digital Business CGU has been determined
from value-in-use calculation. The calculation used cash flow projections
based on latest financial budgets approved by the management
covering a period of 5 years and at a pre-tax discount rate of 20.52%
(2022: 20.82%). The cash flow projections beyond the 5 years periods
are extrapolated using a terminal growth rate at 3% (2022: 3%).
Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on the
Group management's expectations for the market development and
future performance of the Digital Business CGU. The discount rate is
determined based on the weighted average cost of capital reflecting the
specific risk associated with the Digital Business CGU. As the recoverable
amount of the Digital Business CGU is higher than its carrying amount,
the Directors are in opinion that no impairment loss was considered for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT

17.

EEBAER

BT RRE20190M B EEREBEEBIES -
R2023FE %2022 12831H BENEEES
5,470,000 7T ©

HZE2023512831BIEEE bE£BAXKRS
EEXEM ((EELZAEBREELEENM) W
WEISBE P HESLLE LB BE /A E
HENGERSET CEXBAEFREcELES
MM RCSELRTEREESEEE stEK
ARBEEEMEZRMMEBEBREMFEHZRS
RETER HESERR > WA EIEX19.46%
(20224 :22.03%) MR -SEHBE B ZIBER
EBANEBRIFIEEZRI% (2022F 1 2%) #
B -EHBARBZREREBEANBREBERIELU
EAEEEEERE X AAEEREELEEN
CHBEBEAKRKEMETE -MREDREL
TEBHNEBRSELBEUZEREERKRAE
ZERARAMEE HRECXABHEBHRESEL
BN ¢EsSHEKREE EERABA
EZEMEZE2023F 1283 1B IEEEEHBERE
(20224 : ) o

HIBER

HE202812831BEEE > UGGV HBRE
MsE38FTE > M ER B B IS X - 172023F
128318 B2 IREF1E130,00058 7T (20224 :
130,00087T) NECEH#BXKIRESEL BN (TH
WEEBIRSELEM) ©

BE2023F 1283 1HEFE BISXBRETELE
BN RECERESSE/UISERGER
HENGEERERTC REEHRESELBMMN
AW EIEELHIREFERAEES EEE - ZtEX
AR RBEAEREEEHL A RESEH
BWRMEBEEE R REA20.52% (2022
£ :120.82%)  SFEHBEENRERTERAHEA3I%
(2022%F 1 3%) WRIHIEREETHEE - BEEH
MRS RENNERAEESEEHRBEER
HEeEFEBEUNTBERRAKRRENER 7
HEDLRERLAKBEERESELEMARBY
BERBPMETEHERRARETE - HREBEE
KRSELEBMNIROSESNERTEE &
ERAHE2023F12B31HIEEELEE ERE
538 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. BMBEE
Trading Customer Blockchain
right relationship  technology
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c)) Tota |
R EERM%R EREREM
(Btit(a)) (Bisz(b)) (Bt (c)) %%‘1-
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET TET
COST: B
At 1 January 2022 12202218 1H 5,705 1,140 — 6,845
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—REE LR
(Note 38) (Hi5£38) — - 14,040 14,040
At 31 December 2022, 20228128318~
1 January 2023 and 2023F181H K
31 December 2023 2023%12831H 5,705 1,140 14,040 20,885
ACCUMULATED Rt KR ERSE
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES:
At 1 January 2022 1202218 1H 2,805 646 — 3,451
Amortisation for the year FREH — 228 739 967
At 31 December 2022 122022%12831H
and 1 January 2023 ’2023F181H 2,805 874 739 4,418
Amortisation for the year FREH — 228 1,478 1,706
At 31 December 2023 2023%12831H 2,805 1,102 2,217 6,124
NET CARRYING AMOUNT: BRERE
At 31 December 2023 12023F12831H 2,900 38 11,823 14,761
At 31 December 2022 7220225128318 2,900 266 13,301 16,467
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The Group holds two trading rights of the business carrying
on the regulated activities of Type 1 (dealing in securities)
(“Type 1”), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) (“Type 4 & 9") as defined under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). Trading right have indefinite useful life and therefore no
amortisation has been provided. On 31 July 2023, the Group
was applied to the SFC for cessation of Type 1 business and
the trading right of HK$1,600,000 was fully impaired in the
previous year. The recoverable amount of the trading right of
Type 4 & 9 is determined by the Directors with reference to a
valuation report issued by an independent qualified valuer and
has been determined by value in use calculation by using cash
flow projections based on the latest financial budgets approved
by the management covering a period of 5 years and at a pre-
tax discount rate of 23.42% (2022: 25.75%). The cash flow
projections beyond the 5 years periods are extrapolated using a
growth rate at 3% (2022: 2%). As the recoverable amount of
trading right of Type 4 and 9 is higher than its carrying amount,
the Directors are in the opinion that no impairment loss was
considered for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Customer relationship of HK$1,140,000 represented the
intangible assets arose from the acquisition of corporate
consulting business and was valued as of the respective date of
acquisition by an independent qualified valuer on the basis of
the excess earnings method under the income approach. The
management of the Group considered customer relationship has
finite useful lives of 5 years and is amortised on a straight-line
basis.

Blockchain technology of HK$14,040,000 represented the
intangible assets arose from the acquisition of digital business
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, blockchain technology with the net
carrying amount of HK$11,823,000 (2022: HK$13,301,000) is
attributable to the Digital Business CGU with which the goodwill
amount is recognised. The management of the Group considered
blockchain technology has finite useful lives and is amortised on
a straight-line basis over 9.5 years. As the recoverable amount
of the Digital Business CGU is approximately HK$14.4 million,
which exceeds its carrying amount, there is a headroom of
approximately HK$2.3 million. Therefore, no impairment loss was
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023. Details of the
impairment assessment of that cash-generating unit are set out
in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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(b)

AEMBERBESRBEER &EEM
$5718) FRAREMNHE14E EFHERH) (T$1
) F4E ESREER) RFE (R
HEEER) (IPARE)) SHREFTHHE
509 M 18 32 5 1 © 32 5 1 4R B TE 1E PR HABR »
(R LG 43 S 3 88 B sH IR B85 48 © 7R2023F7 831
B AEEMABSEERARLEFI1HERS
325 #1,600,0008 TER E—EE 2%
BB FAREE SN E & EEHE
E2EFUCERGEMEENGHERS
BE UREEEBHERSSFEHBNER
MM ETAE  HMATITIRE23.42% (2022
fF12575%) stEBRESREN BEEMFEH
BE - SFHEENRSRBATLER3I%
(20225 1 2%) MG REHER - AR FEI K
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FEMEEBRERBE
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ERRFENAIERFRARRE  TRE

HZE2022F 12831 HIEFE > BIRER
14,040,000 716 R B IR BB S £ K &
FEE-

$22023%F 128318 BREREMAORE F
811,823,000 7 (20224 : 13,301,000
) BEBERRcELE HBHESEE
ERER -AEEBSEER A  EIRBEM
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

L

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. FREEE
HK$'000
FET
COST: s
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 7R2022FE181H 2022128318~
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 2023F1A1H K2023F12831H 10,498
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION: ZHetine -
At 1 January 2022 720225 181H 356
Depreciation for the year FERITE 3,580
At 31 December 2022 52022128315 3,936
Depreciation for the year ERITE 3,579
At 31 December 2023 7R2023F12831H 7.515
NET CARRYING AMOUNT: IREFE -
At 31 December 2023 72023%F12831H 2,983
At 31 December 2022 $R2022F12831H 6,562
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total cash outflow for leases HERe ML 4E%E 4,056 3,719

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s right to use
underlying leased premises under operating lease arrangements
over the lease terms, which are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liabilities.

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of 3 years (2022: 3 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

(R E A A BRI BT 2 SR
£8P0 62 PR AR RO I B M0 R » HLTH I AL A
R HTEE 25 2t PRI B A T B
BT

RREFE cERSEEFIHEEZE
MAZE - HESHEERRDIE (2022F :
3F) - HERRLRERERES AT
B 5 TR B Ak 1 o 72 72 AH B AR KT A~ 7
RIAHE AEERXAGHNER LEES
KETHITRIHAMR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

20. REE QTR

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
At beginning of the year RER] 522 —
Addition through acquisition of BEWE—EREARRE
a subsidiary (Note 38) (H5%38) — 146
Addition R"E — 559
Dividend income from an associate RE—MEEEABNKRBWA (60) =
Share of loss for the year FRDILEE (462) (183)
At end of the year REFR — 522
Details of the Group’s associates are as follows: REEBEATWNEBUT :
Particulars of  Place of Percentage of
Name of company issued capital incorporation interest held Principal activities
RERTE BRITRAFE sEMAIIthES FEEZRDL  FEEH
2023 2022
20234 20225
Articoin Limited (“Articoin”) HK$100 Hong Kong 20% 20% Art technology
1007 &A BT RS
Mapxus Metaverse US$256,411 British Virgin 28% 28% Indoor map on
Investment Limited Islands blockchain digital
("Mapxus”) twin
BEZTFHEERRAS 256,411%7w HBEYHE EIRBHIBEL IR
(Mg E ) el

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 20. REEATNED @
The summarised financial information of the Articoin &% B ArticoinE F£20234F & 2022F 12831
extracted from its management accounts for the years ended HIEFENSERENTBEERBMENT !

31 December 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Articoin Articoin
As at 31 December 128318
Current assets MEIE E 103 624
Current liabilities mEAE (794) (12)
Net assets BETEHE (691) 612
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in 75 & E fE{5 Articoin %5 ¥R :
Articoin:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBEBREMLE 20% 20%
Group's share of net assets of the associate ZN&EEE(LHE N T B E S — 122
Carrying amount of the investment KERAE — 122
Revenue WA 301 1,934
Loss for the year FERNEE (431) (118)
Other comprehensive income Hh2mEURA (300) =
Total comprehensive income THEINALRZE (731) (118)
Reconciliation to the Group’s share of Zx&EBE{LArticoin¥ &M
result in Articoin: HER -
Proportion of the Group’s ownership KEEEBENLLA 20% 20%
Group's share of loss of the associate REEEEHEQABNEE (62) (24)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The summarised financial information of the Mapxus and its
subsidiary (“Mapxus Group”) extracted from its management

accounts for the years ended 31 December

2023 and 2022 is

20. REEATINER @

HikEREFAENB AR (EEFER)
E§§2023¢&2022¢12531 HIEFENE
BERENTHFENBEENT

as follows:
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Mapxus Group BB EE
As at 31 December 128318
Current assets mENEE 69 1,723
Current liabilities mEaE (462) (293)
Net assets BERFE (393) 1,430
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in 75 & E fE(LHE E sE = @A
Mapxus Group: HER -
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBHEBREMLE 28% 28%
Group's share of net assets of the associate Z~5EEE(LEi= AT & EFLE — 400
Carrying amount of the investment KERAE — 400
Revenue WA - —
Loss for the year FANEE (1,810) (570)
Other comprehensive income Hh2mmUlA — =
Total comprehensive income U ALEZE (1,810) (570)
Dividend received from the associate REE LT EWERBEE — —
Reconciliation to the Group’s share of ZAEEELEEZREFESN
result in Mapxus Group: HER -
Proportion of the Group's ownership AEBEHEB N 28% 28%
Group's share of loss of the associate REEBEHEABNEE (400) (159)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

21.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

On 22 February 2022, the Group acquired 43.75% of the
issued share capital of a private company, with the aim of
involving in the investment in special purpose acquisition
company (“SPAC") projects with 2.88% effective equity
interest, at a consideration of US$350,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,730,000). The investment was recognised
as financial asset at FVOCI. The carrying amount of financial
asset at FVOCI is HK$1,265,000 as at 31 December 2022.
On 6 October 2023, the SPAC projects is terminated and
the Group is entitled to a refund of USD242,900 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,895,000), which represents 69.4%
of the original USD350,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,730,000) subscription funds. The increase in fair value
of this financial asset of approximately HK$630,000 (2022:
decrease in fair value of HK$1,465,000) has been dealt with
in other comprehensive income and FVOCI reserve for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

On 16 August 2019, the Group acquired 10% of the issue
share capital of a private company as financial assets at FVOCI
at cash consideration of HK$2,000,000. As at 31 December
2023, the Group's shareholding in this private company
was approximately 9.55% (2022: 9.55%). The carrying
amount of financial asset at FVOCI is HK$1,473,000 (2022:
HK$1,788,000). The decrease in fair value of this financial asset
of approximately HK$315,000 (2022: HK$397,000) has been
dealt with in other comprehensive income and FVOCI reserve
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

21.

L

URTEESFARMEZEBAZERM
BE

1R20228F2822H » & B LI1E350,000%
7t (BE R 492,730,00058 75) We B —RIFA A
ABEIBI43.75%EHTRA > UL EKE
BHHRENWELAR (THHENKEAR)
2.88%ERHEGDIBH ZREBRAUAF
BEFAEMEZEWRAZ SREE 722022
F128318 MAFEEFAEMEZE K
mEMEEZIREERS,265,00087T°
2023510868 RHHBM KB AEIEE
BiE MAE BB EERIERIE242,900%
7T (FBHFEMNA91,895,0008 7T) » HERER K
350,000% 7t (FHE 12 492,730,00058 7T) 058
BEEM69.4% ZBESHMEENAFEEE
049630,0008 75 (20224 | AFEBERD
1,465,000 7T) BB E2023F12831H 1E
FENEMEEWARMUAFEEST AHM
EEWAREBERRE-

R2019488 160 AEBEURE S RE
2,000,00058 T W fiE — R FA A QA BI B 81T R
AW10% > EAUAFEESAEMZEIK
ATz SHMBE R2023F128318 ~&EH
Rz AR B HIRIEA499.55% (20224 :
9.55%) c MAFEBE AEMEE KA
SREEMNREEA1,473,0008 7T (2022
£ :1,788,000/87T) cZETREENAF
BIER /1 49315,000% 7T (20224 : 397,000
A7) BEREE2023F12831HIEFENH
tEEWARUAFEESAEMEEERA
RERNRE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

22.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

22. UAFEESAABGZEHEE

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FTET

Investment in a private company ®ete @ R—RIE R BN E WEe) 263 319
Put option in relation to acquisition of BB RN B AR BB

a subsidiary ™t ®) (Note 38) Wz (7 2£38) — 53

Listed equity instrument in Hong Kong at &B ELHRATE  ##HHEE

market value (et @ ) 407 312

Investments in concerts (¥ote @) BB E WEd) 3,901 —

4,571 684

Less: Non-current portion B IEmENES (263) (372)

Current portion mEIE D 4,308 312

Notes: et -

(@)  On 29 October 2020, the Group entered into a simple agreement (@) H2020F 10829 AEE R — A E
for future equity with a private company to grant the Group the REGTURRBEEEERZ BTFTEAER
future right to acquire certain shares of the private company WHEETZMLE QAT RMDIRERETR R
at a consideration of US$150,000 (equivalent to approximately f5#150,000% 7t (FHE R #1,170,000%
HK$1,170,000). The right is classified as financial asset at FVPL. TT) MWD EAUATFEBEF AR
The decrease in fair value of this financial asset of HK$56,000 has Z2EMEE - LEMEENRATEERD
been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 56,0008 0 BER&E 202351283181k
2023 (2022: HK$71,000). FEBE PR (20224 1 71,000587T) ©

(b)  The decrease in fair value of this financial assets of HK$53,000 by ZEREEZAFEERL53,0008TE

has been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Fair value of the listed equity instrument in Hong Kong has
been determined by reference to its quoted market price at the
reporting date in an active market. Fair value of the listed trading
portfolio investment is Level 1 recurring fair value measurement.
The increase in fair value of this financial asset of HK$95,000 has
been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: decrease in fair value of HK$428,000).

The Group entered into several investment agreements to invest
in the production/organisation of certain concerts, which entitle
the Group to, among others, the rights to share the net profit
or loss of the respective concerts and entertainment events
attributable to the Group, as appropriate, in accordance with
the terms of the respective investment agreements. The Group
measured, at initial recognition, the cost of these investments
based on the cash considerations for these investments. Their
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period represented
the fair values of the estimated net future cash flows from
these investments attributable to the Group. The fair value of
investments in concerts as at 31 December 2023 are determined
by reference to a valuation report issued by independent qualified
valuer. The increase in fair value of this financial assets of
HK$181,000 has been recognised in profit of loss for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT

REZE2023F12831HIEEEBE R R
(2022 & : ) o

EEBLHHRATIENATEELSRE
HERBEHHEERMIBENMIBRERE
Ee LR ZHEHERENATEELSE—
EREMEATEEFE - LESMEENQ
FEEHE 95,0008 T BERNEZE20234
128318 IEFEBRPRER (2022F . AF
B{ER428,00087T) ©

AEBBITRERE RS UWRERE/
ABmETEES RBERRERREGEIO
AEBE#E (HH R ESEAEBERELE
FEEE MR EEHFEMNXEE R
R AEERBEZELRENRER
B EZERENM B ZERENRE
HANEEEERALAERRGEZELEN
EEHARAKRREREFENAFTEBE ZSF
EIEEIREN2023F12831HNAFEE
B2 EBISERGEMBEENGERS
EE -ZzMBEEZAFEMEIENMN181,000
BITEREE2023F12831HIEFEEHR
FRFEST
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

23. INVENTORIES 23. 78

2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Digital assets inventories YITEERES 418 418

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. BEZEWRFRIE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade receivables B 5 W IE 4,969 6,280
Less: Provision for impairment losses BB ERIEEE (1,102) (3,897)
3,867 2,383

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit period is generally one month. Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables and has credit control
procedures established to monitor credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade receivables

are non-interest-bearing.

The settlement term of trade receivables arising from the
business of dealing securities is two business days after trade

date (“T+2").

As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables from cash clients
related to a wide range of customers for whom there was no
recent history of default. Based on the past experience, current
assessment and the available forward-looking information, the
management believes that no additional impairment allowance
is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are

considered fully recoverable.

As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables from HKSCC is
current which represents pending trades arising from the
financial business of securities dealing and are normally due on

“T+2" day in accordance with the requirements of HKSCC.

On 31 July 2023, the Group applied to the SFC for the
cessation of securities brokerage business. As a result, no trade
receivables from cash clients and HKSCC were recorded as of

the year ended 31 December 2023.

FEBBEAZERZBRHRREIEZUEES
T EEHR—RBA—ER -BREREERS
EEREE - AE B RS IEHIRGEEZBIER
PoURABEERFUEREERR 8k
EEAEGEMBRS BRI E 5B
BERRRE-

REZBHEBSEFNE ZEWFIENLEEH
BAaXSZEEMESZED ((T+2)) °

R2022F 128310 REZEF BRBANEW
HERPESMBERIAIEHENLE R
BESLR ROTEAIESBEEEN &
BERA BHREEEE2TESEAE B
ZEE R AT LR E - BEER X
LRI IREEINRE R o

1R2022F 12831 H BNEEBEEME S
MEZNA B REESEESRER
WRHRR S B—REBEBEEMRER
MM+2 8 2H-

R2023F7831H  AEBRAEBEZTRAR
I HEADEFR AL REZE2023F124
BMEILEEETERSHKEREEEREBLE
HFFE Z RIS -

ANNUAL REPORT F #§ » 2023

195



196

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 24. BFREWFERIE @
Details of trade receivables as at the end of reporting period, REEHR > EZEWEENFEBUNT :

are as follows:

2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables from financial services B EBEMIMERIRFEERN
business other than dealing in securities B 52 I 2,253 315
Trade receivables from corporate consulting &2 52750 8 5 FE WIS
business 508 317
Trade receivables from digital business HIFEENE 5 EWARIE 988 20
3,749 652
Trade receivables from the business of EBHEBEEBNE S EWHRIE
dealing in securities
— Cash clients — HEER — 106
— HKSCC — BBEERR - 54
— Brokers — &4 118 1,571
118 1,731
3,867 2,383
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

24.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of impairment
losses, arising from business other than dealing in securities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date

are as follows:

24. B RIS @)

REERR KEBHEEBUNEZTNES
FEWR IR GOEREEBR) HIRE DT (R

FEEHBWTF :

2023 2022

2023%F 2022%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Within 30 days 30BA 2,346 221
31 to 60 days 31260H 1,163 236
61 to 120 days 612120H 88 77
Over 120 days 120BXU £ 152 118
3,749 652

The movement in the expected credit loss under lifetime
expected credit loss-not credit-impaired for trade receivables
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as

HE2023F K2022FE12831HIEEENE
SRERWHBEELPEBEEERE—FEER

ETHREREEEREHUT

follows:
2023 2022
2023% 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January K1B18 3,897 8,482
Reversal of impairment loss for the year FAN R EREREE (72) (208)
Written off of trade receivables T5E B 5 R I8 (2,723) =
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR - (4,377)
At 31 December ®12831H 1,102 3,897
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES

25.

FRfTRIE B2 R HEthEURIE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FTET

Prepayments BT RIE 1,062 296
Deposits and other receivables 7 & K ELh g W sk 18 1,606 1,705
2,668 2,001

Less: Provision for impairment losses OB EEEE S (17) (20)
2,651 1,981

Less: Non-current portion B IERENE D (1,358) (1,354)
Current portion mEE D 1,293 627

The movements in the expected credit loss under 12-months
expected credit loss for the deposits and other receivables for

B E2023F K2022F12B31BLEEFEE &S
FREMEWRIEEI12EB BHEEEHIE TN

the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: FEHEEBENEEHI T !
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 January M1B1H 20 167

(Reversal of impairment loss)/ FA (REMBEBERD) REREE

impairment loss for the year 3) 5
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR — (152)
At 31 December 128318 17 20
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

26.

LOANS RECEIVABLE & & =
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Gross loans and interest receivables FEWN B F K F) B A2 B 5,272 4,789
Less: Provision for impairment loss BB EREEE (1,111) (1,086)
4,161 3,703

Note: HtaE -

As at 31 December 2023, loans receivable with gross principal amount
of HK$5,170,000 (2022: HK$4,720,000) in aggregate and related gross
interest receivables of HK$102,000 (2022: HK$69,000) were due from
four (2022: three) independent third parties. These loans are interest-
bearing at fixed rates ranging from 8% to 15% (2022: 8% to 12%) per
annum and was repayable within twelve months from the end of the
reporting period and therefore were classified as current assets as at
31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group has no collateral over loans receivable as at 31 December
2023 and 2022. Impairment loss of HK$25,000 (2022: HK$814,000) has
been recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2023.

The movements in the expected credit loss for loans receivable for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

K2023F12831H > &5t A& 48%85,170,0005% 7T

(20224 : 4,720,000 7T) ZEWE R HREE
WA B 48 %8102,00058 7T (20224 : 69,0007 7T) »
Thma (20225 : =%) BYE=FFE R %%
BERIZ8% E15%EEFFZEE (20225F | 8% =E
12%) > BRBEHAKRET 1288 REE > AR
2023F K%2022F12B31H AR B E -

R2023FE %2022F128310 AEB M ERKE
FURIH & o B ZE2023F 12831 HIEEE » 25,0008
7t (20224 : 814,000/87T) MR EFEEREBRT

HZE2023FE K202 12831 HIEEE  EIRER
NEREEBBEESHUNT .

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At 1 January B1A1H 1,086 272
Impairment loss for the year FRBERE 25 814
At 31 December 128318 1,111 1,086
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

26.

LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

Reconciliation of gross carrying amount for loans receivable for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

26. FERER @

HE2023F K2022F12B31HIEFEEW

EMIREBENHROT ¢

Stage 1 Stage 2 Total

FE—REEL FEPEER et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHT

At 1 January 2022 %2022%181H 1,007 4,407 5,414

New loans originated EEENHER 5,084 886 5,970

Repayment BEM (5,084) (1,511) (6,595)

Transfer B (1,007) 1,007 =
At 31 December 2022 and 7R2022F12A318 &

1 January 2023 2023F181H — 4,789 4,789
New loans originated BEEENHER 2,121 603 2,724
Repayment B (101) (2,140) (2,241)
At 31 December 2023 220235128318 2,020 3,252 5,272

The movements in the expected credit loss in respect of loans
receivable for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is

as follows:

HE2023F K2022F12B31HIEFEEW

ERNBRREEHBRESHNT !

Stage 1 Stage 2 Total

FE—PEEL FEPEER et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHT

At 1 January 2022 1202241818 29 243 272

Impairment loss for the year FRBERBE — 814 814

Transfer B (29) 29 —
At 31 December 2022 and 72022FE 12831 &

1 January 2023 2023F181H — 1,086 1,086

Impairment loss/(reversal of FARERE
impairment loss) for the year (REEEREE) 421 (396) 25
At 31 December 2023 712023FE12831H 421 690 1,111
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

26.

27.

LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the loans receivable, net of impairment
losses as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
remaining contractual maturity date is set out below:

FEWRER @

PR S HASR - LURIBR & A9 ZI B B I 0 BRIRLE
BENERERREDTOT :

2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Overdue B HA 688 461
Due within 3 months 31@ B A £ Hf 880 1,730
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 3B B & EB6@AE R ZEIH 2,593 1,512
4,161 3,703

BANK BALANCES AND CASH RITHEBRRTEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Bank balances — trust accounts R1T4ERR — (S5CARP 78 70 11,775
Bank balances and cash — general accounts  $RfT#&ERARIES — —HRERE 14,127 23,031
14,197 34,806

Note: The Group receives and holds money deposited by clients in the
course of the conduct of the regulated activities. These clients
money are maintained in a trust bank account and a financial
institution and bear interest at commercial rates. The Group has
recognised the corresponding trade payables to respective clients
(Note 29).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank balances and cash
— general accounts amounted to approximately HK$14,127,000
(2022: approximately HK$23,031,000), approximately
HK$80,000 was denominated in RMB, and approximately
HK$14,047,000 was denominated in Hong Kong Dollars (2022:
approximately HK$80,000 and approximately HK$22,951,000
respectively). Therein, approximately HK$13,855,000 (2022:
approximately HK$23,025,000) were bank balances deposited
with credit worthy banks of high credit ratings in Hong Kong.
There is no pledged deposit as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.

M AEEEETRAEEHFRNLEE R
FEBHMIAE - ZFZERHREAR—EE
SERITRPRMERBRELIZEENEK
SRR AEHEHIBNITANERE
ZEARRIE (15E29) ©

R2023F 128318 AEBEZRITHEGF K
e ——fREIRF A%914,127,0008 7T (2022
1 #923,031,000% 7t) > 4980,00078 7t
AR E UEE14,047,00058 7T LB
TCEHE (20224 : BRI A480,0008 T &
#922,951,0007 7t) » EH14713,855,00058 ¢
(20224 : #923,025,00057T) AEHNE
BEAAEEEENRAGEREFIRITZRITHE
BR o By E2023F K2022FE 128310 &R
EIRERR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HHE&AE
The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial FFAGEMBRARNEESaGEEENRE
position in respect of the carrying amounts of lease liabilities SIS -

and the movements during the years are as follows:

Land and
buildings
TR AEF
HK$'000
THETT
At 1 January 2022 5220221 81H 10,139
Interest expenses FMEMZ 405
Lease payments GEN=—RNEN (3,719)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 1£2022F12831H %2023F181H 6,825
Interest expenses MEMZ 226
Lease payments HEMR (4,056)
At 31 December 2023 112023 12831H 2,995
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Minimum lease payment due REEE (TR LT B [ 2 2P
— Within one year — —FR 3,043 4,056
- In the second to fifth years, inclusive —F_EFLF (BIEEEME) - 3,043
3,043 7,099
Less: Future finance charges A == (48) (274)
Present value of lease liabilities HEEBERE 2,995 6,825
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

28. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

28. FHE&E®

2023 2022

20235 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FET

Within one year —FR 2,995 3,830
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FE_EELF (BEEEME) — 2,995
2,995 6,825

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities at 4.89% for the years ended 31 December

2023 and 2022.

29. TRADE PAYABLES

Details of trade payables as at the end of reporting period are

B E2023F K2022F 12831 HIEEE B
AR EaEMNNMEFEHESERIES
4.89% o

29. B FEMRIE

RBESHR BSRARENFBOT

as follows:
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade payables from the business of BHEEEBNE S ENNIE
dealing in securities
— Cash clients (ot — RERpH WD 188 12,772
- HKSCC — BBEEM — 6
Trade payables from digital business IS EHBENE 5 B HRIE — 305
188 13,083
Note: As at 31 December 2022, the Group had trade payables due Brat D FR20226 128318 AEBENF—KAA

to a private company, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Wong,
of approximately HK$3,271,000 was arising from the Group's
ordinary course of business in dealing securities. The transaction
with such related company were carried out in normal course of

business.

NE (HELRELEREE) NEZELRIE
%#93,271,0008 70 ZENRIET R AE
EEHRERBRTEERSMESE &
ZRABHAINRZELEEERBEFE
fTe
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

29. TRADE PAYABLES (Continued) 29. BRREMNRE @
The settlement term of trade payables arising from the business REFSEEBEHNEZEMNHRIBNEEH
of dealing securities is T+2. fRAT+20
An ageing analysis of trade payables arising from business RBERR KBRS EEMUINEBNES
other than dealing in securities as at the end of reporting FERIBREZ A &N RE D
period based on the invoice date/contractual term, are as TS 8
follows:
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Within 30 days 30HA — 201
31 to 60 days 31£60H — —
61 to 120 days 612120H — 104
Over 120 days 120B £ — =
- 305
30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 30. H{thFE(dRIE K EsHRIE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Other payables H e I 3,579 530
Accruals FESTFRIE 3,776 1,965
7,355 2,495
Note: P -

Other payables and accruals mainly comprised of loan from Mr. Wong
of approximately HK$1,889,000 (2022: Nil), accrued office expenses and
provision of long service payment.

The loan from Mr. Wong is unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per
annum and repayable within one year.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 31, BREREEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
As at 1 January K118 431 560
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 38) WebE —REk B AR (Ba38) - (90)
Credit to profit or loss for the year FFAFEANB T (41) (39)
As at 31 December K12E31H 390 431
The deferred tax liabilities arising from amortisation of FIERIEEERBREEERH -
intangible assets.
32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 32. AI#RRAES
2023 2022
2023%F 20226
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
2008 CBs (as defined below) (ote @ 2008F Al ARG (B 55
(EER T ) W) — 12,935
2022 CBs (as defined below) (Mete ) 2022F n[ R ESH
(EER T Wwaw) 70,214 72,175
2023 CB (as defined below) ®efe © 2023F I ARG (B
(E&ER T ) W) 7,717 —
Team Sunny CB (as defined below) ®ote @ TERA PRI RG &5
(E% B TF7) W@ _ _
77,931 85,110
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

2008 CBs

On 12 August 2008, the Company issued a convertible bonds
as part of the consideration for the acquisition of forest
concessions in Papua, Indonesia (the “2008 CBs").

Subject to the restrictions specified below (the “Conversion
Restriction”), the 2008 CBs are convertible at the option of the
bondholders into ordinary shares in the Company at the initial
conversion price of HK$0.1 per share (subject to adjustments as
provided in the terms and conditions of the 2008 CBs) at any
time from the date of issue and ending on the fifth business day
before the third anniversary of the date of issue:

o The bondholders do not have the right to convert any
principal amount of the 2008 CBs into new shares of
the Company thereof, if upon such conversion, Merdeka
Commodities Limited and the parties acting in concert
with it will be interested in 30% (or such amount as may
from time to time be specified in the Codes on Takeovers
and Mergers and Share Repurchases as being the level
for triggering a mandatory general offer) or more of the
enlarged issued share capital of the Company at the date
of relevant conversion;

o The conversion of the 2008 CBs shall not cause the
Company to be in breach of the minimum public float
requirement as stipulated under Rule 11.23 of the GEM
Listing Rules; and

o The bondholders do not have the right to convert any
2008 CBs with the principal amount falling between the
range of HK$350,000,000 to HK$776,880,000 at any
time during the period from the issue date up to and
inclusive of the date that falls on the first anniversary of
the issue date.

The 2008 CBs are unsecured, interest-free and have an initial
maturity date at 12 August 2011. Unless converted into the
shares of the Company (the “Shares”), the outstanding balance
of the 2008 CBs would be redeemed in full on maturity.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT

psz -

(a)

32. AR ES @

2008 F A IR 1E S

R2008%E8812H AR B ETHBKRE
HoEANBIHEER A RMSHFES
B (T2008F A IR ES ) ©

BEFAATERE RECTHARERTH
Hm=BEZAEREEXA LHBRAN
BRZENY THREESR BT (FRE
2008F AR E S 2 AR R AR FRETBR &
MaE%) ’KF2008F FJ AR EF R B AR E
BB 1EZ T XPFIRRS (TR RE)

o MR 2118 > Merdeka Commodities
Limited & B E — 478 A £ HHERA
DHHRREELALNTER ZLHE
AEHTRAE30% (FHATKRE &
HERGDBLETAIELRHIEES
fEEasEEmB B EN KT
BREDL) U L% BESRFE
R A B B A5 T 120085 7] #2 iR
BHEZARESBERRBERBIFRD ;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

2008 CBs (Continued)

By the first supplemental deed dated 30 May 2011, the maturity
date of the 2008 CBs was extended for 3 years and the
conversion period was accordingly extended from 12 August
2011 to 12 August 2014. Upon becoming effective of the first
supplemental deed, the Company might at any time during
the period commencing from the date of extension to the new
maturity date to redeem the whole or part of the outstanding
2008 CBs at par on a pro rata basis. Also, the Conversion
Restriction was removed. Apart from the extension of the
maturity date, the conversion period, the early redemption right
and the removal of the Conversion Restriction, all terms of the
2008 CBs remain unchanged.

By the second supplemental deed dated 9 July 2014, the
maturity date of the 2008 CBs was extended for 3 years and
the conversion period was accordingly extended from 12
August 2014 to 12 August 2017. Upon becoming effective
of the second supplemental deed, the Company might at any
time during the period commencing from the date of extension
to the new maturity date to redeem the whole or part of the
outstanding 2008 CBs on a pro rata basis.

Upon effective of the second supplemental deed, the 2008 CBs
was valued by the Directors with reference to a valuation report
issued by Roma Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified
valuer not connected to the Group. Gain on extinguishment
of convertible bonds of approximately HK$39,480,000 was
recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2014.

By the third supplemental deed dated 20 January 2017, the
maturity date of the 2008 CBs was extended for 3 years and
the conversion period was accordingly extended from 12 August
2017 to 12 August 2020 (the “Previous Maturity Date”).
Upon becoming effective of the third supplemental deed, the
Company might at any time during the period commencing from
the date of extension to the Previous Maturity Date to redeem
the whole or part of the outstanding 2008 CBs on a pro rata
basis. Also, the conversion price and the adjustment events to
the conversion price had been changed. The conversion price
have been adjusted to HK$0.095 per share.

Upon effective of the third supplemental deed, the 2008 CBs
was valued by the Directors of the Company with reference to
a valuation report issued by International Valuation Limited, an
independent qualified valuer not connected with the Group.
Gain on extinguishment of convertible bond of approximately
HK$31,162,000 was recognised in the profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2017.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

2008 CBs (Continued)

Upon effective of the Share consolidation on the basis that every
ten issued and unissued shares of par value of HK$0.001 each in
the share capital of the Company will be consolidated into one
consolidated share of par value of HK$0.01 each, the conversion
price of 2008 CBs adjusted to HK$0.95 per share.

By the fourth supplemental deed dated 10 January 2020, the
maturity date of the 2008 CBs was extended for a further
term of three years from 13 August 2020 to 12 August 2023.
Upon becoming effective of the third supplemental deed, the
Company might at any time during the period commencing
from the date of extension to the Previous Maturity Date to
redeem the whole or part of the outstanding 2008 CBs on a
pro rata basis. Also, the conversion price of the 2008 CBs be
revised from HK$0.95 per conversion share to HK$0.110 per
conversion share with effect from 13 August 2020 (subject to
adjustments). Save for the above amendments, all other terms
of the 2008 CBs remain unchanged and valid. On 29 June 2020,
the Company made a partial redemption in the principal amount
of HK$55,000,000 on part of the 2008 CBs.

Upon effective of the fourth supplemental deed, the 2008 CBs
was valued by the Directors with reference to a valuation report
issued by an independent qualified valuer not connected with
the Group. Gain on modification of terms of convertible bonds
of HK$2,502,000 and loss on redemption of convertible bonds
of HK$2,444,000 were recognised in the profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

On 17 June 2021, upon the effective of the share consolidation
on the basis that every ten issued and unissued shares of the
Company (the “Share(s)”) of par value of HK$0.01 each in
the share capital of the Company be consolidated into one
consolidated share of par value of HK$0.1 each, the conversion
price of 2008 CBs adjusted to HK$1.100 per conversion share.

On 22 July 2021, the Company completed a rights issue (the
“2021 Rights Issue”) and allotted and issued 346,310,897
Shares, on the basis of five (5) rights shares for every two
(2) Shares held on 28 June 2021 at the subscription price of
HK$0.15 per rights share. Upon the completion of the 2021
Rights Issue, the conversion price of 2008 CBs was adjusted to
HK$0.90 per conversion share.

On 28 December 2022, upon the completion of the subscription
and issue of 2022 CBs, the principal amount of HK$55,000,000
of 2008 CBs was offset and settled with the subscription price of
2022 CBs.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

2008 CBs (Continued)

On 14 July 2023, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Team Sunny, pursuant to which Team Sunny
conditionally agreed to subscribe and the Company conditionally
agreed to issue the convertible bond (the “2023 CB") in the
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 (which are convertible
into conversion shares at the conversion price of HK$0.108 per
conversion share (subject to adjustments)) for the settlement of
the outstanding debts due from the Company to the holders
of 2008 CBs in aggregate of HK$10,000,000. The subscription
amount payable by Team Sunny under the subscription
agreement shall be satisfied by way of offsetting the aggregate
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 under the convertible bonds
as part of the consideration for the 2008 CBs and payable by the
Company to the holders of 2008 CBs.

On 31 August 2023, upon the completion of the subscription
and issue of 2023 CB and the completion of share subscription,
all the outstanding principal amount of 2008 CBs was duly
settled.

The 2008 CBs contain two components, the liability and equity
components. The equity component is presented in equity as an

“Equity component of convertible bonds”.

The effective interest rate of the liability component is as follow:
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Supplemental Supplemental Supplemental Supplemental
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FUREAEE F=MHZTEE F_OHHEAEE F—HEREE

Effective interest rate BRI 14.72% 10.11% 14.13% 11.66%

The effective interest rate of liability component was adjusted to
14.59% upon the modification of the terms of convertible bonds
on 28 December 2022.
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14.59% o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fr B B FE FR KRBT 5E
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE
32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
(a) 2008 CBs (Continued)

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
bonds for the year was set out below:

32.

AR ES @
Kt ;o (&)
(a) 2008£EF R &S (&)

FRAMRES AR DS HIIW T

2023 2022

2023%F 20226

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At the beginning of the year REA] 12,935 53,147
Interest charged FIEER 1,133 8,211
Derecognition by subscription of shares FRRERMD AL ILFER (4,068) —

Derecognition by subscription of 2023 CB BBRE2023E KR ES

(as defined below) (EHRR T #&RIFESR (10,000) —
Modification of the terms of convertible bonds &5] AI# AR &5 YRR — (48,423)
At the end of the year RER — 12,935

(b) 2022 CBs

On 14 November 2022, the Company entered into the
subscription agreement with Team Sunny, pursuant to which
Team Sunny conditionally agreed to subscribe and the Company
conditionally agreed to issue the convertible bonds (the “2022
CBs"”) in the principal amount of HK$91,000,000 for the
settlement of the outstanding debts due from the Company to
Team Sunny in aggregate of HK$91,000,000. The subscription
amount payable by Team Sunny under the subscription
agreement shall be satisfied by way of offsetting (i) the principal
amount of HK$55,000,000 under the 2008 CBs and payable by
the Company to Team Sunny; and (ii) the outstanding principal
amount of HK$36,000,000 under Team Sunny CB and payable
by the Company to Team Sunny.

The conversion price per conversion share for HK$55,000,000 of
the principal amount of the 2022 CBs for the period from the
date of issue of the 2022 CBs up to and including 12 August
2023 shall be HK$0.90 per conversion share and for the period
from 13 August 2023 up to and including the maturity date shall
be HK$0.186 per conversion share; and The conversion price per
conversion share for HK$36,000,000 of the principal amount
of the 2022 CBs for the period from the date of issue of the
2022 CBs up to and including 21 May 2023 shall be HK$0.903
per conversion share and for the period from 22 May 2023
up to and including the maturity date shall be HK$0.186 per
conversion share.

On 28 December 2022, the subscription took place and the

2022 CBs in the principal amount of HK$91,000,000 were
issued to Team Sunny.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

2022 CBs (Continued)

On 14 July 2023, the Company and the bondholder of 2022 CBs
entered into the deed of amendment, the maturity date of the
2022 CBs was extended to 31 August 2025.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 2022 CBs with
principal amount of HK$91,000,000, which conferring rights to
convert into 489,247,311 shares with the conversion price of
HK$0.186 per conversion share.

The convertible bonds contained two components, the liability
and equity components. The equity component is presented in
equity as an "Equity component of convertible bonds”. As at
31 December 2023, the effective interest rate of the liability
component is approximately 16.83% (2022: 15.41%) per
annum.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
bonds for the year was set out below:
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FERT FET

At the beginning of the year REA] 72,175 —

Issuance of convertible bonds BT HIRES — 72,118

Interest charged B UEF S 10,786 57
Modification of the terms of ESTRIA IR B 5 2 1R TR
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At the end of the year REXR 70,214 72,175
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

2023 CB

On 14 July 2023, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Team Sunny, pursuant to which Team Sunny
conditionally agreed to subscribe and the Company conditionally
agreed to issue the convertible bond in the principal amount of
HK$10,000,000 (which are convertible into conversion shares at
the conversion price of HK$0.108 per conversion share (subject
to adjustments)) for the settlement of the outstanding debts
due from the Company to the holders of 2008 CBs in aggregate
of HK$10,000,000. The subscription amount payable by Team
Sunny under the subscription agreement shall be satisfied by way
of offsetting the aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000
under the 2008 CBs and payable by the Company to the holders
of 2008 CBs.

On 31 August 2023, the subscription took place and the 2023
CB in the principal amount of HK$10,000,000 were issued to
Team Sunny.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 2023 CB conferring
rights to convert into 92,592,592 shares with the conversion
price of HK$0.108 per conversion share.

The convertible bonds contained two components, the liability
and equity components. The equity component is presented
in equity as an “Equity component of convertible bonds”. The
effective interest rate of the liability component is approximately
16.83% per annum.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
bonds for the year was set out below:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

Team Sunny CB

On 10 January 2020, the Company issued the convertible bonds
to Team Sunny, for the settlement of the outstanding debt due
from the Company to Mr. Wong of HK$39,805,651 (“Team
Sunny CB"). The subscription amount payable by Team Sunny
under the subscription agreement shall be satisfied by way of
offsetting (i) the principal amount of HK$8,000,000 under the
2019 PN and payable by the Company to Mr. Wong (which will
be assigned to Team Sunny by Mr. Wong at the completion of
the subscription to facilitate the set-off); and (ii) the outstanding
principal amount and part of the accrued interest in an
aggregate amount of HK$31,805,651 under Mr. Wong’s facilities
payable by the Company to Mr. Wong (which will be assigned to
Team Sunny by Mr. Wong at the completion of the subscription
to facilitate the set-off).

The Team Sunny CB are convertible at the option of the
bondholders into ordinary shares in the Company at the
conversion price of HK$0.110 per share (subject to adjustments
as provided in the terms and conditions of the Team Sunny
CB) at any time from the date of issue and ending on the third
anniversary of the date of issue.

The Team Sunny CB are unsecured, interest-free and have a
maturity date fall on the third anniversary from the date of issue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

Team Sunny CB (Continued)

On 17 June 2021, upon the effective of the share consolidation
on the basis that every ten issued and unissued Shares of par
value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
be consolidated into one consolidated share of par value of
HK$0.1 each, the conversion price of Team Sunny CB adjusted to
HK$1.100 per conversion share.

On 22 July 2021, the Company completed the 2021 Rights Issue
and allotted and issued 346,310,897 Shares, on the basis of five
(5) rights shares for every two (2) Shares held on 28 June 2021
at the subscription price of HK$0.15 per rights share. Upon the
completion of the 2021 Rights Issue, the conversion price of
Team Sunny CB was adjusted to HK$0.903 per conversion share.

On 6 July 2022, 15 November 2022, 29 November 2022 and
13 December 2022 the Company made a partial redemption in
the aggregated principal amount in aggregate of HK$3,805,651
on part of the Team Sunny CB. On 28 December 2022, upon the
completion of the subscription and issue of 2022 CBs, all the
principal amount of Team Sunny CB was offset and settled with
the subscription price of 2022 CBs.

The convertible bonds contained two components, the liability
and equity components. The equity component is presented
in equity as an "Equity component of convertible bonds”. The
effective interest rate of the liability component is approximately
14.95% per annum.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
bonds for the year was set out below:
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214 NOIZ GROUP LIMITED » EHRE @A R AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. &
Number of Nominal
shares values
88 EfE
Notes in"000 HK$'000
MysE T FEx
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022,  A20225&181H 20224
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 128318 +2023F181H
T%2023%12831H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each EREE BT EER 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRERE
At 1 January 2022 1202251818
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SREEBTZEBR 485,062 48,506
Issuance of consideration shares BITRERD 2 66,667 6,667
Issuance of shares upon placing P& REITRG 3 15,000 1,500
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 #2022E128318 %
2023F181H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each EREE BT EER 566,729 56,673
Issuance of shares upon subscription R ITRD 1 37,667 3,767
At 31 December 2023 122023%12A31H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BREEIETZEER 604,396 60,440
Notes: WEt -

On 31 August 2023, the Company completed a share
subscription with Team Sunny, the subscriber, by allotment
and issue of 37,666,666 Shares at the subscription price of
HK$0.108 per subscription share.

On 4 July 2022, the Company allotted and issued 66,666,663
Shares in respect of the acquisition of NOIZChain Limited
(“NOIZChain") pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement
dated 13 June 2022.

On 7 July 2022, the Company completed a share subscription
with Oriental Watch Holdings Limited, the subscriber, by the
allotment and issue of 15,000,000 Shares at the subscription
price of HK$0.21 per subscription share.

12202358 H31H > AR R EHERMT
RIRHREEE RS RIBERKB0.1088
TR R (B EC 35 K2 8%1737,666,666 % AZ 17 ©

R2022F 7848  AEBHRBEBEHHA
2022F 68 13BM B B R WHENOIZChain
Limited (TNOIZChain J) i A 2 & & 17
66,666,663 %17 ©

R2022F7R7H A ARHERBERRA R
TEEERARDEIEESRIABRG
0.2138 7ThC 3 K 31715,000,0008% B2 17 » #&
DUSe A —IE A1 508 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

34. RESERVES

Nature and purpose of the reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium account is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company, provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to
be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Contributed surplus

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess
of the fair value of the shares of a subsidiary acquired
in prior years, over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange thereof.

Equity component of convertible bonds

The value of unexercised equity component of
convertible bonds issued by the Company recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
convertible bonds.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to accumulated losses should the related
options expire or be forfeited.

Capital reduction reserve

Capital reduction reserve is the credit arising from the
capital reduction.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve

FVOCI reserve represents gain/losses arising on
recognising financial assets classified as financial assets
at FVOCI.

Other reserve
Other reserve arose from the acquisition of additional

equity interest in a subsidiary from non-controlling
interest.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. XATHBAKRERE
COMPANY
2023 2022
20235 20224
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FET FAET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERGRE
Non-current assets EREEE
Right-of-use assets FREEE 2,321 5,106
Rental deposits HE#E 864 862
Financial asset at fair value through AT EEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income WAz EREE - 1,265
Interests in subsidiaries R B AR Z #m 40,495 47,575
Total non-current assets FEMBEEREE 43,680 54,808
Current assets MENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other ?Eﬁ IE & REMABE
receivables 18 195 323
Financial asset at fair value through ﬁ’&?ff’ffﬁ%ﬂ\?ﬁfﬁZﬁ%ﬁ
profit or loss ﬁ% 407 312
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERE — —REP
- general accounts 1,708 10,825
Total current assets TRENEEMELE 2,310 11,460
Current liabilities mEaRE
Convertible bonds AR ES 32 - 12,935
Lease liabilities HEaRE 2,330 2,980
Other payables and accruals HinE BN EER 4,026 1,716
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE{T K B A B RUIE 4,276 8,402
Total current liabilities mENBEAEAE 10,632 26,033
Net current liabilities TEEEFE (8,322) (14,573)
Total assets less current liabilities BAEERTRTEE 35,358 40,235
Non-current liabilities FEREBERE
Convertible bonds AR ES 32 77,931 72,175
Lease liabilities HEaRE - 2,330
Total non-current liabilities FEREEEEE 77,931 74,505
Net liabilities BEEE (42,573) (34,270)
EQUITY et
Share capital &N 33 60,440 56,673
Reserves s 36 (103,013) (90,943)
Total equity g (42,573) (34,270)
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on BEEGNR202453827HZEREET
27 March 2024. o

Wong Hin Shek
EHERR
Director

EF
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36. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

36. ZAEHE

Fair value
Equity through
component of Capital other
Contributed convertible Share option reduction comprehensive Acc lated
Share premium surplus bonds reserve reserve income reserve losses Total
HATER
AR ES 23 sHAEA
RiAiEE BARER ZREHS FRRR R HiAGEE  2ERARE Rt st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FiET TET T FHET FTET  TExn
As at 1 January 2022 #20221818 1,114,228 18,203 51,928 25,518 163,191 — (1,452,515)  (79,447)
Changes in equity for 2022: 2022 R iELE) :
Comprehensive income 2EBA
Loss for the year FERESR - - - - - - (30,106)  (30,106)
Other comprehensive Hitt2EBA
income
Changes in fair value of PUSEEEIN
financial assets at FVOC| Ef2ERAZ
SHEEATE
(L] = = = - - (1,465) = (1,465)
Total comprehensive income FRZELRA
for the year — — — — — (1,465) (30,106)  (31,571)
Issuance of consideration shares  Z{TERR1H 8,466 - - - - - - 8,466
Issuance of shares BITRD 1,650 - - - - - - 1,650
Lapsed of share options BREAN - - - (25,057) - - 25,057 -
Redemption of convertible BEPTHRRES
bonds — - (1,532) - - — 1,219 (313)
Modification of the terms BETATHAR BB R
of convertible bonds — 50,670 (40,398) — — — — 10,272
At 31 December 2022 and 1#2022%126318 %
1 January 2023 20231818 1,124,344 68,873 9,998 461 163,191 (1,465) (1,456,345)  (90,943)
Changes in equity for 2023:  2023E MR IEEE) :
Comprehensive income 2EBA
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - (28,422)  (28,422)
Other comprehensive Htt2EBA
income
Changes in fair value of MAFEESA
financial assets at FVOCI Hifi2EHAZ
B2 - - - - - 630 - 630
Total comprehensive income FRZELRA
for the year - - - - - 630 (28,422)  (27,792)
Issuance of shares BITRD 2,636 (2,335) - — — — - 301
Lapsed of share options BB - - - (53) - - 53 -
Release of FVOCI reserve BRZATEESA
Hit2EWRA S - - - - - 835 (835) -
Modification of the terms BETATAR BB R
of convertible bonds - (3,558) 18,979 - - - - 15,421
At 31 December 2023 120238128318 1,126,980 62,980 28,977 408 163,191 - (1,485,549)  (103,013)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE ISR ERMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

37. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
establishment/
incorporation and Issued and fully paid/

37. RtBAR#E R

EREEMB AR ZEFBINT ¢

Percentage of equity interest

Name operations registered share capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BRI/ AR
2ig mEHE BEIRSRZREE FATRERFREE AL TEEE
2022
2022
% % %
Indirectly  Directly Indirectly
ik B ik

Merdeka Professional Services Limited Hong Kong HK$1,500,000 100 — 100 Corporate consulting business
BEEXEHERAT Bl 1,500,000 7% TEFAEH
Merdeka Corporate Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1,500,001 100 — 100 Advising on corporate finance
EELEMERRAT B 1,500,001 7% TEREEN
Merdeka Corporate Advisory Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 — 100  Accounting and financial

reporting services
BELETHAERAT B 187 Bt RUBRERE
NOIZChain Limited Hong Kong HK$3,910,005 100 — 100 Digital business

) 3,910,005%7c HIEEH

NOIZ Entertainment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 — 100 Entertainment business
BRREERAT B 187 IREEET
NOIZ Production Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 — 100 Entertainment business
BLRERERAR N 10,000%7¢ REEH
NOIZ Distribution Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100 = — Distribution of holographic

products
BENHAERAR N 100475 NHEERTER
Merdeka Securities Limited Hong Kong HK$28,770,000 100 — 100 Dealing in securities
REERHERAT B 28,770,00077T FERG
Merdeka Investment Management Limited  Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 100 — 100 Advising on securities and asset

management
REREEEARAT B 5,000,000/ 7% HEFREBERREEEE
Merdeka Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 — 100 Money lending business
HEEERRAR N AT BEXH

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.

EFRR LRI ZEARBEINBATE
TEAFEXRENERNELEREEFEN

ERMBR -BEFRD REAMWEATZ

HEREREHNRREER AR

RER HENB AR EITENESES-
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

38.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 38. WHE—RIMHEAE
On 4 July 2022, The Group completed the acquisition of the R2022F784H A& B =M KE
entire issued share capital in NOIZChain at a consideration NOIZChainN &2 HBEETRA  KEBAA
of approximately of HK$15,133,000. The consideration was 15,133,000 7t ° AN A Bl 838 [ B 75 o 3 Kk
satisfied by the Company by the allotment and issue of an 175 +66,666,663 N ER (D RZ T
aggregate of 66,666,663 consideration shares to the vendors KRB BITEOREBRAERKH0.227E T
at the issue price of approximately HK$0.227 per consideration NOIZChainF BN EHBEF - A EFE B K
share. NOIZChain is principally engaged in digital business. EBEBEREYG  ERBENRT > &R
The Group has diversified its business into digital including BRtEESSTHRBRESR BREOMD
Blockchain-as-a-Services that tailor made services and advice AEmRBAFENEERFAEEEREAR
to businesses allowing them to use cloud-based solutions to BREe MBEREREEEASNER
manage and develop their applications and smart contracts PIRIE o
without needing to develop and maintain their own blockchain
environments.
The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities arising from Uk EE B BB BB U BENOIZChainFl E £ BT 3 Bl
the acquisition of NOIZChain as at the date of acquisition were BEERBENAFEEENT !
as follows:
Fair value
ATEE
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERZE 3
Intangible assets B EE 14,040
Interest in an associate R—E¥E ATz B 146
Inventories F& 418
Trade receivables B2 EIE 360
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FBURIB & & EMEWRIE 1
Bank balances and cash RITHER RIS 92
Deferred tax assets BLEREEE 90
Trade payables B EARIE (109)
Other payables and accruals Hi A HIB M ETER (91)
Fair value of net assets acquired FTEREENATER 14,950
Net cash inflow from acquisition of a subsidiary: WE—ENEARNRERAEE !
Cash consideration paid BREAE =
Cash and cash equivalents in a subsidiary acquired P EEM B AR NRERIREEEY 92
Net cash inflow RERNPEE 92

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT



L

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

38. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 38. WE—RWEBAE @

HK$'000
FET

Total consideration satisfied by consideration shares issued at fair value EiBIZA T EE3ET
HRERARZ AN ELELE 15,133
Less: Fair value of put option arising in the acquisition B BT EERA RN AT ER (53)
Fair value of net assets acquired FTEFEENATEE (14,950)
Goodwill [EES 130

Pursuant to the terms of the sale and purchase agreement
dated 13 June 2022 entered into between Benefit Palace
Limited (the “Purchaser”) and the six vendors (the
“Vendors"”), each of the Vendors hereby irrevocably and
unconditionally grants the Purchaser (or its nominee(s) or its
successor(s)) the put option (the “Put Option”), pursuant
to which the Purchaser (or its nominee(s) or its successor(s))
shall be entitled to require the Vendors to buy back all the
entire issued share capital in NOIZChain held by the Purchaser
(or its nominee(s) or its successor(s)) (the “Repurchase”).
The consideration for the Repurchase will be the same as the
Consideration.

The Purchaser (or its nominee(s) or its successor(s)) shall not
exercise the Put Option unless NOIZChain recorded audited
consolidated negative cash flows from operating activities
as calculated in accordance with HKFRSs for the year ending
31 December 2023 as shown in the audited consolidated
financial statement of NOIZChain for the year ending
31 December 2023.

At the completion date, the put option amount is determined
by the Directors with reference to a valuation report issued
by an independent qualified valuer. The put option is stated
at fair value and presented as financial assets at FVPL in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The goodwill of HK$130,000, which is not deductible for tax
purposes, comprises the acquired workforce and the expected
future growth of digital business to diversify the revenue
stream of the existing business of the Group.

tR#EBenefit Palace Limited (TE A1) B/54
A (TEA)) sl HE8A2022F6813H
NE B W &8 HE LT #in R EE T
HMIEFER (HERDAREERN) B5H
e (TERsHHARE)) It B @HERE2 A
HigAN) BRERBESLOEES (HHIRES
AN E A& AN) FEKINOIZChain2 2 B & 17
BEZ (TREEL) - BRI ERERERR -

BRIERBESEBEYBRSEELFE
NOIZChainf & =2023F 128318 L EE
BRELERFaRKEEHERERE (W
NOIZChain& E2023F 12831 HIEFEHK
BREGVMBREMR > BER (HHRR
AANHEERN) FETER AR

REmBH RLPRESERNEESET R/
GERGEMHENEERSERE - B4 H
BRAFEESE TEFRSMBRIES
2IBUAFEESABTNEMEE -

##&130,0008 T AR BEEWES
KRB EBORPARRIE R UEAE
ERAEFOWARRZTIE-

ANNUAL REPORT F #§ » 2023

221



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= A\
e

871 5 ¥k < Bi 51

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

38.

39.

(a)

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 38. WE—REMWEAE @
Post-acquisition contribution to revenue and net loss of B ZE2022F12831H IEFE > st AREE LR
NOIZChain as included in the Group's consolidated statement i@k EMEEWARBINOIZChainBy IR
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year BRWAKRFEEBERDHA1,566,0008
ended 31 December 2022 is HK$1,566,000 and HK$2,516,000 T6522,516,0007%8 7T o a2 W HERL 202241 B
respectively. Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January THREMR AEBEE2022541283181EF
2022, the revenue and net loss of the Group for the year ERWA R FEER 2R %1,937,000% 7T
ended 31 December 2022 would have been HK$1,937,000 and }23,252,0008 70 - B E B RHEHERAZ A
HK$3,252,000 respectively. The pro-forma information is for RNKRBE2022F 1B 1BHERBEAER
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily and indication BERIERNMARES =& IR R
of revenue and results of the operations of the Group that BRREFNTER o
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition of
the Group been completed on 1 January 2022 nor are they
intended to be a projection of future results.
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEREGISTRATION OF 39. HEMBAE MEBASFHER
SUBSIDIARIES
Disposal of End User Investments Limited (a) HEEnd User Investments Limited
On 23 September 2022, the Company as the vendor 12202298238 &AAF ((FAEH)
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with an M- BUE=F]IIEEHm=H 1
independent third party, to dispose the entire issued E2BMEABENd User Investments
share capital of the End User Investments Limited, Limited® 2 HEETRE  RER1E
a wholly-owned subsidiary, at a consideration of Joo HEH B AT AT 2,796,0007%
HK$1. Gain on disposal of subsidiaries amounted to TR
HK$2,796,000 was analysed as follows:
HK$'000
FHET
Net liabilities deregistered of: BUHEMEEE
Bank balances and cash RITHER RIS 27
Trade payables B2 EMRIE (933)
Other payables and accruals Hi A FHIB M ETER (1,889)
(2,795)
Less: Proceeds from disposal B HERERIE (1)
Gain on disposal HE 2 W (2,796)
Cash consideration received BUREAE 1
Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of  BHERTAR KRS (27)
Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents RERFEEEEM 2R THFE (26)
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39.

40.

L

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEREGISTRATION OF 39. WHEMBAE MEBARFHER
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) (4&)
(b) Deregistration of Merry Fortune Holdings Limited (b) EUHEEMMerry Fortune Holdings
Limited
On 1 May 2022, the Group deregistered Merry Fortune 1£2022F581H » XEBEBUHE 4
Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary NEIEEEEWBASMerry Fortune
of the Company. Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary Holdings Limited o BXH &% ffft Y /& A B
amounted to HK$21,000 was analysed as follows: Z W 21,0008 0T -
HK$'000
FHET
Net liabilities deregistered of: EUHEMEEE
Other payables and accruals Hit I IB M ETER (21)
Gain on deregistration BUH 2 Wi (21)
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 40. FEAtESTE

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants for
their contribution to the Group. The share option scheme of
the Company was approved and adopted by the Shareholders
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
30 December 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). Unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Option Scheme
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date
of its adoption. The Board may, at their discretion, offer
options to any Directors of the Group, full time or part time
employees of the Group; and any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives, consultants,
advisers, suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees
(including any sub-licensees) or distributors, landlords or
tenants (including any sub-tenants) of the Group (the “Eligible
Participants”) to subscribe for shares of the Company (the
“Shares”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be
exercised under all share option scheme must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time.

AATHTERESE EERHAEES
BERMNGERSHEREEBNET A2
ElfER st 8 (TRERZ#EST &) 1020204F12
B30 BRMNKRERSRIAS EEREHET
o BRIES TR T IERT - TR AE S
BTN B E SR B HRREH0E B R A M
BEEZNBEAAERNERNES A&
HE2BARRES , RAEBNTAER
REEBE ABE REBERNER ER B
MANEEE EERAFIATE W
AIA (BEEAREESFIAN) HDHE %
FRAL (BEEAXERAR) ((AEKS
BHE ) RHBRE UREALERKRD (TR
1) °

REFEBRES BB THMAE BRHERE
TEBREESHITERI TETZROHK
BERZFAEBBTRZE#HTRN30%
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

40.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of Shares available for issue under
share options which may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue. The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted and to be granted
to each Participant (including both exercised and outstanding
share options) in any 12-month period up to the date of grant
must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at the date of grant.
Any further grant of share options in excess of the above limit
must be subject to shareholders’ approval with such Participant
and his associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
abstaining from voting.

If share options are granted to a substantial Shareholder (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or an independent non-
executive Director or any of their respective associates would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all share options already granted and to be granted (including
share options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1 per cent.
of the Shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of Options
must be approved by the Shareholders at a general meeting
of the Company, with voting to be taken by way of a poll.
The Company must send a circular to the Shareholders. The
grantee, his associates and all core connected persons of the
Company must abstain from voting in favour of the proposed
grant at such general meeting. Any vote taken at the meeting
to approve the grant of such share options must be taken on a
poll and comply with the requirements under the GEM Listing
Rules.

Upon acceptance of the share option offers, the grantee shall
pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for each offer. The
share option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21
days (or such shorter period as the Board may from time to
time determine) from the date on which the share option is
granted. The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the Directors and commences after a certain
vesting period, if any, as determined by the Directors and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the
offer of the share options.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT

40.

BRRESTE @

REERESSAIRHOBEREMA T #
THERDBE e TEBBEEHTRND
10% - EEEHRH B HIEERN121E8 HE
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REFHRITHROBE R T EBANE
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RHBA R R E L RESREM
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EHRA) FE2ERR-
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40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 40. HERR#ESTE @
The subscription price of the share in respect of any particular RIREE AR S 2R H A 45 E B REFT S
share option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall ERERMNTIEEHEETGLENERE &
be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall EEMAERTERMR TIERZESSE !
determine, save that such price shall be not less than the (WRHEREZH WEASXEHD) BMXME
highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the HEBRMMIIRMAOWTE ;(NREEEE
Stock Exchange as shown in the daily quotation sheet on the e HRIhAEEEB B ESBRERAR
date of the grant of the share option, which must be a business FIRG D H IR B B U & 5 LUK(iBg
day; (i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as HRREBHBEZEE.
shown in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant
of the share option; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share on
the date of grant.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends AT R TRA NEIRREH N RERA
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. SR ENREF
Number of share options and weighted average exercise price ERRESTIE TERERE RMEFEHITE
under the Share Option Scheme were as follows: BUT :
2023 2022
20235F 2022F
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options exercise price options
miEFH O
1B FEREHE 18 BREHE
HK$ per share ‘000 HK$ per share ‘000
SRAET T SRAET T
Outstanding at 1 January B1B1HERTE 0.13 6,961 0.29 7,759
Lapsed during the year FEREY 0.13 (795) 1.63 (798)
Outstanding at 31 December R12B31BE K176 0.13 6,166 0.13 6,961

No share options were granted during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, a total of 794,594 (2022: 798,663)
share options of the Company were lapsed. Save and except
for the aforesaid, no Share Option was granted, exercised,
cancelled, expired or lapsed during the year.

B FE2023F K2022F 12831 B ILFE > i
BB -

1R2023F 1248310 KA B & £794,5941%

(20224 : 798,66317) BE AR HE SR 2 o Bk L4l
BV RAFEENEEBREERE V176
5 ~ BHA Sk Rg o
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40.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 40. FERREETEl @)
As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 6,166,050 (2022: R2023F12FE31H HATTHEZEBRES
6,960,644) accumulated total outstanding Share Options, +6,166,05015 (20224 : 6,960,64415) >
which entitled holders thereof to subscribe for 6,166,050 HEAARRZETHEESKRKKH0.132E T
(2022: 6,960,644) Share Options under the Share Option (20224 :0.132%8 ) REERE 218
Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.132 (2022: HK$0.132) T BI6,166,05019 (20224 : 6,960,64415) B4
per Share. Save for the aforementioned Share Options, the fEHE o bR EABE R RESN KRB W MAME
Company does not have any other outstanding Share Options. MERITENERRE KRR ERIFEREST
The total number of shares available for issue by the Company 2| 7] FEITHR D 42 8#48,506,2285% > 14
under the Share Option Scheme was 48,506,228 shares, KABFR2023F12831HEETRMHG
which represents approximately 8.03% (2022: 8.56%) of the 8.03% (20225 : 8.56%) °
Company’s issued shares as at 31 December 2023.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, no share options REE2023F12831HIEFER > WwER
(2022: Nil) were granted under the Share Option Scheme and BERESERTERE (20224 &) »
no share-based payment expenses (2022: Nil) has been charged TR AR PR AR D 2 E R B 2
to profit or loss. (20224 1 §8) ©
The following table summarised movements of the Company’s BRESRERRESE (EER T T
share options under the Share Option Scheme and the Old KRB BRERERNEHHMENT -
Share Option Scheme (as defined below) during the year:
For the year ended 31 December 2023: HE2023F12831HIEFE :
Number of Share Options
BiEZR
Outstanding Cancelled/ Outstanding Price of the
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at Shares before
1January  duringthe  during the  during the 31 December Date of Exercise  the date of Exercise
Grantees/Capacity EBA/ & 2023 period period period 2023 grant period  grant®¢? price "¢
1*2023% 1#2023% BB
1818 R#A  12A31A ZBER i@
HWAE  REAEY  REAGE  EH/XY HXAE BHAS Eiid: L) sy
Per Share Per Share
SRR SREH
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina REELT 113513 - - — 11353 2012021 2017021- 0.014 0132
19/1/2026
Mr. Wong Wing Kit BRELE 113,513 - - - 113513 2012021 201172021~ 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BEfLt 113513 = = — 113513 2012021 20172021- 0014 0132
19/1/2026
Employees and other eligible BEREMAERSHE
participants
Employees of the Group FEEER 2,610,809 - - (794594) 1,816,215 20112021 20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Other eligible participants "¢ EMAERSHEE 400929 = = — 4009296 2012021 20172021~ 0.014 0132
19/1/2024
6,960,644 - — (194594 6,166,050
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40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 40. BERREETE @

For the year ended 31 December 2022:

HF2022F12831HILLEE ©

Number of Share Options
FEREHE
Outstanding Outstanding Price of the
as at Granted Exercised Cancelled/ as at 31 Shares before
1January during the during the Lapsed during December Date of Exercise the date of Exercise
Grantees/Capacity ERA/ B 2022 period period the period 2022 grant period grant e 2 price (e !
#20225 120228 R B A
1818 REBR 12A318 2R B TE®
HRITE  REARE  RERTE  HH/AR HATHE  RHAMS 8 Gl (L
Per Share Per Share
BRER SRREH
Independent non-executive ~ BIFFHNITES
Directors
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina REENT 113,513 = = = 113,513 20/1/2021 20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Mr. Wong Wing Kit BAKEEE 113,513 = = = 113,513 20/1/2021 20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BREZL 113,513 - - - 113,513 20/1/2021 20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Employees and other eligible {EEREfMAEK
participants SHE
Employees of the Group AEERR 3,405,403 = = (794,594) 2,610,809 20/1/2021 20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Other eligible participants ¥ Ef1 & &g 4,069 o) = = (4,069) = 30/5/2012 30/5/2012- 0.017 293.647
S EE i) i) 29/5/2022
4,009,296 = = = 4,009,296 20/1/2021 20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2024
7,759,307 — - (798,663) 6,960,644
ANNUAL REPORT £ * 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEFE

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

The exercise price of the Share Options is subject to adjustment
in the case of capitalisation issue, rights issue, subdivision or
consolidation of the Shares, or other similar changes in the
Company'’s share capital.

The price of the Shares before the date of the grant of the Share
Options is the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the trading day immediately before the date on
which the Share Options were granted.

The consultants possess extensive experience in, including but
not limited to, private and public equity investments, crypto
and blockchain technology development and accounting and
financial management respectively. The grant of Share Options
to the consultants is to provide them an incentive to (i) optimize
their performance for the benefit of the Group; (i) share of
their respective relevant experience, knowledge and network to
improve of the business operating system of the Group; and (iii)
introduce or refer viable business opportunities to the Group, in
order to achieve a long term growth for the Group.

Share Options under the old share option scheme (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”), which adopted by the Company
on 3 May 2021 and terminated by an ordinary resolution in an
extraordinary general meeting on 30 December 2020.

The fair value of share options granted to Directors, employees
and other eligible participants providing similar services of
employees, determined at the date of grant of the share
options, is expensed over the vesting period. The fair value was
calculated using the Binominal model. The inputs into the model
were as follow:

Grant date 20 January 2021
Share price on date of grant (HK$) 0.015
Exercise price (HK$) 0.015
Expected volatility 87.2% to 104.71%
Expected life 3 to 5 years

Risk-free interest rate 0.15% t0 0.31%
Expected dividend yield NIL

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B &£BEER AT
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BRI T EEARE A EIT R R
BRFREHRARTRF L MEUBE
it B o

R ERER D B A B8 BRI
fEREEL BN RS BRI B PR
PR W& -

ZEEEARN (BFEERERN) RARA
HRERE - NMEEBE KRB RE LMY
et kMBEESEEEEEKER-
HMEBEFERED ARBREFNEECH
REEAERED ()P ZREZENERH
LB MBS U EAEBNERE
R KiAAEESINHIEBAITH
AERE UBHRRALR

AT F2021ESF3H RN EE R ESTE

(TEMgRRESTE ) BETHERE K
2020F 12 A30HMKREENAE LBIBE
BIRBERE L

BR7EE EERERHESHLRFHE
tHMEERZEENBRENATEERE
KRERHBHEE UNEBHARNZHE 2
FTEEREA-RABEFE ZELN
WAEWT :

B 2021418204
RHBEERE BiT) 0.015
T1EE CB) 0.015
TRHRR IR 87.2%ZF104.71%
TastE 3ES54F
mR A= 0.15%%=0.31%
FEHAAR B IR & i
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F12831HIEEE

41.

NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

41. FERTRERM

MEETSMEEAERE !

Other payables Lease Convertible
and accruals liabilities bonds Total
HtRERRER
EHER HEaE AR ES Mgt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TER T TEL
1 January 2022 120221818 3,561 10,139 85,557 99,257
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERELE .
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities BEHESRASHD = (3,314) = (3,314)
Repayment of interest portion of lease liabilities EEHEEERNEHD = (405) = (405)
Payment for redemption of convertible bonds BOakES 20 = = (3,807) (3,807)
Total changes from financing cash flows HERETELHEH = (3,719) (3,807) (7,526)
Other changes R8s
Interest expenses FISHE% - 405 13,319 13,724
Issuance of convertible bonds BIURRES - - 72,118 72,118
Modification of the terms of convertible bonds ETTRRES BER = = (82,390) (82,390)
Redemption of convertible bonds BOABkES - - 313 313
Increase in other payables and accruals HitERFIER
Rt EREM 753 - - 753
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—EREAG 91 = = 91
Deregistration of a subsidiary —BNBAFEHER 21 = = (21)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BIEAG (1,889) = = (1,889)
Total other changes S fub-bE (1,066) 405 3,360 2,699
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 1#2022%12B8318 %
1#2023F181H 2,495 6,825 85,110 94,430
Changes from financing cash flows: REREGEEE.
Interest paid BRFE (36) - - (36)
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities BEHESRASHD - (3,830) - (3,830)
Repayment of interest portion of lease liabilities EEHEEEREHD - (226) - (226)
Proceeds from borrowings ERERE 2,000 - - 2,000
Repayment to borrowings REBT (114) - - (114)
Total changes from financing cash flows REREESHEE 1,850 (4,056) - (2,206)
Other changes RftEs
Interest expenses FISHEE 39 226 12,310 12,575
Issuance of convertible bonds BOMRRES - - 7,326 7326
Modification of the terms of convertible bonds BT RES BR - - (12,747) (12,747)
Derecognition by subscription of shares FRIBRME D - - (4,068) (4,068)
Derecognition by subscription of 2023 CBs BRRE023FHRREFL L
R - - (10,000) (10,000)
Increase in other payables and accruals HitERRIERES EREM 2,97 - - 2,971
Total other changes Hth25EE 3,010 226 (7,179) (3,943)
At 31 December 2023 120235124318 7,355 2,995 77,931 88,281
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42.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

42. A E

Save as disclosed in elsewhere to the consolidated financial B ERREMEMMINESEIN &
statements, the Group have the following material related EBBEUTEKREBGHERZ

party transactions.

Transactions with related party HEBANR S
2023 2022
20235 20225
Name of related party Relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
Hikyaate e RHME FHET FTHET
Mr. Wong Director Commission income from
dealing in securities 7 103
FrE Bx BEERSFHNETIA
Loan interest charged (39) —
WERE ™A B
(32) 103
Related Companies Common director Corporate consulting service
il YNS HEESE income
T EEHRBKA 523 518
Digital business income 2,700 =
EUESTVON
3,223 518
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42. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 42. P AIRE @
Compensation of key management personnel of the SEEMFEEEEBAS ZEHM
Group
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Short term employee benefits R EE R 3,130 3,315
Post-employment benefits EABER 36 41
Total compensation paid to key management X {fFEEEIEA B 5Af48%8
personnel 3,166 3,356
43. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 43. RERIATHNEMEEREMBEH
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY 22
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and NEEP2023F 52022F 12831 HEIH
financial liabilities as recognised as at 31 December 2023 and ETHEEREHMABERABNDHEUWT :
2022 may be categorised as follows:
2023 2022
2023%F 20226
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost R AT EZEMEE 24,166 42,577
Financial assets at FVOCI URFEEBEFAEMEZAKAZ
TREE 1,473 3,053
Financial assets at FVPL UAFEEFABRZ R
BE 4,571 684
30,210 46,314
Financial liabilities ERaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BREERAGECEMAn 85,474 100,688
85,474 100,688
44. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44. BAFBEmRZHE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for R REBREEEN2024F38278H#HE
issue by the Board on 27 March 2024. T AZRETIES o
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Summary of Financial Information
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,

UTFAAEEBELEMREENEEUREE

as BERFERERESE HEREETIENCEZ
extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out  BAFSIRE !

below:
RESULTS E4
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HE20198 HZE2020F HE0211E HE202F HE20235F
NENBLEEE NANBLEEE NENHLEEE NANHLEEE 12831HLEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TER TER FTER TER
Revenue WA 482,705 39,861 24,539 18,151 18,938
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX PRERG R Al RS 18 (113,892) (97,311) (30,814) (30,175) (25,732)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisiiEE,/ (%) 471 a7n) 26 75 59
Loss for the year from continuing ~ REFELEEHHN
operations FREE (113,421) (97,782) (30,788) (30,100) (25,673)
Profit for the year from discontinued %€ B B 4% IEAS& 2 #%H)
operation ERER = = = 2,280 -
LOSS FOR THE YEAR ERNER (113,421) (97,782) (30,788) (27,820) (25,673)
Attributable to: P
Owners of the Company AATIREERA (84,110) (71,711) (31,123) (27,820) (25,673)
Non-controlling interests JEIERR i (29,311) (26,071) 335 = -
LOSS FOR THE YEAR ERNER (113,421) (97,782) (30,788) (27,820) (25,673)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING BE -ARKRIFEREDR
INTERESTS
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
720194 220204 120214 720225 #2023
128318 128318 128318 128318 12A318
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTER FTET FTER TAER
TOTAL ASSETS WEE 197,087 108,198 88,890 79,097 56,713
TOTAL LIABILITIES BeRE (306,451) (162,899) (116,385) (108,032) (91,517)
(109,364) (54,701) (27,495) (28,935) (34,804)
EQUITY attributable to: FEfh R
Owners of the Company AREIRERER A (144,103) (62,783) (27,495) (28,935) (34,804)
Non-controlling interests JEEE R HE B 34,739 8,082 = = -
(109,364) (54,701) (27,495) (28,935) (34,804)
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